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February 10, 2017 
 
 
Attention: The shareholders of Srisawad Power 1979 Public Company Limited 

 
Subject: The opinions of the Independent Financial Advisor on the acquisition of assets 
 
 
The Board of Directors’ meeting of Srisawad Power 1979 Public Company Limited (“the Company” or 
“SAWAD”) No.14/2016 held on December 28, 2016 passed the resolutions to approve important matters as 
follows:  
 
1. Approved to propose that the shareholders’ meeting approve the ordinary share acquisition and the 

tender offer for all securities of Bangkok First Investment & Trust Public Company Limited (“BFIT”) for 
the purpose of business takeover in accordance with the Notification of the Capital Market 
Supervisory Board No. Tor Jor. 12/2554 Re: Rules, Conditions and Procedures for the Acquisition of 
Securities for Business Takeovers, at the price of not exceeding THB 11.42 per share. In order to carry 
out the tender offer for all securities, the following condition precedent must be fully satisfied: 
 
(1) The Company enters into the Agreement to Purchase Shares with Miss Narissara Kitpipit1 (a 

person who is not a connected person of the Company and wishes to sell the shares; she will 
collect BFIT shares to meet the number of totaling 53,011,000 shares or the proportion of 
26.51% of the total paid-up shares of BFIT) to purchase the shares at the price not exceeding 
THB 10.50 per share, and that the conditions precedent specified under this agreement must be 
fully satisfaction; and  

(2) The shareholders’ meeting of the Company resolves to approve the acquisition of BFIT shares 
and the tender offer for all securities in BFIT by a vote of no less than three-quarters of the total 
votes cast by the shareholders attending the meeting and eligible to vote.  

 
The entering into the acquisition of BFIT shares and the tender offer for all securities in BFIT 
constitutes a purchase or acceptance of transfer of the business of other companies by the Company 
which is subject to Section 107(2)(b) of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535 (1992) (including 
any amendment thereto) which requires the Company to convene a shareholders’ meeting to obtain 
approval on the entering into such transaction, whereby the resolution for this agenda shall be passed 
by a vote of no less than three-quarters of the total votes cast by the shareholders attending the 
meeting and eligible to vote. In addition, the transaction also constitutes an asset acquisition 
transaction in accordance with the Notification of the Capital Market Supervisory Board No. Tor Jor. 
20/2551 Re: Rule of Significant Transaction Constituting an Acquisition or Disposal of Assets, and the 
Notification of the Stock Exchange of Thailand Re: Disclosure of Information and Other Acts of Listed 
Companies Concerning the Acquisition and Disposition of Assets B.E. 2547 (“the Acquisition or 
Disposition Notification”) as the transaction represents the maximum value of 30.71% calculated on 

                                                             
1 On December 28, 2016, SAWAD entered into the Share Purchase Agreement to acquire 19,620,000 BFIT shares, 

representing 9.81% stakes in BFIT, at THB 8.20 per share with Miss Narissara Kitpipit (the Share Collector, who 
coordinates between the Company and the existing shareholders of BFIT who intend to sell BFIT shares and 
proceeds with necessary steps to collect BFIT shares according to the Memorandum of Understanding between 
SAWAD and Miss Narissara Kitpipit dated June 10, 2016. Miss Narissara Kitpipit has entered into the 
Memorandum of Understanding with the two BFIT shareholders who intend to sell BFIT shares, namely, Miss 
Kanoknuj Cholwanit intending to sell 9,970,000 or 4.99% and Mrs. Phirada Indamara intending to sell 9,734,000 
shares or 4.87%, at a price of THB 10.50 per share. Additionally, Mr. Somyos Vinitchaikul and Mr. Thanit Sethikul 
verbally agreed to sell 9,901,000 shares or 4.95% and 3,786,000 shares or 1.89%, respectively, at a price of THB 
10.50 per share). The combined total shares from the Share Purchase Agreement between SAWAD and Miss 
Narissara Kitpipit, the Memorandum of Understanding between Miss Narissara Kitpipit and the two shareholders, 
and the verbal agreement with another two shareholders, are altogether 53,011,000 shares, representing 26.51% 
stakes in BFIT. 
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the basis of net tangible asset. Net tangible asset of BFIT is calculated based on the shareholding stake 
of the Company in BFIT at 90.16% (under the assumption that all BFIT shareholders accept the tender 
offer), then comparing with the net tangible assets of the Company according to the reviewed 
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the 9 month period ended September 30, 2016. 
After accumulating such transaction value with other asset acquisition transactions that have occurred 
during the past 6 months, namely, the transaction to acquire 19,680,000 BFIT shares which is 
equivalent to THB 157,718,136 (the Company disclosed this information to investors and the Stock 
Exchange of Thailand (“the SET”) on June 27, 2016), the total transaction value will equivalent to 
34.72%. Consequently, the transaction is classified as class 2 asset acquisition transaction, i.e. a 
transaction with the value equivalent to 15% or more but lower than 50% in accordance with The 
Acquisition or Disposition Notification. As a result, the Company is obliged to disclose an information 
memorandum on entering into the asset acquisition transaction to the SET. (details of the calculation 
of the transaction size appear in Section 1 Item 1.1.1 of this report). 
 

2. Approved to propose that the shareholders’ meeting consider and approve the business restructuring 
in accordance with the plan to establish the financial business group of the Company as prescribed by 
the rules on consolidated supervision to be in compliance with the provisions of Section 54 of the 
Financial Institution Business Act B.E. 2551 (2008) and the Notification of the Bank of Thailand No. 
SorNorSor. 6/2553 Re: Consolidated Supervision Criteria. The business restructuring will comprise the 
following parts: 
(1)  A partial transfer of business, namely, all kinds of secured loans, as well as all agreements, assets 

and liabilities in connection with and used in the operation of such business, all branch offices of 
the Company and all employees necessary for the business operation (“the Partial Business 
Transfer”) to Srisawad Power 2014 Company Limited (“Srisawad 2014”), a subsidiary in which the 
Company holds 97% of its shares. The Partial Business Transfer is executed in order to change the 
Company’s business operation into that of a non-operating holding company which engages in the 
sole business of holding shares to gain controlling power in other companies. Such execution shall 
commence after the acquisition of BFIT shares by the Company from the Seller Group is 
completed and the Company gains a control over BFIT. The Company anticipated that the Partial 
Business Transfer should be completed by the end of the 2017 accounting period.  
 
In this regard, the Partial Business Transfer to Srisawad 2014 constitutes a transfer of a 
substantial part of the business to another company as prescribed in Section 107(2)(b) of the 
Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535 (1992) (including any amendment thereto) which 
requires the Company to convene a shareholders’ meeting to obtain approval on the entering 
into such transaction, whereby the resolution shall be passed by a vote of no less than three 
quarters of the total votes cast by the shareholders attending the meeting and eligible to vote. 
Nevertheless, due to such transaction being classified as a transaction between a listed 
company and its subsidiary (the Company holds in excess of 90% of the shares in Srisawad 
2014), the Company is thus exempted from compliance with the rules on connected 
transactions. Furthermore, as it is a transfer of assets between a parent company and its 
subsidiary for the purpose of restructuring, the transaction does not constitute and asset 
disposal transaction that requires compliance under the Acquisition or Disposal Notification. 

 
After the Partial Business Transfer, the Company will continue to maintain its status as a listed 
company on the SET in accordance with the rules governing holding companies, having Srisawad 
2014, a company to which the loan business is transferred, operate the business as an operating 
company. In this regard, the Company shall remain 99.99% shareholding in Srisawad 2014 
which more than 50.00% shareholding in Srisawad 2014 at least for a period required by the 
relevant rules in order to maintain Srisawad 2014 qualification as a core company in accordance 
with the SET requirement. At present, SAWAD holds 97.00% shares in Srisawad 2014 and plans 
to increase its shareholding in Srisawad 2014 to 99.99%.   

 
(2)  A business restructuring within the Company Group: after the completion of the Partial Business 

Transfer to Srisawad 2014, as an initial business plan, Srisawad 2014 will continue to manage 
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the existing loan portfolio until the end of the relevant contract terms and will also provide 
certain new types of secured loan. Furthermore, Srisawad 2014 will focus on managing the branch 
offices and on the provision of Banking Agent service, whilst BFIT will start extending the granting 
of credit by providing types of secured loans which are different from which Srisawad 2014 offers 
and also unsecured personal loans by using Srisawad 2014’s Banking Agent’s service. In addition, 
Fast Money Company Limited (“Fast Money”) which originally provided the service of unsecured 
personal loans and Nano Finance will provide only the Nano Finance service so as to avoid any 
redundancy within the business group. Other companies will continue providing its existing 
services after the business restructuring. In this regard, there will be no loan portfolio transfer 
within the business group (except for the Partial Business Transfer from the Company to Srisawad 
2014). This restructuring is conducted in order for the structure of business operation to be clear, 
to eliminate conflict of interests, and to create an opportunity for the expansion of the loan 
business in order to achieve sustainable growth in the future. Provided that BFIT has any future 
business expansion plan in addition to its loan provision, it will notify the Bank of Thailand in 
advance for any readiness assessment prior to the service provision. 

 
3. Approved to propose that the shareholders’ meeting approve the change of the Company’s name, seal, 

and the amendment to clause 1 of the Memorandum of Association and the Company’s seal to be in 
line with the change of the Company’s name. The details on the changes are as follows: 
 
Name (in Thai)  : บริษัท ศรีสวสัดิ คอร์ปอเรชนั จํากดั (มหาชน) 

Name (in English) : Srisawad Corporation Public Company Limited 
Seal   : In the process of design and making by the working group 
 
In this regard, there is no change that has been made to the Company’s securities symbol traded on 
the SET. 
 

4. Approved to propose that the shareholders’ meeting approve the amendment to the Articles of 
Association to be in line with the change of the Company’s name, and the amendment to the nature 
of business operation to that of a holding company.  

 
The Board of Directors’ meeting No.14/2016 held on December 28, 2016 approved the appointment of 
JayDee Partners Limited (“Independent Financial Advisor” or “IFA”), the financial advisor approved by the 
Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“the SEC”) and does not have any relationship with the 
Company, to be the independent financial advisor of the Company to render its opinions to the shareholders 
regarding the reasonableness of the price and conditions of the BFIT share acquisition transaction from the 
Seller Group and the tender offer for all securities in BFIT as a supporting information for the voting 
consideration of the shareholders even though the value of the BFIT share acquisition transaction does not 
trigger the criterion which requires the Company to appoint an independent financial advisor to provide its 
opinion for this transaction. 
 
This IFA report was prepared based on the information gathered from interviews with the Company’s 
management, documents provided by the Company, publicly available information, and the IFA’s assessment 
of current economic conditions. Any significant changes to this information in the future may alter the IFA’s 
opinion on the transaction accordingly. Information and documents used in preparing this report included 
but not limited to the followings: 

 The resolutions of the Company’s Board of Director’s meetings relating to the transactions  
 Information memorandum on the acquisition of shares in BFIT and information memorandum on 

business restructuring and the establishment of financial business group 
 Information relating to the transactions available through the SET and/or the Company’s and BFIT’s 

websites, and/or the public domain 
 The annual report and information disclosure (Form 56-1) for the year 2015 of the Company and BFIT 
 The consolidated financial statements of the Company audited or reviewed by an approved auditor 

for the year ended December 31, 2013 – 2015 and for 9 month period ended September 30, 2016 
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 The financial statements of BFIT audited or reviewed by an approved auditor for the year ended 
December 31, 2013 – 2015 and for 9 month period ended September 30, 2016 and the unaudited 
financial statements of BFIT for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

 The agreements relating to the transactions 
 An official letter to the Bank of Thailand requesting for the Company to hold in excess of 10% 

shares in BFIT dated October 19, 2016 and an official approval on such matter dated December 26, 
2016 from the Bank of Thailand 

 Information from interviews with the Company’s managements and BFIT’ managements 
 Information and documents provided by the Company such as information about SAWAD and 

business characteristics of SAWAD as disclosed in Form 56-1 for the year 2015 amended to reflect 
information as of September 30, 2016, the list of major shareholders of SAWAD, as of the latest 
closing date of the share register book (January 20, 2017), who are entitled to attend the 
Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders No.1/2017 to approve this transaction.   

 
In addition, the IFA’s opinion was based on the following assumptions:  

 All information and documents provided by the Company and the interviews with management 
were valid and true. The opinion obtained was credible and close to the current situation. 

 No past events or imminent events or impending events would create significant negative impacts 
on the Company Group’s and BFIT’s operating performance and financial status. 

 All business contracts relating to the Company Group and BFIT were legal and binding. There would 
not be any amendments, revocation, nor cancellation of the laws relating to the transactions. 

 
Limitation of the IFA in preparing this opinion report 
The IFA has prepared this opinion report after conducting a due diligence on BFIT’s businesses based on the 
publicly disclosed information of BFIT as well as the information obtained from the Company and/or the 
financial advisor of the Company. However, the IFA was not involved in the negotiation of the share sale and 
purchase between the Share Collector and SAWAD. We only obtained documents and received information 
from the interview with the management and/or the financial advisor of SAWAD. With this limitation, the IFA 
is unable to hold responsibilities for any impact that may arise to SAWAD in the future as a result of the 
additional acquisition of BFIT shares from the Share Collector and the 4 existing shareholders, who intend to 
sell BFIT shares to SAWAD.  
 
The IFA hereby certified that we have studied, analyzed and prudently performed our duties as an 
Independent Financial Advisor, complying with the generally accepted professional standard and rendered 
our opinion based on the unbiased analysis with regards to the best benefit of the shareholders. However, it 
is important to note that the IFA’s opinions are based on the information and documents received from the 
Company and other publicly available information. The IFA assumes that such information is accurate and 
reliable at the time the IFA prepared this opinion report. However, if such information is found to be 
inaccurate and/or incomplete and/or unreliable and/or have any significant changes in the future, the 
opinion provided by the IFA may differ accordingly. As a result, the IFA is unable to be held responsible for 
any adverse impacts on the Company and its shareholders resulting from the transactions. In addition, the 
objective of this report is merely to provide an opinion on the transactions to the Company’s shareholders. 
Notwithstanding, the decision to vote is the sole discretion of the shareholders, which shall include the 
consideration of advantages, disadvantages, and risk associated with the transactions as well as the 
consideration of the attached documents submitted to the shareholders along with the invitation letter so as 
to make the most appropriate decision. In this regard, the opinion of the IFA does not certify the success of 
the proposed transactions as well as the possible impacts to the Company and/or to the Company’s 
shareholders. The IFA does not hold any responsibilities for the impacts that might arise from such 
transactions both directly and indirectly. 
 
The IFA has considered the reasonableness of the acquisition transaction of the Company in details as 
described below. 
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Executive Summary 
 

On June 10, 2016, the Company entered into the Memorandum of Understanding with Miss Narissara Kitpipit 
(the Share Collector), who is not a connected person with the Company, to appoint the Share Collector as a 
coordinator between the Company and the existing shareholders of BFIT, who intend to sell BFIT shares, as 
well as to proceed with necessary actions to collect BFIT shares in the amount not less than 25.00%. Later on 
June 27, 2016, the Company had previously acquired the ordinary shares of BFIT from 2 existing 
shareholders, consist of Miss Saowakon Limaksorn (amounted to 9,940,000 shares) and Miss Supida 
Chatrapiruk (amounted to 9,740,000 shares), totaling 19,680,000 shares, representing 9.84% of total paid-up 
shares of BFIT at the price of THB 8.00 per share, altogether of THB 157,718,136, inclusive of transaction  
fees. (which does not exceed 10% maximum shareholding in a financial institution generally permitted to any 
one shareholder by the Financial Institution Business Act B.E. 2551 (“The Financial Institution Act”)) 
 
According to the Company’s strategy to invest in the business that will benefit or support the core business of 
the Company to strengthen its revenue, profit, and potential growth of the Company Group, the Company’s 
Board of Directors has considered that the additional investment in BFIT shares is one of the Company’s key 
strategies to expand its lending business by introducing additional products and services, and increase the 
business potential to maintain its leadership position in the retail lending industry. Additionally, the Company 
foresees the opportunity to obtain funding at a lower cost from BFIT depository operation, which will 
supplement the Company Group’s operating performance. The increase in controlling interest in BFIT will 
allow the Company to shape BFIT business policy to be beneficial for the Company. As a result, it will help 
creating new business opportunities, increasing financial strength and future growth potential. Thus, the 
Company filed a request for permission from the Bank of Thailand to hold more than 10% shares in BFIT in 
order to effectively control BFIT’s business policies and directions. Between September 13, 2016 and October 
11, 2016, the Share Collector has collected BFIT shares from the two former shareholders in a total amount 
of 19,620,000 shares or 9.81% of BFIT’s total ordinary shares, at a price of THB 8.20 per share. 
 
On December 27, 2016, the Company received an official approval dated December 26, 2016 from the Bank 
of Thailand for the Company to hold up to 100% shares in BFIT. Thus, the Board of Directors’ Meeting 
No.14/2016 held on December 28, 2016 resolved to propose to the shareholder’s meeting to approve the 
acquisition of additional shares in BFIT and the tender offer for BFIT’s remaining shares in accordance with 
the Notification of the Capital Market Supervisory Board No. Tor Jor. 12/2554 Re: Rules, Conditions and 
Procedures for the Acquisition of Securities for Business Takeovers (as amended) (“the Takeover Notification”), 
as detailed below:  
(1) Acquire shares in BFIT total of 53,011,000 shares or 26.51% of BFIT total paid-up shares from 5 sellers 

(“the Seller Group”) who are not a connected person of the Company that comprise (1) Miss Kanoknuj 
Cholwanit (2) Mr. Somyos Vinitchaikul (3) Mrs. Phirada Indamara (4) Mr. Thanit Sethikul2, totaling 
33,391,000 shares at the price THB 10.50 per share and (5) Miss Narissara Kitpipit (“the Share 
Collector”) at 19,620,000 shares at the price THB 8.20 per share (equal to the price that the Share 
Collector had acquired from the 2 original shareholders), totaling THB 511.49 million. Miss Narissara 
Kitpipit was appointed as the Share Collector for the Company per the Memorandum of 
Understanding between Miss Narissara Kitpipit and the Company dated June 10, 2016 (details of the 
Memorandum of Understanding appears in Section 1 Item 1.1.2 of this report). After combining with 
19,680,000 shares currently held, the Company will hold a total of 72,691,000 shares, or 36.35% of 
BFIT total paid-up capital.   

(2) Propose a tender offer to acquire the remaining 127,309,000 shares in BFIT, or 63.65% of total paid-up 
shares, at the tender offer price not exceeding THB 11.42 per share, totaling THB 1,453.87 million. 
 

The consideration for the acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group is THB 511.49 million. Combining 
with the consideration for the acquisition of BFIT shares from the tender offer of THB 1,453.87 million, the 

                                                             
2    Miss Kanoknuj Cholwanit intended to sell 9,970,000 of BFIT’ shares, representing 4.99%, Mr. Somyos 

Vinitchaikul intended to sell 9,901,000 of BFIT’ shares, representing 4.95%, Mrs. Phirada Indamara intended to 
sell 9,734,000 of BFIT’ shares, representing 4.87% and Mr. Thanit Sethikul intended to sell 3,786,000 of BFIT’ 
shares, representing 1.89%.  
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total consideration under this transaction is thus altogether of THB 1,965.36 million. Including related 
transaction fees of THB 6.89 million and the consideration to the Share Collector of THB 8.00 million, total 
consideration inclusive of fees is thus in total of THB 1,980.25 million (details of the transaction values appear 
in Section 1 Item 1.1.1 of this report). In this regards, the purchase transaction from the Seller Group will be 
executed on the Big Lot Board.   

 
However, the acquisition of BFIT shares from the Share Collector and the tender offer to purchase all 
securities of BFIT are subject to the following conditions precedent: 
(1) The shareholders’ meeting resolves to approve the acquisition of shares in BFIT per the Share Purchase 

Agreement, and the tender offer to purchase all remaining securities of BFIT, with affirmative votes of 
not less than three-fourths of the total number of votes of the shareholders who attend the meeting 
and are entitled to vote (the Company will convene the Extraordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting 
No.1/2017 to consider and approve the above transactions on March 8, 2017. 

(2) From the date on which the Share Purchase Agreement is executed until the date on which the share 
purchase is completed, there shall be no event of change which constitutes material adverse effect to 
the business operation, financial position or assets of BFIT. 
 

In case such shareholders’ meeting approved the transactions, the Company expects that it will acquire BFIT 
shares from the Sellr Group in March 2017 and subsequently proceed with the tender offer during March – 
May 2017 with the procedures and timeline determined in accordance with the Takeover Notification and 
the relevant regulations). However, in case the Company is unable to acquire BFIT shares from the 2 existing 
shareholders, who verbally agreed to sell (namely Mr. Somyos Vinitchaikul and Mr. Thanit Sethikul). The 
Company will hold 59,004,000 shares of BFIT, representing 29.51% of BFIT’s total paid-up shares, which is 
above the trigger point to make a tender offer for all securities required by the Takeover Notification. As a 
result of such scenario, SAWAD will proceed with the tender offer for the remaining securities of BFIT from 
the remaining shareholders accordingly.   
 
In the event that the 4 existing shareholders of BFIT, who have already agreed with the Share Collector to sell 
BFIT shares to SAWAD, do not comply with such agreement, the Company will continue to purchase 9.81% 
shares of BFIT from the Share Collector (who has already collected BFIT shares from the 2 former 
shareholders on September 13, 2016 and October 11, 2016 for the Company). As a result, the Company will 
have a shareholding stake in BFIT of 19.65% after completing such acquisition from the Share Collector. 
Subsequently, the Company will proceed with the Voluntary Tender Offer accordingly. 
 

Action Plans of SAWAD under Different Scenarios after Obtaining the Shareholders’ Approval 
 Acquiring BFIT Shares from the Seller Group Shareholding of 

SAWAD in BFIT 
after acquiring 

BFIT shares 
from the Seller 

Group 
(combining 
with 9.84% 

currently held) 

Making 
Tender 

Offer for 
BFIT 

Shares 

Business 
Restructuring 

of SAWAD 
Group* 

The Share 
Collector 

The 2 Existing 
Shareholders 
who entered 
into the MOU 

with the 
Share 

Collector 

The 2 Existing 
Shareholders 

who made 
verbal 

agreement 
with the Share 

Collector 
Case 1 Acquire 
BFIT shares from 
the Seller Group 

 
Acquire 
9.81%  
of BFIT 
shares 

 
Acquire 9.86%  
of BFIT shares  

 

 
Acquire 6.84%  
of BFIT shares  

 
36.35%   

Case 2 Acquire 
BFIT shares from 
the Share 
Collector and 
the other 2 
shareholders of 
BFIT, who 
entered into the 
MOU with the 
Share Collector  

 
Acquire 
9.81%  
of BFIT 
shares 

 
Acquire 9.86%  
of BFIT shares  

 
 29.51%   
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 Acquiring BFIT Shares from the Seller Group Shareholding of 
SAWAD in BFIT 
after acquiring 

BFIT shares 
from the Seller 

Group 
(combining 
with 9.84% 

currently held) 

Making 
Tender 

Offer for 
BFIT 

Shares 

Business 
Restructuring 

of SAWAD 
Group* 

The Share 
Collector 

The 2 Existing 
Shareholders 
who entered 
into the MOU 

with the 
Share 

Collector 

The 2 Existing 
Shareholders 

who made 
verbal 

agreement 
with the Share 

Collector 
Case 3 Acquire 
BFIT shares from 
the Share 
Collector but 
unable to 
acquire BFIT 
shares from the 
4 shareholders  

 
Acquire 
9.81%  
of BFIT 
shares 

  19.65% 

 
Perform a 
Voluntary 

Tender 
Offer 

** 

Remark * to comply with the conditions in the approval letter from the Bank of Thailand dated December 26, 
2016, which allows the Company to hold shares in BFIT up to 100.00% of BFIT’s total paid-up shares. The 
Company must request for approval to establish a financial business group immediately if the Company 
acquires more than 50.00% of BFIT’s paid-up shares or has a control in BFIT, in order to comply with the 
Financial Institution Business Act. 

          **  In case BFIT does not acquire additional shares from the voluntary tender offer 
 
In addition, since the Company received an official approval dated December 26, 2016 from the Bank of 
Thailand for the Company to hold up to 100% shares in BFIT, with a condition requiring the Company to 
immediately establish a financial business group after acquiring more than 50% shares or having controlling 
interest over BFIT. The Company will, therefore, become a parent company having controlling interest in 
BFIT, a financial institution under the supervisory of the Bank of Thailand, and will be required to form a 
Financial Conglomerate, pursuant to the provision prescribed in the relevant the Bank of Thailand’s 
notifications, which also requires the parent company of a financial business group be a Holding Company 
who has the qualifications and business operations as prescribed by the Bank of Thailand if it is not a 
financial institution or finance company that is regulated by any specific agency. Therefore, the Board of 
Directors’ meeting No.14/2016 of SAWAD held on December 28, 2016 approved to propose that the 
shareholders’ meeting consider and approve the business restructuring in accordance with the plan to 
establish the financial business group of the Company as prescribed by the rules on consolidated supervision 
to be in compliance with the provisions of Section 54 of the Financial Institution Business Act and the 
Notification of the Bank of Thailand No. SorNorSor. 6/2553 Re: Consolidated Supervision Criteria as a 
condition permitting shareholding in BFIT by the Bank of Thailand. The details of the restructuring plan can 
be categorized into 2 main parts as follows:  
 
(1) Partial Business Transfer in order to transfer the collateralized lending business including related 

contracts, assets, and liabilities of the business along with all branches and employees necessary to 
conduct the business to Srisawad Power 2014, a 97% owned subsidiary of the Company, in order to 
change the Company’s business to a non-operating holding company that conducts its business solely 
by holding shares of other companies. The Company expects the Partial Business Transfer will be in 
accordance with the Royal Decree issued under the Revenue Code Re: Exemption from Revenue Taxes 
(No. 516) B.E. 2554, the Notification of the Director-General of Revenue Department Re: Rules, 
Procedures and Conditions for the Partial Business Transfer of Public Limited Company or Limited 
Company for the purpose of tax exemption, and other relevant Notifications to the matter (“PBT 
Conditions”).  
 
In this regard, the Company will proceed with such matter after the Extraordinary General Meeting of 
shareholders No.1/2017 to be held on March 8, 2017 approved the Company to acquire BFIT shares as 
well as other related agendas, and that the Company completed the acquisition of BFIT shares from 
the Seller Group, the Company will to file a request for permission from the Bank of Thailand to 
establish a financial business group in form of a Holding Company. The financial business group will 
have the Company as a parent company and will hold shares in BFIT and other subsidiaries. The 
expected completion date of the Partial Business Transfer to Srisawad 2014 will be within 2017 
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accounting period. After completion of the Partial Business Transfer, the Company will cease providing 
new loan service and  will change its name to “Srisawad Corporation Public Company Limited”. 
Additionally the Company will amend its Article of Associations accordingly to allow it to oversee and 
govern its subsidiaries and will retain its listing status in the SET under the holding company 
requirement, by having Srisawad 2014, the transferee, as its core company. In this regards, the 
Company shall remain 99.99% shareholding in Srisawad 2014 which more than 50.00% shareholding in 
Srisawad 2014 at least for a period required by the relevant rules in order to maintain Srisawad 2014 
qualification as a core company in accordance with the SET requirement. At present, SAWAD holds 
97.00% shares in Srisawad 2014 and plans to increase its shareholding to 99.99% after the transaction.  
 
The value of the Partial Business Transfer will be based on the fair value of the transferring net assets 
as of the transfer date in order to comply with the PBT conditions. The actual transfer value shall 
depend on the timing and the transferring assets/liabilities. Prior to the transfer, Srisawad 2014 is 
required to increase its registered capital at least equal to the net value of the transferring asset and 
liabilities. The Company will subscribe all such additional shares, which will result in the Company 
owning 99.99% in Srisawad 2014 after the transfer. 
 

(2) Internal Business Restructuring in order to clarify the business structure of the Company Group, 
prevent conflict of interest that may arise, and increase the financial group’s opportunity to expand its 
lending business in the future.  After the Partial Business Transfer to Srisawad 2014 pursuant to clause 
(1) above, the Company will proceed to restructure its subsidiaries business. The preliminary 
restructuring plan is as follows; 
o       Srisawad 2014, the transferee of the collateralized lending business, will continue to operate the 

transferred portfolio until all contracts are expired, will provide new lending service with certain 
types of collateral, and will operate the branches and provide Banking Agent services. 

o       BFIT will begin providing collateralized loans that do not overlap with Srisawad 2014 and personal 
loan (instead of Fast Money, the current provider of personal loan of SAWAD Group, by using 
Srisawad 2014 as Banking Agent; there were in total of 2,027 branches across the country 
(information as of September 30, 2016).  

In this regards, based on the information from the management of SAWAD, the types of secured loans 
that SAWAD will assign Srisawad 2014 and BFIT to operate in the future without redundancy will depend 
on the final shareholding of SAWAD in BFIT upon the completion of the tender offer as follows;  

 
Secured Loans that Srisawad 2014 and BFIT will Operate in the Future 

 Srisawad 2014 BFIT 
Scenario 1 SAWAD holds 36.35% 
of BFIT shares (in case SAWAD 
does not obtain additional BFIT 
shares from the tender offer) to 
less than 60% of BFIT shares  

Secured loans with collaterals 
including motorcycles, trucks, 
and vehicles for agricultural 
purposes  

Secured loans with collaterals 
including land titles, homes, 
condominiums, and four-wheel 
vehicles, 
 

Scenario 2 SAWAD holds equal to 
or more than 60.00% of BFIT 
shares 

Secured loans with collaterals 
including motorcycles 

Secured loans with collaterals 
including land titles, homes, 
condominiums, four-wheel 
vehicles, trucks, and vehicles 
for agricultural purposes 

Remark  In case after the transaction, SAWAD holds less than 36.35% of BFIT shares, the type of secured loans 
that SAWAD will assign Srisawad 2014 and BFIT to operate in the future, may differ from the Table 
above. 

 
According to the management of SAWAD, after moving certain types of loans to be under BFIT as well as 
considering additional types of financial services that can be offered per the Finance business license of 
BFIT, SAWAD Group can thus offer a more complete range of financial products and services to clients. 
As a result, revenue and customer base could be further expanded, strengthening the future growth 
potential of its lending business, comparing to the scenario where SAWAD continues to provide only its 
existing loan products. The shareholding proportion in BFIT post transaction, which will be used to 
determine the structure of secured loan business in the Table above, is based on the financial projection 
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prepared by SAWAD, by comparing the scenario where SAWAD holds BFIT shares and move certain types 
of loans under BFIT and the scenario where SAWAD continues to offer secured loans by itself. The 
shareholding percentage in BFIT at 60.00% is the break-even point that will not dilute the earnings per 
share (EPS) of SAWAD’s shareholders subsequent to moving all types of secured loans (except 
motorcycle loans) to be under BFIT. 

 
o       Fast Money, a 99.00% owned subsidiary of the Company, previously providing personal loan and 

Nano Finance, will only operate the Nano Finance business to reduce business redundancy with 
other subsidiaries.  

o       Other subsidiaries of SAWAD Group will maintain their current business.  
 

There will be no portfolio transfer in the business restructuring process (except for the portfolio 
transfer under the Partial Business Transfer from the Company to Srisawad 2014). In the event that 
BFIT begins to provide new lending services in addition to its current services, it is required to notify 
the Bank of Thailand in advance for the Bank of Thailand to assess its readiness to provide the services. 
Moreover, after SAWAD became the major shareholder of BFIT post transaction, BFIT does not have a 
policy to provide loans to companies under SAWAD Group for their uses as working capital or as 
source of funds for lending. The cash within each company will only be used for offering loans to each 
company’s target customer. 

 
Additionally, the Company intends for BFIT to maintain the status of listed company. In the event that 
SAWAD has a shareholding stake in BFIT above 85.00% of BFIT’s total paid-up shares after the 
completion of the tender offer, which may result in BFIT not complying with the free float requirement 
of the SET pursuant to the Notification of the Board of Governors of the Stock Exchange of Thailand 
Re: Maintaining the Status of Listed Companies in the Exchange, 2011, indicating that a listed company 
shall maintain its qualification with respect to share distribution so that its ordinary shares shall be 
held by minority shareholders in a number not less than 150 and such shareholders shall hold shares in 
aggregate of not less than 15% of the paid-up capital of the listed company. In this regards, SAWAD 
will sell its BFIT shares in the SET so that BFIT complies with such free float requirement. 

 
The Company Group’s structure after the acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and the tender 
offer for all securities in BFIT as well as the Company Group’s structure after the business restructuring in 
accordance with the plan to establish financial business group as prescribed by the rules on consolidated 
supervision to be in compliance with the Financial Institution Business Act and the Notification of the Bank of 
Thailand are presented below.    
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Group Structure after the Acquisition of BFIT Shares before the Restructuring 

 
 

Group Structure after Business Restructuring 
in accordance with the Plan to Establish Financial Business Group   

 
Based on the information from the management of SAWAD, the types of secured loans that SAWAD will assign 
Srisawad 2014 and BFIT to operate in the future without redundancy will depend on the final shareholding of 
SAWAD in BFIT upon the completion of the tender offer as shown in the above Table. 
 
The acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and from the tender offer as well as the business 
restructuring of SAWAD Group, the change of company’s name and seal, and the amendment to the Article 
of Association of SAWAD, are all interrelated related agendas. Thus, the consideration of the shareholders to 
approve such matters are interrelated as well. In case one of the agendas is not approved, other agendas 
which have been approved, will be cancelled. And subsequent agendas will no longer be considered. In such 
a case, all related agendas will be considered as not approved by the shareholders. However, based on the 
interview with SAWAD’s management, in case the Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders No.1/2017 
of the Company, which will be held of March 8, 2017, does not approve the Company to acquire BFIT shares 

Srisawad Corporation Plc 
(Formerly Srisawad Power 1979 Plc) 

 

Listed on the SET 
Provide SME loans, loans 

with collateral** and 
personal loans  

 

Bangkok First  
Investment & Trust Plc 

 
Manage Srisawad 
branches, provide 

loans with 
collateral** and 
debt collection 

Srisawad Power 
2014 Co., Ltd. 

 
Nano Finance 

Fast Money  
Co., Ltd. 

Purchase distressed assets 
from financial institutions 

and debt collection 

SWP Asset 
Management Co., Ltd. 

Srisawad International 
Holding Co., Ltd. 

 

Invest in other 
companies 

internationally 

United Coastal  
Co., Ltd. 

Provide management and 
advisory services on retail 

finance management 
systems for ASEAN  

 

SWP Services  
Co., Ltd. 

Provide loans with 
automobile as collateral in 

Vietnam 
 

Srisawad Vietnam LLC 

99.99% 100% 90% 90% 

100% 100% 100% 

Invest in other companies 
domestically and 

internationally 
 

Listed on the SET 
In the business of holding shares of other 

companies (Holding Company) 
 

Remark    *    The final shareholding percentage in BFIT 
depends on the result of the tender offer               

                  **  Different collateral type to prevent 
business redundancy 

 

                 Companies under the restructuring plan 
                     

Companies not under the restructuring plan 

Srisawad Power 1979 Plc 
 

Listed on the SET 
Provide collateralized loans 

 

Listed on the SET 
Finance company 

Bangkok First  
Investment & Trust Plc 

 
Debt collection service 

Srisawad Power 
2014 Co., Ltd. 

 
Personal loans and  

Nano Finance 

Fast Money  
Co., Ltd. 

 
Purchase distressed assets 
from financial institutions 

and debt collection 

SWP Asset 
Management Co., Ltd. 

 
Invest in other 

companies domestically 
and internationally 

Srisawad International 
Holding Co., Ltd. 

 

Invest in other 
companies 

internationally 

United Coastal  
Co., Ltd. 

Provide management 
and advisory services on 

retail finance 
management systems 

for ASEAN  

SWP Services  
Co., Ltd. 

Provide loans with 
automobile as 

collateral in Vietnam 

Srisawad  
Vietnam LLC 

 

97% 100% 90% 90% 

100% 100% 100% 
Remark * The final shareholding percentage in BFIT 

depends on the result of the tender offer 

36.35% -100%* 

36.35% -100%* 
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from the Seller Group and from the tender offer for all securities of BFIT, the Company still has the obligation 
per the condition under the Memorandum of Understanding between SAWAD and the Share Collector to 
acquire 9.81% of BFIT shares (which were collected by the Share Collector from the two former shareholders 
on September 13, 2016 and October 11, 2016 for the Company) according to the condition under the 
Memorandum of Understanding between SAWAD and the Share Collector dated June 10, 2016. 
 
The acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and the tender offer for the remaining shares of BFIT, 
is considered to be a purchase or accepting transfer of a business of other companies pursuant to the 
Section 107(2)(b) of the Public Limited Company Act B.E.2535 (as amended), which requires the Company 
to seek approval from the shareholders’ meeting with affirmative votes of not less than three-fourths of 
the total number of votes of the shareholders who attend the meeting and are entitled to vote. The 
acquisition of BFIT shares is also considered as the acquisition transaction under the Acquisition and 
Disposition Notification with the maximum transaction value under the assumption that all BFIT 
shareholders accept the tender offer equivalent to 30.71% calculated based on net tangible asset basis. 
Net tangible assets of BFIT is calculated based on the shareholding percentage of the Company in BFIT at 
90.16% (under the assumption that all BFIT shareholders accept the tender offer), then comparing with net 
tangible assets of the Company according to the reviewed consolidated financial statements of the 
Company for 9 month period ended September 30, 2016. When combining with 19,680,000 BFIT shares 
acquired during the previous 6 months with the total value of THB 157,718,136 (as disclosed to the 
investors and the SET on June 27, 2016), the total transaction size is equal to 34.72% of the Company’s net 
tangible assets, which is higher than 15% but not exceeds 50%, thus, considered to be class 2 acquisition 
transaction. The Company is required to disclose information memorandum regarding the transaction to 
the SET and to circulate such information to the shareholders within 21 days from the disclosure date. 
(details of the calculation of the transaction size appear in Section 1 Item 1.1.1 of this report) 
 
The Partial Business Transfer to Srisawad 2014 is considered to be a purchase of business of other 
companies, pursuant to the Section 107(2)(a) of the Public Limited Company Act B.E.2535 (as amended), the 
Company is required to seek prior approval from the shareholders’ meeting with affirmative votes of not less 
than three-fourths of the total number of votes of the shareholders who attend the meeting and are entitled 
to vote. The Board of Directors’ Meeting No.14/2016 held on December 28, 2016 determined the date of the 
Extraordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting on March 8, 2017 to consider and approve the transaction and 
passed a resolution to appoint the Independent Financial Advisor to provide opinion regarding the 
transaction pursuant to the Acquisition and Disposition Notification to provide shareholders with sufficient 
information to consider and approve the transaction although it is not required by the regulation.  
 
Based on our analysis on the reasonableness of the transaction which includes the fairness of the transaction 
price and the conditions underlying the acquisition transaction of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and the 
tender offer for all securities of BFIT, the IFA has opinions toward the transaction as follows; 
 
The IFA views that this transaction is appropriate due to the following reasons; 
1. The investment will be made in a company with a good business potential which could benefit or 

support the core business of the Company. SAWAD and BFIT together could bring positive synergies 
through each party’s business potential and/or competitive advantages to the new financial business 
group. This is one of the strategies to support the sustainable long-term growth of both SAWAD Group 
and BFIT in the future. The benefits to be realized from the potential synergies among the businesses of 
both firms after the transaction include the increase in variety of lending products and/or financial 
services of SAWAD Group, the increase in alternative sources of funds for the business of SAWAD Group 
through the depository business of BFIT which bears lower cost of funds comparing to other sources, the 
increase in service channels and ability to penetrate target customers of the businesses that BFIT will 
operate instead of SAWAD in the future (i.e. certain types of collateralized loan business of SAWAD and 
personal loan business of Fast Money) through the available branches of SAWAD Group all over the 
country as well as the business support personnel who are experienced in the lending business, etc. Such 
business synergy will result in SAWAD, as a parent company of the financial business group, will have an 
opportunity to earn a good return on investment from its subsidiaries and/or associated companies 
(including BFIT) according to its objective underlying this transaction. The management of the Company 
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views that the benefits to be received from the acquisition of BFIT shares and allowing BFIT to offer 
certain types of loans instead of SAWAD are worthwhile. Since the Company will be able to better 
expand its loan services as well as access lower costs of funds even though SAWAD will lose the 
opportunity to operate certain types of secured loans by itself to BFIT in the future after the transaction. 
 

2. The investment will be made in a company that has a sound financial status and positive profits as well 
as good business potential (because BFIT has more licenses to operate Finance business and other 
types of financial services3 than SAWAD Group. Also, BFIT has been able to maintain its financial ratios 
above the requirement of the Bank of Thailand. Thus, BFIT has the ability to expand its lending 
business and to further invest in the future. Additionally, BFIT has an access to lower costs of funds 
than SAWAD). As a result, SAWAD Group will have the opportunity to earn a good return on 
investment as targeted, especially if the business collaboration within the financial business group of 
SAWAD according to the restructuring plan post acquisition of BFIT shares (which includes the 
expansion of BFIT’s lending business to cover certain types of collateralized loans and personal loans) 
are executed as planned. 

 
3. The investment will facilitate SAWAD Group in building portfolio of new businesses that are not 

currently available such as depository business, commercial lending, and loans for SME, all of which 
are currently operated by BFIT. This will enable SAWAD to earn returns from investing in new types of 
businesses and services as well as help lessen the time required comparing to SAWAD obtaining the 
licenses to operate the business from relating regulatory and launch the new products and/or services 
by itself. This is because BFIT has already owned licenses to operate Finance business, experienced 
personnel, customer base, information technology system, as well as a certain level of awareness 
among targeted customers given that BFIT has been operating Finance business and providing variety 
of financial services for a long period of time (BFIT was established in 1972). 

 
4. The investment will establish a good image and credibility in providing different types of loans and/or 

other financial services of SAWAD Group which will be partly operated by BFIT in the future (given that 
BFIT is a Finance company licensed by the Ministry of Finance and under the supervision of the Bank of 
Thailand. Also, BFIT had a good financial status and operating performance in the past few years). This 
will enhance SAWAD Group’s competitiveness to the level of its competitors which are other financial 
institutions. Also, it will help preparing SAWAD Group for future business expansion into other types of 
financial services both domestically and internationally in the ASEAN region.  

 
5. The business restructuring within SAWAD Group through having BFIT, a finance company licensed by 

the Ministry of Finance and under the supervision of the Bank of Thailand, who currently operates in 
compliance with the relating laws and regulations of the government agencies, providing some 
collateralized loans and uncollateralized personal loans instead of SAWAD and Fast Money (which are 
non-bank institutions) in the future, will help preparing the Company and mitigating potential business 
risks in the event that the government issues stricter policies to control non-financial institutions or 
non-bank businesses in the future. 

 
6. The highest acquisition price of BFIT shares from the tender offer at THB 11.42 per share are in the 

appropriate range of fair value evaluated by the IFA using Price to Book Value Ratio Approach and 
Historical Market Price Approach which are THB 9.79 - 13.68 per share (the details of BFIT share 
valuation appear in Section 1 Item 1.3.1 of this report).   

 
7. The conditions underlying the transaction per the Share Purchase Agreement are appropriate since 

they will ensure the benefits to the Company in obtaining the asset with the same condition as was 
agreed by both parties prior to closing. Meanwhile, other conditions and/or agreements are in 

                                                             
3    BFIT was granted the license No.8/2516 by the Ministry of Finance to engage in 4 types of finance businesses 

including business of finance for commerce, business of finance for development, business of finance for 
disposition and consumption, and business of finance for housing. Moreover, BFIT is approved to act as 
debenture holder representative and/or trustee. 
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compliance with the laws or related regulations such as the transaction must be approved by the 
shareholders’ meeting with a vote of no less than three-quarters of the total votes cast by the 
shareholders attending the meeting and eligible to vote. As for other conditions of the share purchase 
transaction, they are normal conditions agreed upon mutually and voluntarily by both parties i.e. the 
consideration paid to the Share Collector for her duty of collecting shares. However, the IFA views that 
SAWAD may encounter risk associated with a condition per the Memorandum of Understanding with 
the Share Collector which states that SAWAD shall responsible for any damages to the Share Collector 
in the event that the Share Collector is damaged from performing her duty. 
 

Hence, the shareholders should approve the acquisition transaction of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and 
the tender offer for all securities of BFIT. However, there are disadvantages and risks that the shareholders 
should take into consideration before making the decision to approve the transaction as follows;  
1. Risk associated with SAWAD not benefiting from the business synergies or realizing return from its 

increasing stakes in BFIT as expected because SAWAD does not acquire additional BFIT shares from the 
tender offer or does not acquire adequate shares to control BFIT’s business direction and resolution of 
the shareholders’ meeting on common issues or on significant issues. As a result, SAWAD may be 
unable to effectively integrate policy, business plan, and other aspects of managing BFIT into its plan 
to establish a financial business group. This might be because the remaining shareholders of BFIT 
recognize the potential growth of BFIT after becoming the provider of certain types of collateralized 
loan and personal loan instead of SAWAD in the future, or in the event that the tender offer price, 
which will not exceed THB 11.42 per share, is lower than the market price of BFIT shares traded in the 
stock market at the time of the tender offer.  
 
Additionally, after establishing the financial business group, SAWAD will generate revenues from the 
operating performances of other subsidiaries such as revenues of Srisawad 2014 – Interest income 
from a certain types of collateralized loan services and service fees from Banking Agent services 
provided to BFIT and other companies under SAWAD Group as well as revenues of Fast Money – 
Interest income from Nano finance loans. Meanwhile, interest income from certain types of 
collateralized loans (that are not redundant with Srisawad 2014) and uncollateralized personal loans, 
which SAWAD will assign BFIT to operate in the future, will be earned through SAWAD’s shareholding 
in BFIT according to the final shareholding percentage obtained from the tender offer. In the event 
that none of BFIT shareholders accept the tender offer or only a few shareholders accept the tender 
offer, although SAWAD will earn Banking Agent service fees and other service fees from the additional 
services to be provided. However, due to the uncertainty of revenues from certain types of 
collateralized loans that BFIT will begin to provide post transaction which largely depends on the 
management efficiency of BFIT and SAWAD as well as the business environment in the future, SAWAD 
may be at risk of earning lower return from increasing its shareholding stakes in BFIT and the business 
restructuring, comparing to the return from pursuing its own organic growth investment opportunity. 
 
However, the business restructuring according to the plan to establish a financial business group is the 
required procedure under the condition of the Bank of Thailand, permitting the Company to hold more 
than 10% shares in BFIT, and also a preparation of SAWAD for any possible changes in the laws governing 
lending businesses in the future. Additionally, the management of SAWAD is confident in its business plan 
for BFIT which utilizes the competitive advantages of both firms and thus will likely bring in potential growth 
to BFIT. As a result, SAWAD will have an opportunity to earn a good return on investment as well as realize 
positive benefits to the operations of SAWAD Group as a whole in the long run as expected. 

 
2.  The transaction might impact the Company’s operating performance and its ability to distribute 

dividend in the future due to the increasing amount of debt burden and interest expenses from the 
loans that SAWAD will use in the acquisition of BFIT shares. In the event that all remaining BFIT 
shareholders accept the tender offer, total consideration (inclusive of the consideration to be paid to 
the Share Collector and related transaction fees) will be THB 1,980.25 million. As a result, total 
liabilities of SAWAD will increase to THB 14,914.90 million, comprising interest bearing debts of THB 
14,333.86 million. Also, the debt to equity ratio will increase to approximately 2.40 times, calculated 
based on the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of September 30, 2016. Additionally, 
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there might be an impact from the recognition of goodwill in the event that the consideration paid for 
BFIT shares is higher than the fair value of BFIT’s assets and liabilities as of the transaction date. If after 
the transaction, the operating performance of BFIT is not as expected, the Company may have to test 
the impairment of goodwill which may affect the Company’s financial statements in the future. In this 
regards, SAWAD may be affected by the recognition of goodwill in the event that it has a shareholding 
stake in BFIT post transaction at approximately equal to or more than 54.73%. In the case SAWAD will 
hold 100.00% of BFIT shares, amount of goodwill will be approximately THB 104.49 million (calculated 
from the total transaction value of THB 1,980.25 million, comprising of the consideration for the 
acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and the tender offer, related transaction fees, and the 
consideration to the Share Collector). According to the management of SAWAD, the excess of 
consideration paid over the net asset value of BFIT is the value of license to operate Finance business 
and the management views that such amount of goodwill will not significantly affect the consolidated 
financial statements of SAWAD. On the other hand, in the case where SAWAD acquires 26.51% shares 
of BFIT from the Share Collector and all remaining shareholders of BFIT, which altogether hold 63.65%, 
accept the tender offer, SAWAD will hold 100.00% of BFIT shares. As a result, the amount of goodwill 
will be approximately THB 140 million. According to the management of SAWAD, the excess of 
consideration paid over the net asset value of BFIT is the value of license to operate Finance business. 
In this regards, the Company will arrange for the appraisal of fair value of BFIT’s assets and liabilities, 
both tangible and intangible, as of the transaction date. The appraised value might result in a different 
amount of goodwill from the above. In the case where SAWAD acquires 26.51% shares of BFIT from 
the Seller Group and no other BFIT shareholders accept the tender offer, SAWAD will hold 36.35% of 
BFIT shares. As a result, there will be a gain from bargain purchase at approximately THB 28.95 million 
which will be recorded in the profit and loss statement (calculated from the total transaction value of 
THB 522.49 million, comprising of the consideration for the acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller 
Group, related transaction fees, and the consideration to the Share Collector) because the purchase 
price is lower than the net book value (additional details appear in Section 1 Item 1.2.2 of this report). 

 
3. The risk associated with not realizing expected return from the additional investment in BFIT because 

the operating performance of BFIT is not according to plan due to different factors such as; 
o The declining amount of deposits, which is one of the major sources of funds for BFIT’s lending 

business at present as well as for future business expansion (i.e. collateralized loan and 
uncollateralized personal loan businesses that BFIT will operate instead of SAWAD and Fast Money 
in the future). The declining amount of deposits may result from the declining amount of deposits 
from related persons or companies in the future after SAWAD becoming the major shareholder of 
BFIT or the impact from a gradual change in the coverage of insured deposit according to the 
announcement of the Royal Decree on Coverage of Insured Deposits B.E. 2559 enacted on July 7, 
2016, that may result in depositors resorting to larger financial institutions and/or big depositors 
diversifying their accounts at many financial institutions in order to minimize exposure to loss. 
However, related persons or companies have continued to deposit money with BFIT in the past. 

o The growth of collateralized loans and uncollateralized personal loans to new customers, which 
will be provided by BFIT in the future (instead of SAWAD and Fast Money who are the current 
providers), is not according to plan. 

 The above events may occur as a result of many causes such as an economic slowdown, an increasing 
competition in the future, a change in market interest rate, etc.  

 
4.     SAWAD as a holding company will assume more roles in governing the businesses of other companies 

under its group to be in compliance with the regulations regarding the consolidated supervisions and 
other related rules of the Bank of Thailand. For example, to establish sufficient allowance for doubtful 
accounts based on the BOT’s standard, to evaluate the sufficiency of the capital reserve and liquidity 
of the financial group, to report on the group business policies, various internal risk management 
policies, and to prepare financial reports on the group consolidation basis, etc. Moreover, the 
additional investment in BFIT, who operates certain businesses similar to SAWAD, will result in SAWAD 
facing concentrated risks in lending business and other financial services. In case SAWAD is unable to 
evaluate and/or arrange for proper and adequate risk management tools, it may affect the financial 
status and operating performance of SAWAD in the future. 
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The management of SAWAD, together with the Company's financial advisor, prepared financial 
projections of the financial group during the next 3 years on a Solo Basis (BFIT) and Full Consolidation 
Basis (the Company and all subsidiaries) to preliminarily assess the impact on the financial positions 
and the performance of the Company Group, and expected that the compliance to the BOT’s 
regulations will not affect the Group’s expansion plan, but rather enhance the governance and the 
financial strength, as well as lower its operating risk. Additionally, if BFIT is to expand its lending 
business beyond its existing loan services, such business plan must be assessed for readiness by the 
Bank of Thailand before the start of service.   

 
5.  The risk associated with SAWAD unable to acquire the entire 26.51% of BFIT shares as expected by 

SAWAD since the other 4 shareholders or some of them especially the 2 shareholders who agree to 
sell verbally (namely Mr. Somyos Vinitchaikul and Mr. Thanit Sethikul) do not comply with the 
agreement to sell BFIT shares to SAWAD as agreed with the Share Collector.  If such case happens, 
SAWAD will continue to acquire 9.81% BFIT shares from the Share Collector. 

 
6. The risk associated with the condition in the Memorandum of Understanding between SAWAD and the 

Share Collector in which SAWAD agrees to be responsible for any damages, which may occur to the 
Share Collector from performing her duty. Additionally, the Share Collector may demand the Company 
to acquire 9.81% of BFIT shares according to the condition in the said Memorandum of Understanding. 

 
7.  The Company and BFIT may lose operational flexibility since both are listed companies on the SET who 

must comply with the rules and regulations of both the SEC and the SET such as in the event that BFIT, 
a subsidiary of the Company, will enter into an acquisition or disposal of asset transaction or 
connected transaction with the transaction value and size greater than the threshold set out by the 
SEC and the SET (the transaction value and size are on the basis of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of BFIT). As a result, an 
approval from the Board of Directors and/or the shareholders’ meeting of both the Company and BFIT 
may be required to further proceed with certain actions. 

 
8. In the event that the remaining shareholders of BFIT accept the tender offer of the Company and 

result in the Company holding 100.00% shares in BFIT, BFIT may encounter the risk associated with 
maintaining its listing status on the SET due to the incompliance with the free float requirement of the 
SET pursuant to the Notification of the Board of Governors of the Stock Exchange of Thailand Re: 
Maintaining the Status of Listed Companies in the Exchange, 2011, indicating that a listed company 
shall maintain its qualification with respect to share distribution so that its ordinary shares shall be 
held by minority shareholders in a number not less than 150 and such shareholders shall hold shares in 
aggregate of not less than 15% of the paid-up capital of the listed company. As a result, SAWAD may 
be required to delist BFIT from the SET in the future. However, according to the interview with the 
management, upon completion of the tender offer, in case SAWAD has a shareholding stake in BFIT 
above 85.00% of total paid-up shares of BFIT, SAWAD will sell BFIT shares in the SET so that BFIT will 
comply with the relevant free float requirement. 
 

9. The risk associated with SAWAD unable to complete the transaction after all of the transaction costs have 
been incurred because the conditions precedent cannot be fulfilled. For example, the shareholders’ 
meeting does not resolve to approve the transactions with affirmative votes of not less than three-fourths 
of the total number of votes of the shareholders who attend the meeting and are entitled to vote or there 
is an event of change which constitutes material adverse effect to the business operation, financial position 
or assets of BFIT, before the date on which the share purchase is completed. However, the management of 
SAWAD views that the related transaction expenses will not significantly affect the Company comparing to 
the benefits to be obtained by the Company from entering into the transaction. 
 

In this regard, the shareholders can consider additional information about advantages, disadvantages, and 
risks associated with the acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and the tender offer for all 
securities of BFIT in Section 1 Item 1.2.2 of this report.  
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Section 1 : The acquisition of ordinary shares and the tender offer for all securities of Bangkok First 
Investment & Trust Public Company Limited 

  
1.1 Characteristics and details of the transaction  
 
On June 10, 2016, the Company entered into the Memorandum of Understanding with Miss Narissara Kitpipit 
(the Share Collector), who is not a connected person with the Company, to appoint the Share Collector as a 
coordinator between the Company and the existing shareholders of BFIT, who intend to sell BFIT shares, as 
well as to proceed with necessary actions to collect BFIT shares in the amount not less than 25.00%. Later on 
June 27, 2016, the Company had previously acquired the ordinary shares of BFIT from 2 existing 
shareholders, consist of Miss Saowakon Limaksorn (amounted to 9,940,000 shares) and Miss Supida 
Chatrapiruk (amounted to 9,740,000 shares), totaling 19,680,000 shares, representing 9.84% of total paid-up 
shares of BFIT at the price of THB 8.00 per share, altogether of THB 157,718,136, inclusive of transaction fees. 
(which does not exceed 10% maximum shareholding in a financial institution generally permitted to any one 
shareholder by the Financial Institution Act B.E. 2551. 
 
The Company’s intends to increase its shareholding stake in BFIT from its current shareholding of 9.84% so 
that the Company can shape BFIT business policy. This is one of the key strategies of the Company to expand 
lending business and related Finance businesses. It could also strengthen the Company’s competitiveness, 
financial status, and potential growth. Thus, the Company filed a request for permission from the Bank of 
Thailand to hold more than 10% shares in BFIT in order to effectively control BFIT’s business policies and 
directions. Between September 13, 2016 and October 11, 2016, the Share Collector has collected BFIT shares 
from the two former shareholders in a total amount of 19,620,000 shares or 9.81% of BFIT’s total ordinary 
shares, at a price of THB 8.20 per share. 
 
On December 27, 2016, The Company received an official approval from the Bank of Thailand for the 
Company to hold up to 100% shares in BFIT, with a condition requiring the Company to immediately establish 
a financial business group after acquiring more than 50% shares or having controlling interest over BFIT. The 
Company will, therefore, become a parent company having controlling interest in BFIT, a financial institution 
under the supervisory of the Bank of Thailand, and will be required to form a financial conglomerate, 
pursuant to the provision prescribed in the relevant the Bank of Thailand’s notifications, which also requires 
the parent company of a financial business group be a Holding Company who has the qualifications and 
business operations as prescribed by the Bank of Thailand if it is not a financial institution or finance 
company that is regulated by any specific agency.  
 
Therefore, the Board of Directors’ Meeting of SAWAD No.14/2016 held on December 28, 2016 determined 
the date of the Extraordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting No.1/2017 to be on March 8, 2017 to consider 
and approve the acquisition of BFIT shares from the current shareholders who intended to sell, the tender 
offer for all securities of BFIT, the business restructuring in accordance with the plan to establish the financial 
business group of the Company as a condition permitting shareholding in BFIT by the Bank of Thailand, and 
other relevant procedures concerning the business restructuring. Details of the transactions to obtain 
approval from the shareholders’ meeting are as follows; 
 
(1) Approved the acquisition of BFIT’s ordinary shares and the tender offer for all securities of BFIT which are; 

o  Acquire shares in BFIT total of 53,011,000 shares or 26.51% of BFIT total paid-up shares from 5 
sellers (the Seller Group) as follow :  

Sellers No. of BFIT’ Shares  
(shares) 

Percentage of 
Shareholding 

Price 
(THB/share) 

Total Value 
(THB million) 

Current Shareholders 
Miss Kanoknuch Chonvanich* 9,970,000 4.99 10.50 104.69 
Mr. Somyos Vinijchaikul** 9,901,000 4.95 10.50 103.96 
Mrs. Pirada Indamara* 9,734,000 4.87 10.50 102.21 
Mr. Thanit Sethikul** 3,786,000 1.89 10.50 39.75 
Sub-Total 33,391,000 16.70 10.50 350.61 
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Sellers No. of BFIT’ Shares  
(shares) 

Percentage of 
Shareholding 

Price 
(THB/share) 

Total Value 
(THB million) 

Share Collector 
Miss Narisara Kitpipith*** 19,620,000 9.81 8.20**** 160.88 
Total 53,011,000 26.51  511.49 

Remark     * entered into the Memorandum of Understanding to sell shares with Miss Narissara Kitpipit as the 
Share Collector on November 9, 2016 

 ** verbally agreed to sell shares to Miss Narissara Kitpipit as the Share Collector 
                     *** entered into the Share Purchase Agreement with SAWAD on December 28, 2016 

  **** the same price with the acquisition price of BFIT shares by the Share Collector from the 2 former 
shareholders of BFIT on September 13, 2016 and October 11, 2016 

 
o       Propose a tender offer to acquire the remaining 127,309,000 shares in BFIT, or 63.65% of total 

paid-up shares, at the tender offer price not exceeding THB 11.42 per share, totaling THB 
1,453.87 million. 
 

The consideration for the acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group is THB 511.49 million. 
Combining with the consideration for the acquisition of BFIT shares from the tender offer of THB 
1,453.87 million, the total consideration under this transaction is thus altogether of THB 1,965.36 
million. Including related transaction fees of THB 6.89 million and the consideration to the Share 
Collector of THB 8.00 million, total consideration inclusive of fees is thus in total of THB 1,980.25 
million (details of the transaction values appear in Section 1 Item 1.1.1 of this report). In this regards, 
the purchase transaction from the Seller Group will be executed on the Big Lot Board. 

 
The acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and the tender offer to purchase all securities of 
BFIT are subject to the following conditions precedent: 
o       The shareholders’ meeting resolves to approve the acquisition of shares in BFIT per the Share 

Purchase Agreement, and the tender offer to purchase all remaining securities of BFIT, with 
affirmative votes of not less than three-fourths of the total number of votes of the shareholders 
who attend the meeting and are entitled to vote (the Company will convene the Extraordinary 
General Shareholders’ Meeting No.1/2017 to consider and approve the above transactions on 
March 8, 2017. 

o       From the date on which the Share Purchase Agreement is executed until the date on which the 
share purchase is completed, there shall be no event of change which constitutes material 
adverse effect to the business operation, financial position or assets of BFIT. 

In case such shareholders’ meeting approved the transactions, the Company expects that it will 
acquire BFIT shares from the Sellr Group in March 2017 and subsequently proceed with the tender 
offer during March – May 2017 with the procedures and timeline determined in accordance with the 
Takeover Notification and the relevant regulations). However, in case the Company is unable to 
acquire BFIT shares from the 2 existing shareholders, who verbally agreed to sell (namely Mr. Somyos 
Vinitchaikul and Mr. Thanit Sethikul). The Company will hold 59,004,000 shares of BFIT, representing 
29.51% of BFIT’s total paid-up shares, which is above the trigger point to make a tender offer for all 
securities required by the Takeover Notification. As a result of such scenario, SAWAD will proceed with 
the tender offer for the remaining securities of BFIT from the remaining shareholders accordingly.   
 

In the event that the 4 existing shareholders of BFIT, who have already agreed with the Share Collector to sell 
BFIT shares to SAWAD, do not comply with such agreement, the Company will continue to purchase 9.81% 
shares of BFIT from the Share Collector (who has already collected BFIT shares from the 2 former 
shareholders on September 13, 2016 and October 11, 2016 for the Company). As a result, the Company will 
have a shareholding stake in BFIT of 19.65% after completing such acquisition from the Share Collector. 
Subsequently, the Company will proceed with the Voluntary Tender Offer accordingly. 
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Action Plans of SAWAD under Different Scenarios after Obtaining the Shareholders’ Approval 
 Acquiring BFIT Shares from the Seller Group Shareholding of 

SAWAD in BFIT 
after acquiring 

BFIT shares 
from the Seller 

Group 
(combining 
with 9.84% 

currently held) 

Making 
Tender 

Offer for 
BFIT 

Shares 

Business 
Restructuring 

of SAWAD 
Group* 

The Share 
Collector 

The 2 Existing 
Shareholders 
who entered 
into the MOU 

with the 
Share 

Collector 

The 2 Existing 
Shareholders 

who made 
verbal 

agreement 
with the Share 

Collector 
Case 1 Acquire 
BFIT shares from 
the Seller Group 

 
Acquire 
9.81%  
of BFIT 
shares 

 
Acquire 9.86%  
of BFIT shares  

 

 
Acquire 6.84%  
of BFIT shares  

 

36.35%   

Case 2 Acquire 
BFIT shares from 
the Share 
Collector and 
the other 2 
shareholders of 
BFIT, who 
entered into the 
MOU with the 
Share Collector  

 
Acquire 
9.81%  
of BFIT 
shares 

 
Acquire 9.86%  
of BFIT shares  

 

 29.51%   

Case 3 Acquire 
BFIT shares from 
the Share 
Collector but 
unable to 
acquire BFIT 
shares from the 
4 shareholders  

 
Acquire 
9.81%  
of BFIT 
shares 

  19.65% 

 
Perform a 
Voluntary 

Tender 
Offer 

** 

Remark * to comply with the conditions in the approval letter from the Bank of Thailand dated December 26, 
2016, which allows the Company to hold shares in BFIT up to 100.00% of BFIT’s total paid-up shares. The 
Company must request for approval to establish a financial business group immediately if the Company 
acquires more than 50.00% of BFIT’s paid-up shares or has a control in BFIT, in order to comply with the 
Financial Institution Business Act. 

             **  In case BFIT does not acquire additional shares from the voluntary tender offer 
 
Additionally, the Company intends for BFIT to maintain the status of listed company. In the event that 
SAWAD has a shareholding stake in BFIT above 85.00% of BFIT’s total paid-up shares after the 
completion of the tender offer, which may result in BFIT not complying with the free float requirement 
of the SET pursuant to the Notification of the Board of Governors of the Stock Exchange of Thailand 
Re: Maintaining the Status of Listed Companies in the Exchange, 2011, indicating that a listed company 
shall maintain its qualification with respect to share distribution so that its ordinary shares shall be 
held by minority shareholders in a number not less than 150 and such shareholders shall hold shares in 
aggregate of not less than 15% of the paid-up capital of the listed company. In this regards, SAWAD 
will sell its BFIT shares in the SET so that BFIT complies with such free float requirement. 
 

(2) Approved the business restructuring in accordance with the plan to establish the financial business 
group of the Company as prescribed by the rules on consolidated supervision to be in compliance with 
the provisions of Section 54 of the Financial Institution Business Act and the Notification of the Bank of 
Thailand No. SorNorSor. 6/2553 Re: Consolidated Supervision Criteria. The business restructuring can 
be summarized as follows: 
(2.1)  Partial business transfer from the Company to a subsidiary namely, all kinds of secured loans, as 

well as all agreements, assets and liabilities in connection with and used in the operation of 
such business, all branch offices of the Company and all employees necessary for the business 
operation to Srisawad 2014, a 97% owned subsidiary of the Company, at the fair value of the 
transferring assets and liabilities on the transfer date. The Company may apply for tax exemption 
on the transfer with the Revenue Department if the transfer meets the PBT conditions. 
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 In this regard, the Company will proceed with the Partial Business Transfer subsequent to the 
followings; (1) the shareholders’ meeting of the Company approves the acquisition of BFIT 
shares from the Seller Group, the tender offer for all remaining securities of BFIT, and the 
business restructuring plan by establishing a financial business group of the Company and (2) 
the Company completed the acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group. Additionally, prior 
to the transfer, Srisawad 2014 is required to increase its registered capital at least equal to the 
net value of the transferring asset and liabilities. The Company will subscribe all such additional 
shares, which will result in the Company owning 99.99% in Srisawad 2014 after the transfer. The 
Company will oversee and establish governing policies in Srisawad 2014 by appointing the 
individuals, who were the members of the Board of Directors and management who managed 
the business while it was with the Company, to be the directors and key management positions 
of Srisawad 2014 to ensure the continuity and the effectiveness in the business operation. 

 
(2.2) Internal Business Restructuring in order to clarify the business structure of the Company Group 

and to prevent conflict of interest that may arise. The companies with changes in business 
operations are presented in the table below.  

Name Status and Business Operation  
at Present 

Status and Business Operation  
after Restructuring 

SAWAD o Listed on the SET 
o Provide collateralized loans 

o Listed on the SET  
o Change its name to “Srisawad Corporation Public 

Company Limited” but does not change trading 
symbol  

o Cease providing new loan to change its status to a 
Holding Company and no longer operating business 
other than investing in other companies to gain 
control over other businesses  

Srisawad 
2014 

o SAWAD holds shares at 97%  
o Provide debt collection service 

 

o SAWAD holds shares at 99.99% 
o Operate the transferred portfolio until all contracts 

are expired and only provide new loan service for a 
certain type of collateral 

o Focus on managing its branches and provide 
Banking Agent service to BFIT by accepting and 
pre-approving loan applications, receiving 
payments, and etc. 

BFIT o Listed on the SET  
o SAWAD holds shares at 9.84%  
o Provide commercial lending and 

non-collateralized employee benefit 
lending services 
 

o Listed on the SET  
o SAWAD holds shares at 36.35% – 100.00% (the 

final shareholding percentage depends on the 
result of the tender offer)   

o Provide commercial lending and non-collateralized 
employee benefit lending services  

o Expand its lending business to cover all 
collateralized loans that do not overlap with 
Srisawad 2014, SME loans, and uncollateralized 
personal loans through Banking Agent operated by 
Srisawad 2014   

Fast Money o Provide personal loan and Nano 
Finance 

o Only continue the Nano Finance business  
o Return the license to operate the personal loan 

business to the Ministry of Finance 
Remark : other subsidiaries of SAWAD will continue to operate the same businesses 

 
Based on the information from the management of SAWAD, the types of secured loans that SAWAD will 
assign Srisawad 2014 and BFIT to operate in the future without redundancy will depend on the final 
shareholding of SAWAD in BFIT upon the completion of the tender offer as follows;  

 
Secured Loans that Srisawad 2014 and BFIT will Operate in the Future 

 Srisawad 2014 BFIT 
Scenario 1 SAWAD holds 
36.35% of BFIT shares (in case 
SAWAD does not obtain 
additional BFIT shares from the 

Secured loans with collaterals 
including motorcycles, trucks, 
and vehicles for agricultural 
purposes  

Secured loans with collaterals 
including land titles, homes, 
condominiums, and four-wheel 
vehicles 
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 Srisawad 2014 BFIT 
tender offer) to less than 60% 
of BFIT shares  

 

Scenario 2 SAWAD holds equal 
to or more than 60.00% of BFIT 
shares 

Secured loans with collaterals 
including motorcycles 

Secured loans with collaterals 
including land titles, homes, 
condominiums, four-wheel 
vehicles, trucks, and vehicles 
for agricultural purposes 

Remark  In case after the transaction, SAWAD holds less than 36.35% of BFIT shares, the type of secured loans 
that SAWAD will assign Srisawad 2014 and BFIT to operate in the future, may differ from the Table 
above. 

 
According to the management of SAWAD, after moving certain types of loans to be under BFIT as well as 
considering additional types of financial services that can be offered per the Finance business license of 
BFIT, SAWAD Group can thus offer a more complete range of financial products and services to clients. 
As a result, revenue and customer base could be further expanded, strengthening the future growth 
potential of its lending business, comparing to the scenario where SAWAD continues to provide only its 
existing loan products. The shareholding proportion in BFIT post transaction, which will be used to 
determine the structure of secured loan business in the Table above, is based on the financial projection 
prepared by SAWAD, by comparing the scenario where SAWAD holds BFIT shares and move certain types 
of loans under BFIT and the scenario where SAWAD continues to offer secured loans by itself. The 
shareholding percentage in BFIT at 60.00% is the break-even point that will not dilute the earnings per 
share (EPS) of SAWAD’s shareholders subsequent to moving all types of secured loans (except 
motorcycle loans) to be under BFIT.  
 

Lending Procedures of BFIT through Branches of Srisawad 2014 Post Business Restructuring 

 
Remark * SAWAD plans for BFIT to set up loan facilitate offices in different regions to approve the loans (except 

for the case where land deed or home are used as collateral in which loan facilitate offices will transfer 
the related documents to BFIT’s headquarter for approval). However, to set up the loan facilitate 
office, the approval by the Bank of Thailand must be obtained.  The Finance business license of BFIT 
does not regulate branch expansion. However, in expanding the lending business of BFIT post 
transaction, BFIT will use the Banking Agent service of Srisawad 2014 as a contact point with 
customers without launching its own branch. BFIT is required to obtain an official approval for such 
business plan from the Bank of Thailand accordingly. However, SAWAD had already stated such 
business plan in the request letter to hold more than 10.00% of BFIT shares to the Bank of Thailand 
dated October 19, 2016. SAWAD obtained approval from the Bank of Thailand to hold BFIT shares up 
to 100% with a condition requiring the establishment of financial business group immediately if BFIT 
acquires more than 50.00% of BFIT shares or gains control over BFIT. 

 
In this regard, Srisawad 2014 will collect Banking Agent service fees from BFIT or other companies who 
use such services at a certain percentage of loan values approved through the branches of Srisawad 

Banking Agent of Srisawad 2014 

Srisawad 2014  BFIT  

Customers contact for loan services 

Verify information/ 
Completeness of document 

Fast Money 

Receive instalment payment/ Debt collection 

Loan Facilitate Office of BFIT* Headquarter of BFIT 

Store 
documents/ 
collaterals 

Store 
documents 

Issue loan rejection 
letter 

Transfer money to 
customer’s account 

Pay check in the 
name of customer 

Certain types of 
collateralized 
loans 

Nano 
Finance 
 

Certain types of 
collateralized loans, 
personal loans 

Transfer 
information Consider/  

Approve loans 
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2014. And also, Srisawad 2014 will collect other related service fees such as invoice issuance and 
processing fees, debt collection fees, etc. at a certain percentage of outstanding principle of each 
customer from BFIT or other companies who use such services. The related party transaction within 
SAWAD Group, which may occur in the future, will be executed at market price and condition as if they 
were executed with third party. In the event that market price is not available for comparison, the 
Audit Committee will consider and provide opinion regarding the appropriateness and reasonableness 
of such related party transaction under the relevant regulations for the best benefit of the Company 
and the shareholders.  
 
The Partial Business Transfer to Srisawad 2014 in clause (2.1) above is expected to begin and complete 
within the accounting year of 2017. The restructuring of business within the group in clause (2.2) 
above is expected to take approximately 2 – 3 years to complete, until the portfolio that Srisawad 
2014 received from the Company gradually expires, which is estimated to be within 2 – 3 years from 
the date of the Partial Business Transfer. Additionally, according to the interview with SAWAD’s 
management, SAWAD may consider to increase the registered capital of BFIT in 2017 to support its 
business expansion in the future. The capital increase will be in compliance with the related 
regulations. Moreover, after SAWAD became the major shareholder of BFIT post transaction, BFIT 
does not have a policy to provide loans to companies under SAWAD Group for their uses as working 
capital or as a source of funds for lending. The cash within each company will only be used for offering 
loans to each company’s target customer. 
 

(3) Approved the amendment of the Articles of Association of the Company, Srisawad 2014, and/or other 
subsidiaries in order for the Company to oversee and govern its subsidiaries according to the rules and 
regulations concerning the management compliance with the management control policy of the core 
company by the SEC and to change the Company’s name from Srisawad Power 1979 Public Company 
Limited to Srisawad Corporation Public Company Limited. 

 
The Company Group’s structure after the acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and from the 
tender offer for all securities of BFIT as well as the Company Group’s structure after the business 
restructuring in accordance with the plan to establish financial business group are presented in the Executive 
Summary. As for the corporate governance and management structure of the Company Group after the 
business restructuring in clause (2) above, will remain the same with the same sub-committees. The 
Company will oversee the businesses of its subsidiaries through the appointment of the Board of Directors, 
the managements, the subsidiaries’ Managing Director, as the Company is the majority shareholder of the 
subsidiaries. The qualifications of the subsidiaries’ Board of Directors and managements will be in accordance 
with the rules and regulations of the SEC and the SET. The companies will continue to be managed 
transparently, in accordance with good corporate governance and rules and regulations of related agencies. 
The Company may consider changing the governance and management structures in the future as necessary 
for the businesses, or when establishing a new business, or change the Company’s business plan. 
The timeline for the acquisition of additional BFIT shares from the Seller Group and the tender offer as well 
as the business restructuring according to the plan to establish financial business group of SAWAD is 
presented below in details. The management of SAWAD informs that if the shareholders approve the 
transaction, SAWAD will proceed according to the scheduled timeline. The business restructuring is expected 
to take approximately 2 – 3 years for the numbers of existing loans transferred from the Company to 
Srisawad 2014 to decline due to their maturity. It is expected that the existing loans will mature in 2 – 3 years 
from the date of the Partial Business Transfer. Meanwhile, BFIT will begin to provide new types of secured 
loans that are not redundant with Srisawad 2014’s to new customers. Thus, it might take approximately 2 – 3 
years for the business redundancy to disappear.    
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The timeline for the acquisition of additional BFIT shares and the business restructuring according to  
the plan to establish financial business group of SAWAD 

 

 
 
The acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and from the tender offer as well as the business 
restructuring of SAWAD Group, the change of company’s name and seal, and the amendment to the Article 
of Association of SAWAD, are all interrelated related agendas. Thus, the consideration of the shareholders to 
approve such matters are interrelated as well. In case one of the agendas is not approved, other agendas 
which have been approved, will be cancelled. And subsequent agendas will no longer be considered. In such 
a case, all related agendas will be considered not approved by the shareholders. However, based on the 
interview with SAWAD’s management, in case the Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders No.1/2017 
of the Company, which will be held of March 8, 2017, does not approve the Company to acquire BFIT shares 
from the Seller Group and from the tender offer for all securities of BFIT, the Company might be demanded 
by the Share Collector to acquire 9.81% of BFIT shares (which were collected by the Share Collector from the 
2 former shareholders on September 13, 2016 and October 11, 2016 for the Company) according to the 
condition under the Memorandum of Understanding between SAWAD and the Share Collector dated June 
10, 2016.   

 
1.1.1 Type and size of the transaction  

 
The acquisition of BFIT shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement, combining with the additional BFIT 
shares to be obtained via the tender offer (in the event that all BFIT shareholders accept the tender offer 
from the Company), the Company will thus acquire a total of 180,320,000 shares, representing 90.16% of 
BFIT’s total paid-up shares in this transaction. The Company will pay the share consideration, relevant 
transaction fees, and consideration for the Share Collector, altogether of approximately THB 1,980.25 million. 
The details are presented below. 

27 Jun 2016 : SAWAD 
purchased 9.84% of 
BFIT’s share 

15 Oct 2016 :  
SAWAD  filed a 
request for 
permission  from  
the BOT to hold 
more than 10% 
shares in BFIT 

27 Dec 2016 : SAWAD 
received an official 
approval from the BOT 
for SAWAD to hold up 
to 100% shares in BFIT, 
with a condition 
requiring SAWAD  to 
immediately establish 
a financial business 
group after acquiring 
more than 50% shares 
or having controlling 
interest over BFIT 

28 Dec 2016 : The Board of Directors’ 
meeting of SAWAD approved to propose 
that the shareholders’ meeting approve 
o Acquire shares in BFIT from the Seller 

Group and the tender offer for the 
remaining shares in BFIT 

o The business restructuring in 
accordance with the plan to establish 
the financial business group  

o The amendment of the Articles of 
Association of SAWAD and/or other 
subsidiaries and change the 
Company’s name to align with the 
Company’s business operation as a 
Holding Company  

8 Mar 2017 :  
The Extraordinary General 
Shareholders’ Meeting  
 

Within March 2017 :  
o purchase 26.51% of BFIT’s 

share from the Seller 
Group 

o SAWAD file Form 247-3 
and 247- 4  for tender 
offer for the remaining 
shares in BFIT 

o SAWAD start to made the 
tender offer (tender offer 
period : 25 business days) 

April – May 2017 : SAWAD complete the 
tender offer   

 

Within 2 – 3 years* from the date of 
the Partial Business Transfer: 
Restructuring of business within the 
SAWAD Group in accordance with the 
plan to establish the financial 
business group 
Remark * approximate time for the 
existing loans to mature after the 
Partial Business Transfer date 
 

After SAWAD purchase BFIT’s share from 
the Seller Group : 
o Srisawad 2014  increase its registered 

capital at least equal to the net value of 
the transferring asset and liabilities 
which transfer from SAWAD 

o SAWAD partial business transfer to 
Srisawad 2014 (collateralized loans 
business) 

o SAWAD  filed a request for permission  
from the BOT to establish a financial 
business group 

10 Jun 2016 : SAWAD 
entered into the MOU 
with Miss Narissara 
Kitpipit to appoint her as 
the Share Collector of BFIT 
shares for an amount of 
not less than 25%  
 

13 Sep / 11 Oct  2016 :  
 The Share Collector 
purchased 9.81% of 
BFIT’s share at THB 
8.20  per share from  
2 BFIT’ shareholders 

Within 2017 : BFIT 
increase its capital to 
suport the expanding 
business plan in the 
future 
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Counterparty 
Share 

consideration 
(THB million) 

Relevant transaction 
fees  

(THB million) 

Total 
(THB million) 

The 4 existing shareholders for 33,391,000 shares of 
BFIT at THB 10.50 per share  

 350.61 0.94** 351.55 

The Share Collector who collected shares from 2 
former shareholders for 19,620,000 shares of BFIT at 
THB 8.20 per share 

 160.88 10.06*** 170.94 

The shareholders of BFIT who accept the tender offer 
for 127,309,000 shares of BFIT at not exceeding THB 
11.42 per share* 

 1,453.87 3.89** 1,457.76 

Total  1,965.36 14.89 1,980.25 
Remark    *  under the assumption that all of the remaining shareholders accept the tender offer of the Company 

   **  estimated relevant transaction fees based on the execution of share transfer on the Big Lot Board at 
0.25% of the transaction value  

          ***  comprising the consideration for the Share Collector at THB 8.00 million for collecting shares of BFIT in 
the amount not less than 25.00% of total paid-up shares, holding cost of THB 1.00 million (calculated 
from 6 month fixed deposit rate at 1.25% per annum for the period of 6 months), and estimated 
relevant transaction fees based on the execution of share transfer on the Big Lot Board at 0.25% of the 
transaction value.  

 
The acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and the tender offer for all securities of BFIT totaling of 
THB 1,980.25 million with the details shown in the Table above is considered as the acquisition transaction 
under the Acquisition and Disposition Notification with the maximum transaction value, under the 
assumption that all BFIT shareholders accept the tender offer, equivalent to 30.71% calculated based on net 
tangible asset basis according to the reviewed consolidated financial statements of the Company for 9 month 
period ended September 30, 2016. When combining with 19,680,000 BFIT shares acquired during the 
previous 6 months with the consideration value of THB 157,718,136 (as disclosed to the investors and the 
SET on June 27, 2016), the total transaction size is equal to 34.72% of the Company’s net tangible assets, 
which is higher than 15% but not exceeds 50%, thus, considered to be class 2 acquisition transaction. The 
Company is required to disclose information memorandum regarding the transaction to the SET and to 
circulate such information to the shareholders within 21 days from the disclosure date. Such transaction, 
however, does not require approval from the shareholders’ meeting according to the Acquisition and 
Disposition Notification. 
 
Details of the transaction size calculation:  

Basis Calculation 

Transaction size 
Acquisition of 

BFIT shares from 
the Share 

Collector and the 
tender offer 

Acquisition 
transaction 

in the 
previous  

6 months* 
Net tangible 
assets (NTA) 

(% acquired x the target’s net tangible assets) x100  
The Company’s net tangible assets 

30.71% 4.01% 

 Total transaction size =  34.72%  
Net profit (% acquired x the target’s net profit from operation) x100  

The Company’s net profit from operation 
5.91% 0.60% 

 Total transaction size =  6.51%  
Total 
consideration 
value 

Total consideration value x100 
The Company’s total assets 

10.50%** 1.05% 

 Total transaction size =  11.55%  
Value of 
issued 
securities 

Issuing securities as consideration x100 
The Company’s total paid-up shares 

Not applicable  
as there is no issuing securities 

Remark    * 19,680,000 shares of BFIT acquired at the total value of THB 157,718,136 
               ** calculated from total transaction value of THB 1,980.25 million 
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Financial information for the purpose of transaction size calculation:  
 (Unit: THB million) SAWAD BFIT 
Total assets  19,140.90  5,466.68 
Intangible assets  8.11  0.55 
Deferred tax assets  83.03  1.65 
Total liabilities  12,934.65  3,386.20 
Non-controlling interests  12.90  - 
Net tangible assets (NTA)*  6,102.22  2,078.27 
Net profit (loss)** 1,794.24  117.60 

Remark   * NTA  =  total assets – intangible assets – total liabilities – non-controlling interests 
** Net profit (loss) during the last 12 months  

 
Nonetheless, the acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and the tender offer for the remaining 
shares of BFIT, is considered to be a purchase or accepting transfer of a business of other companies 
pursuant to the Section 107(2)(b) of the Public Limited Company Act B.E.2535 (as amended), which requires 
the Company to seek approval from the shareholders’ meeting with affirmative votes of not less than three-
fourths of the total number of votes of the shareholders who attend the meeting and are entitled to vote. 
 
Additionally, the Partial Business Transfer to Srisawad 2014 is considered to be a purchase of business of 
other companies, pursuant to the Section 107(2)(a) of the Public Limited Company Act B.E.2535 (as 
amended), the Company is required to seek prior approval from the shareholders’ meeting with affirmative 
votes of not less than three-fourths of the total number of votes of the shareholders who attend the meeting 
and are entitled to vote. 
 
In this regards, the Board of Directors’ Meeting No.14/2016 held on December 28, 2016 determined the date 
of the Extraordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting on March 8, 2017 to consider and approve the 
transaction and passed a resolution to appoint the Independent Financial Advisor to provide opinion 
regarding the acquisition transaction of BFIT shares from the Share Collector and the tender offer pursuant to 
the Acquisition and Disposition Notification to provide shareholders with sufficient information to consider 
and approve the transaction although it is not required by the regulation. 
 
1.1.2 Relevant parties and key condition of agreement  

 
(a) Summary key terms and conditions of Memorandum of Understanding dated on June 10, 2016 

between the Company and the Share Collector, who is not a connected person, to appoint Miss 
Narisara Kitpipith as a Share Collector to coordinate between the Company and the shareholders 
who wish to sell their shares, and perform any necessary acts on behalf of the Company for the 
purpose of share collection.  
 

Contract parties :  Srisawad Power 1979 Public Company Limited (“ Hirer” or “SAWAD”)  
 Miss Narisara Kitpipith (“Share Collector”) 

Relationship with 
SAWAD  

: The Share Collector has no relationship with SAWAD  

Key terms and conditions 
Contract sign date   : June 10, 2016 
Purpose : o To appoint the Share Collector to collect BFIT shares from the other 

sellers for an amount of not less than 25% of BFIT total paid-up shares.   
o The Share Collector shall deliver or arrange for the sellers to directly 

deliver their shares to SAWAD.  
o SAWAD may enter into another agreement to purchase shares with the 

Share Collector or each of the Sellers. 
Delivery method : The purchase of the subject shares will be executed on the Big Lot Board or 

other method to be determined by SAWAD. 
Price and 
Settlement 

: o SAWAD agrees to pay for the subject shares at the price that the Share 
Collector agrees with the Sellers, but not exceeding THB 10.50 per share. 
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o In the event that the subject shares are delivered directly to SAWAD by 
the Share Collector, SAWAD shall pay to the Share Collector the 
purchase price which shall be equal to the price paid by the Share 
Collector to obtain such shares (which shall not exceed THB 10.50 per 
share)  

o In the event that the subject shares are delivered directly to SAWAD by 
each of the Sellers, the Company shall pay the purchase price directly 
to such Seller  at the time of the transfer. 

Commission : o THB 8.00 million - to be paid on the business day following the date on 
which the share transfer is completed (excluding any related expenses 
made by the Share Collector on behalf of SAWAD such as the brokerage 
fee, etc.)  

o In the event that the amount of shares transferred to SAWAD is less 
than the amount agreed, such commission shall be decreased 
proportionately to the actual amount of shares transferred.* 

Other key 
conditions 

: If the Share Collector suffers from any damages arising in connection with 
it’s performance of its duty as per the Purpose described above, SAWAD 
agrees to indemnify the Share Collector against all damages arising in 
connection therewith, which includes the purchase of any shares already 
acquired by the Share Collector in relation to the duties. 

Remark  *   In the event that SAWAD acquires from the Share Collector more than or equal to 50.00 million  
shares of BFIT (25.00% of total paid-up shares of BFIT) pursuant to the Memorandum of 
Understanding, SAWAD will pay to the Share Collector the consideration of THB 8.00 million. In the 
event that SAWAD acquires less than 50.00 million shares, SAWAD will pay less amount of 
consideration pro rata to the proportion of shares acquired using the 50.00 million shares as a base.  

 
(b) Summary key terms and conditions of Share Purchase Agreement between the Company and the 

Share Collectors dated on  December 28, 2016 which the Company entered into Share Purchase 
Agreement with the Share Collector to acquire 19,620,000 shares, or 9.81% of BFIT total paid-up 
shares that the Share Collector purchased from 2 original shareholders during the duty as a Share 
Collector. 

Contract parties :  Srisawad Power 1979 Public Company Limited (“SAWAD”)  
 Miss Narisara Kitpipith (“the Share Collector”)  

Relationship with 
SAWAD  

: The Share Collector has no relationship with SAWAD  

Key terms and conditions 
Contract sign date   : December 28, 2016  
No. of shares / 
Price 

: 19,620,000 shares at THB 8.20 per share  (equal to the price that the Share 
Collector had acquired from the 2 original shareholders on September 13, 
2016 and October 11, 2016) 

Delivery method : The purchase of the subject shares will be executed on the Big Lot Board or 
other method to be determined by SAWAD 

Condition 
precedent 

: o receives approval from the Shareholders Meeting for the acquisition of 
shares and the Tender Offer for all securities of BFIT, with affirmative 
votes of not less than three-fourths of the total number of votes of the 
shareholders who attend the meeting and are entitled to vote. 

o From the date on which the agreement is made until the date on which 
the share purchase is completed, there shall be no event of change 
which may constitute material adverse effect to the business 
operation, financial position or assets of BFIT. 

Other key 
conditions 

: SAWAD and the Share Collector agree and acknowledge that, upon 
completion of share acquisition, the Company shall proceed with the 
Tender Offer for all securities of BFIT pursuant to the relevant regulations. 

       
Although the Company entered into the Share Purchase Agreement for BFIT shares with the Share 
Collector for 19,620,000 shares, representing 9.81%, on 9 November 2016, the Company, by the 
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Share Collector, entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with 2 shareholders who 
intended to sell BFIT’ shares to the Share Collector, consisting of  Miss Kanoknuch Chonvanich 
and Mrs. Phirada Indamara intended to sell 9,970,000 shares, representing 4.99% of BFIT shares 
and 9,734,000 shares, representing 4.87% of of BFIT’ shares at price THB 10.50 per share, per the 
share delivery method and execution period mutually agreed by both parties. During the period 
on which the MOU becomes effective, the Seller agrees to grant the Share Collector the first right 
to purchase the subject shares, and shall not contact any other persons or conduct any actions 
that may affect the right of the Share Collector. Additionally, the Share Collector made verbal 
agreement with Mr. Somyos Vinitchaikul and Mr. Thanit Sethikul who intended to sell 9,901,000 
shares, representing 4.95% of BFIT shares and 3,786,000 shares, representing 1.89% of BFIT 
shares at price THB 10.50 per share. The total combined shares pursuant to the Share Purchase 
Agreement between the Company and Miss Narissara Kitpipit, the Memorandum of 
Understanding between Miss Narissara Kitpipit and the other 2 shareholders and the verbal 
agreement with the other 2 shareholders, are in total of 53,011,000 shares, representing 26.51%. 

 
 (c) Summary of the key conditions pursuant to the letter from the Bank of Thailand permitting 

SAWAD to hold more than 10% of BFIT paid-up shares dated December 26, 2016  
o Summary of the key conditions pursuant to the Letter No. BOT.FID (22) 1682/2559 Re: The 

Request for Approval to Acquire or Hold Shares in Bangkok First Investment & Trust Public 
Company Limited above the Permitted Amount by Law dated December 26, 2016 
 The Bank of Thailand has considered by the virtue of Section 18 of the Financial Institution  
Act B.E. 2551 and permitted SAWAD to acquire or hold shares of BFIT more than 10.00% of 
the total paid-up shares as per the request with the conditions in which SAWAD must 
proceed immediately upon acquiring more than 50% of BFIT shares or having control 
interest over BFIT to be incompliance with the consolidated supervision criteria as shown 
below. 
(1) The request for approval to establish a financial business group; during the 

consideration period when SAWAD has not received approval from the Bank of 
Thailand, SAWAD and the companies within SAWAD Group must comply with the 
Notification of the Bank of Thailand No. SorNorSor. 6/2553 as if they are the financial 
business group of BFIT.   

(2) The request for approval to appoint directors, managers, persons with management 
authority or advisors of SAWAD, the parent company of the financial business group, 
according to Section 55, Clause 2 of the Financial Institution Business Act No. 
SorNorSor. 13/2554 Re: Approval Criteria for Appointment of Directors, Managers, 
Persons with Management Authority or Advisors of Financial Institutions dated 
December 15, 2011. 

(3) If BFIT is to expand its businesses to include new lending services in addition to its 
existing services of personal loans (employee benefit lending services), BFIT shall notify 
to the Bank of Thailand 30 days in advance together with the details of relating business 
plan for the Bank of Thailand to assess its readiness to provide the service.   

(4) The Bank of Thailand reserves the right to amend the approving conditions if it deems 
necessary 
 

1.1.3  Valued of the acquired assets, basis used to determine the value of consideration, and sources of 
funds to finance the transaction 

 
The acquired assets comprise the ordinary shares of BFIT namely the shares to be acquired from the Seller 
Group of 53,011,000 shares and the remaining 127,309,000 shares of BFIT through the tender offer for all 
securities of BFIT (in the event that all BFIT shareholders accept the tender offer). Details of the value of the 
acquired assets, basis used to determine the value of consideration, and settlement conditions are presented 
below. 
(1) The acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group 

o BFIT shares of 33,391,000 shares at par value of THB 5.00 per share, or 16.70 % of BFIT total paid-
up capital at the price of THB 10.50 per share, totaling THB 350.61 million from 4 sellers who are 
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BFIT’ s existing shareholders. The acquisition of BFIT shares from the 4 sellers will be executed on 
the Big Lot Board or other method to be determined by SAWAD and the settlement will be in cash.  

o BFIT shares of 19,620,000 shares at par value of THB 5.00 per share, or 9.81 % of BFIT total paid-up 
capital at the price of THB 8.20 per share, totaling THB 160.88 million according to the Share 
Purchase Agreement with the Share Collector (the Share Collector has already collected BFIT shares 
from the 2 former shareholders for the Company at THB 8.20 per share on September 13, 2016 and 
October 11, 2016).  The acquisition of BFIT shares from the Share Collector will be executed on the 
Big Lot Board or other method to be determined by SAWAD and the settlement will be in cash. 

The basis used in determining the consideration value is in line with the agreed upon price between 
the Company or the Share Collector and each seller in which is not higher than the fair value of BFIT 
shares as determined by the Company’s Financial Advisor under the Discounted Cash Flow Approach. 
The Board of Directors of SAWAD considers the price to be appropriate and expects the investment in 
BFIT to yield the internal rate of return for equity holders (Equity IRR) higher than the Company’s cost 
of equity.  

(2) The tender offer for the remaining securities in BFIT of 127,309,000 shares, at the price not exceeding 
THB 11.42 per share, totaling not exceeding THB 1,453.87 million. In this regards, the basis used in 
determining the consideration value of BFIT shares to be acquired under the tender offer shall be in 
compliance with the guidelines and conditions of the Takeover Notification. Also, the settlement will 
be in cash paid to the BFIT shareholders who accept the tender offer on the date and time to be 
specified in the tender offer document, which will be circulated to all BFIT shareholders later on. 
 

Therefore, the acquired assets have the total consideration value of no more than THB 1,965.36 million, and 
when combining with the consideration for the Share Collector at THB 8.00 million for performing the duty of 
collecting BFIT shares in the amount of not less than 25.00% and relating transaction fees at THB 6.89 million, 
total consideration value will be THB 1,980.25 million (details of the transaction value appear in Section 1 
Item 1.1.1 of this report). According to the interview with the management of SAWAD, the source of fund for 
the acquisition of BFIT shares from the Share Collector and the tender offer for all securities of BFIT will be 
entirely from the loan from financial institutions. At present, SAWAD has a loan facility that has not been 
drawn (the objective of the loan does not conflict with the transaction) and is adequate to pay for the whole 
amount of consideration under this transaction. Such loan facility bears an interest rate of approximately 
4.00% per year. In the event that the Company settles the entire amount with institutional borrowings, the 
Company’s debt to equity ratio will increase from 2.08 times per the consolidated financial statements as of 
September 30, 2016 to 2.40 times. 
 
1.1.4   Information of the assets 
 
General information of BFIT in which the Company will acquire shares are presented in Enclosure 2 of this 
report. 
 
1.2 Reasonableness of the transaction 
 
1.2.1   Objective and benefit of the transaction 
 
The acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and the tender offer for the remaining securities of BFIT, 
is in line with the Company’s strategy to invest in the business that will benefit or support the Company’s 
core business. The investment in BFIT shares is thus one of the key strategies to expand the Company’s 
lending business by introducing additional products and services. Additionally, the Company foresees the 
opportunity to obtain funding at a lower cost from BFIT depository operation, which will supplement the 
Company’s operating performance, strengthen financial position, and create potential growth in revenues, 
profits, as well as raise the Company Group’s competitiveness especially if the government issues stricter 
policies to control non-financial institution or non-bank businesses who are the primary capital provider for 
small business and individuals. 
 
The business restructuring plan by establishing a financial business group in accordance with the 
consolidated supervision pursuant to the Financial Institution Act and the Notification of the Bank of Thailand 
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comprise preliminarily the Partial Business Transfer from the Company to the subsidiary (Srisawad 2014) and 
the business restructuring within the Company Group (details of the procedures are presented in Section 1 
Item 1.1 of this report). The restructuring will be according to the condition imposed by the Bank of Thailand 
which permits the Company to hold BFIT shares more than 10% and requires the Company to immediately 
establish a financial business group after acquiring more than 50% shares or having controlling interest over 
BFIT. Additionally, the internal business restructuring of subsidiaries will help clarifying the Company Group’s 
business structure and preventing any conflict of interest that may arise from operating competing business 
in the future. 
 
1.2.2   Advantages and disadvantages of entering into the Transaction 
 
Advantages of entering into the transaction 
 
1) Investment will be made in a good potential business that could support the core business of the 

Company 
The additional investment in BFIT ordinary shares, in the proportion that will allow the Company to 
exercise control over BFIT (after the transaction, the Company will hold 36.35% – 100.00% of BFIT 
shares; the final shareholding percentage depends on the tender offer result), is in line with the 
Company’s investment strategy that focuses on investing in the business that will benefit or support the 
core business of the Company, aiming to generate revenue and potential growth to the Company 
Group. Also, investment stake must be sufficient for the Company to effectively manage and exercise 
control over subsidiary or determine business direction of associated company. Subsequent to the 
transaction, SAWAD Group and BFIT together could bring in positive synergies through the business 
potential of each party and/or the competitive advantage of each party’s lending business and/or other 
financial services under the new financial business group structure (details of the restructuring by 
establishing a financial business group of SAWAD is presented in Section 1 Item 1.1 (2) of this report). As 
a result of having subsidiaries and/or associated company (including BFIT) with sustainable growth, 
SAWAD, as a parent company of the financial business group, will have an opportunity to earn a good 
return on investment from these subsidiaries and/or associated companies according to its objective 
underlying this transaction.  The management of the Company views that the benefits to be received 
from the acquisition of BFIT shares and allowing BFIT to offer certain types of loans instead of SAWAD 
are worthwhile. Since the Company will be able to better expand its loan services as well as access lower 
costs of funds even though SAWAD will lose the opportunity to operate certain types of secured loans 
by itself to BFIT in the future after the transaction. 
 
The benefits to SAWAD Group (including BFIT) from the potential synergies among the businesses of the 
subsidiaries and/or associated companies under SAWAD’s financial business group (SAWAD is required to 
establish a financial business group and proceed with the business restructuring aiming to clarify the 
business structure, appropriately diversify business risk, and prevent business structure that may lead to a 
conflict of interest, in accordance with the condition of the Bank of Thailand permitting the Company to 
hold more than 10% shares in BFIT) include but not limited to the followings: 
o Adding variety to lending products and/or financial services of SAWAD Group to better satisfy the 

demand of target customers. SAWAD’s core business is offering secured loans. While other 
businesses operated under SAWAD’s subsidiaries include personal loan business, Nano finance 
business, debt collection business, distressed asset management business, and hire purchase loans 
for new motorcycles, of which still in the preliminary phase of the business with relatively fewer 
loan contracts and loan values or revenue growth, which is partly due to the policy to slow down 
certain types of loans. After the acquisition of BFIT shares, SAWAD Group will be able to expand its 
lending business by introducing additional products that BFIT is currently licensed to operate such 
as commercial lending (short-term loans for working capital) and project finance (credit facility for 
investments or constructions including those of SME). The business expansion of SAWAD Group to 
cover the scope of services that BFIT is currently licensed to operate is one of the key growth 
strategies via customer base expansion and business risk diversification. (At present, BFIT was 
granted the license No.8/2516 by the Ministry of Finance to engage in 4 types of finance businesses 
including business of finance for commerce, business of finance for development, business of 
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finance for disposition and consumption, and business of finance for housing. Moreover, BFIT is 
approved to act as debenture holder representative and/or trustee) 
 

o Providing additional sources of fund for the lending business of SAWAD Group at present, 
approximately 66.74% of SAWAD Group’s funding for its lending business (information as of 
September 30, 2016) comes from debentures and financial institution loans, both short and long 
term, in the form of bank overdraft (OD), borrowing, promissory note (PN), and bill of exchange (BE). 
Some of these loans bear floating interest rate (as of September 30, 2016, the Company Group had 
financial institution loans of THB 6,345.92 million and an unused loan facility of THB 8,759 million). 
Thus, the fluctuation of interest rate and/or the decision to approve or disapprove the loan by 
financial institutions are the key factors directly influencing the operating performance, the profit 
generating capability, and the success of business expansion plan at different point in time. However, 
BFIT is a Finance company licensed by the Ministry of Finance to operate in the business of accepting 
deposits from the public (BFIT currently engages in several types of depository services consisted of 
deposit receipt and promissory for general public, corporate entities, foundations, and associations. 
As of September 30, 2016, BFIT had deposit of THB 3,246.57 million). As a result, subsequent to the 
additional investment in BFIT, SAWAD will have an alternative funding source from the depository 
business of BFIT apart from its current sources to be used in certain types of collateralized lending 
and personal loan businesses of SAWAD which will be operated by BFIT in the future (instead of 
SAWAD and Fast Money who are the current provider). Since the public deposit bears lower cost of 
fund comparting to other sources, it will strengthen BFIT, an entity who will operate certain types of 
collateralized loan and personal loan businesses of SAWAD Group in the future, in terms of its cost 
competitiveness, and thus SAWAD will be able to better compete with its competitors which are 
mostly financial institutions or companies under financial institution group that have lower cost of 
funds from public depository and their large capital base. 
 

Cost of Funding for the Company Group’s Business 

Type of Borrowings Year of Maturity Interest Rate  
Outstanding Balance of 
Loans as of Sep 30, 2016 

(THB million) 
Bank overdrafts - MOR 13.73 
Promissory Notes 2016 – 2019 MOR – 1.75% and 

 MOR – 2.25% 
26.16 

Promissory Note At call 2.00% – 3.00% 1,400.00 
Bill of Exchange 2016 – 2017 2.00% – 3.00% 2,920.00 
Borrowings 2018 – 2019  MOR – 2.05% 2,170.83 
Senior unsecured 
debentures 

2017 – 2019 2.80% – 4.50% 5,540.00 

Loans for investments in 
receivables 

2016 – 2017 1.00 215.19 

Total 12,285.91 
 

Remark    MOR (Minimum Overdraft Rate) is the minimum rate of interest charged on overdrafts. The MOR of 
each financial institution may vary from one another. The MOR of the 4 major banks as of December 
28, 2016, namely, Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited was 7.375%, Kasikornbank Public Company 
Limited, Krung Thai Bank Public Company Limited, and The Siam Commercial Bank Public Company 
Limited were at 7.12% (Source : www.bot.or.th). 

Source :   SAWAD and the notes to financial statements for the year ended 2015 and for the 9 month period 
ended September 30, 2016 

 
According to the interview with the management of SAWAD, SAWAD has a policy to roll over its maturing 
promissory notes and bills of exchange. SAWAD may also consider drawing the unused loan facility of THB 
8,759 million (as of September 30, 2016) or issue debentures in the amount not exceeding THB 15,000 
million according to the resolution of the shareholders’ meeting of SAWAD. SAWAD will consider the term, 
interest rate, and types of loans to suit the capital and money markets at the time. 
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Summary of BFIT Deposit Interest Rates (Effective on October 26, 2016) 

Type of deposit 
(Unit : % per annum) 

Type of Customers 

Personal Juristic 
Person 

Public Agency/  
Non-Profit  

Juristic Person 
Institution* 

Non-Resident 

Personal Juristic 
Person 

1. On call       
o On call – over THB 0.05 million  
o On call – over THB 0.50 million 
o On call – over THB 10.00 million 

0.75 
0.85 
1.00 

0.75 
0.85 
0.90 

0.75 
0.85 
0.90 

0.75 
0.85 
0.90 

0.25 
0.25 

- 

0.25 
0.25 

- 
1 Fixed maturity       
o 1 month – over THB 0.05 million 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.50 0.50 
o 3 months – over THB 0.05 million 
o 3 months – over THB 1.00 million 
o 3 months – over THB 10.00 million 

1.35 
1.35 
1.45 

1.25 
1.25 
1.35 

1.25 
1.25 
1.35 

1.25 
1.25 
1.35 

0.50 
0.50 
0.50 

0.50 
0.50 
0.50 

o 6 months – over THB 0.01 million 
o 6 months – over THB 1.00 million 
o 6 months – over THB 10.00 million 

1.45 
1.45 
1.55 

1.35 
1.35 
1.45 

1.35 
1.35 
1.45 

1.35 
1.35 
1.45 

0.50 
0.50 
0.50 

0.50 
0.50 
0.50 

o 9 months – over THB 0.01 million 
o 9 months – over THB 1.00 million 
o 9 months – over THB 10.00 million 

1.55 
1.55 
1.65 

1.45 
1.45 
1.45 

1.45 
1.45 
1.45 

1.45 
1.45 
1.45 

0.50 
0.50 
0.50 

0.50 
0.50 
0.50 

o 12 months – over THB 0.01 million 
o 12 months – over THB 1.00 million 
o 12 months – over THB 10.00 million 

1.65 
1.65 
1.65 

1.45 
1.45 
1.55 

1.45 
1.45 
1.55 

1.45 
1.45 
1.55 

0.50 
0.50 
0.50 

0.50 
0.50  
0.50 

o 18 months – over THB 0.01 million 
o 18 months – over THB 1.00 million 
o 18 months – over THB 10.00 million 

1.70 
1.70 
1.70 

1.50 
1.55 
1.55 

1.50 
1.55 
1.55 

1.50 
1.55 
1.55 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

o 24 months – over THB 0.01 million 
o 24 months – over THB 1.00 million 
o 24 months – over THB 10.00 million 

1.75 
1.75 
1.75 

1.55 
1.55 
1.65 

1.55 
1.55 
1.65 

1.55 
1.55 
1.65 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

o 36 months – over THB 0.01 million 
o 36 months – over THB 1.00 million 
o 36 months – over THB 10.00 million 

1.80 
1.80 
1.80 

1.65 
1.65 
1.75 

1.65 
1.65 
1.75 

1.65 
1.65 
1.75 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

Remark * Institution : mutual funds, provident funds, cooperatives, securities companies, insurance companies   
- According to the information in Form 56-1 of BFIT for the year 2015, interest cost of BFIT in 2015 was 

3.04% and the average deposit interest rates in 2015 was 2.52%.  
Source : www.bfit.co.th  
 

o Increasing service coverage and ability to penetrate the target customers of BFIT at present, BFIT 
uses its headquarter office, which is located at the Bangkok Insurance Building, 23rd floor, South 
Sathorn Road, Bangkok, as a sole service channel with its customers. However, under the proposed 
transactions, the Company will acquire BFIT shares from the Seller Group and make the tender 
offer for all remaining securities in BFIT, as well as complete the business restructuring according to 
the plan to establish a financial business group. According to the restructuring plan, BFIT will 
continue to operate its existing lending business which includes commercial lending and non-
collateralized employee benefit lending services. BFIT will also begin to expand its lending business 
to cover all collateralized loans that do not overlap with Srisawad 2014, SME loans, and 
uncollateralized personal loans through Banking Agent which is Srisawad 2014. At the same time, 
Srisawad 2014 will operate the transferred portfolio until all contracts are expired, and only 
provide new loan service for a certain type of collateral that do not overlap with BFIT. Srisawad 
2014 will also focus on managing its branches and provide Banking Agent services to BFIT by 
accepting and pre-approving loan applications, receiving payments, and etc. With the network 
coverage of 2,027 branches all over the country (information as of September 30, 2016) and the 
experienced personnel in lending business, which will be transferred to Srisawad 2014, these 
factors will support BFIT, through having more distribution channels, in reaching its targeted 
customers for different types of lending products and/or financial services more aggressively. This 
is an important growth strategy for both BFIT and the subsidiaries of SAWAD Group, who operate 
relating businesses that support one another. As a result, SAWAD, as the parent company of the 
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newly established financial business group, will have an opportunity to earn a good return on 
investment from its subsidiary companies. 
 

2) Investment will be made in a company that has a sound financial status and positive profits enabling 
the Group to earn a return on investment as targeted 
Considering the operating performance of BFIT in the past few years, BFIT was able to continuously 
maintain the level of its revenues and profits. In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, total 
interest income of BFIT were THB 334.50 million, THB 301.10 million, THB 261.16 million, and THB 
183.65 million, respectively. Profits for the same periods were THB 102.65 million, THB 96.16 million, 
THB 98.45 million, and THB 88.62 million, respectively. Additionally, BFIT paid dividend of THB 70.00 
million each year during the operating year 2013 – 2015. The financial status of BFIT at the end of 2015 
and the 9 month period of 2016 were sound and in compliance with the regulations of the Bank of 
Thailand such as; 
o At the end of 2015 and the 9 month period of 2016, BFIT had a capital-to-risk assets ratio of 44.93% 

and 44.83%, which are higher than the Bank of Thailand’s minimum requirement of 8.00%. 
Therefore, it is assured that BFIT has an adequate capital for new loans and further investments. 

o BFIT maintained liquid assets (under the definition of the Bank of Thailand)4 at the level higher than 
the Bank of Thailand’s requirement (the minimum of 6.00% of total deposits and borrowings or 
receipts from general public). As at the end of year 2015, BFIT had liquid assets of 50.71% of total 
deposits and borrowings. 

o At the end of 2015 and the 9 month period of 2016, BFIT had total provision for non-performing loan 
(NPL) of 2.61 times and 1.71 times of the Bank of Thailand’s minimum requirement. Therefore, it is 
expected that BFIT would have sufficient provision to absorb any losses that might occur in the 
future. BFIT has a policy to focus carefully on quality control of credit rather than quantity of credit (as 
at the end of 2015 and September 30, 2016, the amount of BFIT’s NPL were THB 337.38 million and 
THB 332.70 million, respectively, representing 10.91% and 10.68% of total loans and receivables of 
THB 3,091.51 million and THB 3,114.48, respectively).  

Therefore, the additional investment in BFIT is considered as the investment in a sound company with 
strong business potential (due to BFIT having more licenses to operate Finance business and other types 
of financial services than SAWAD Group at the moment as well as having the financial ratios above the 
requirement of the Bank of Thailand and also lower financing costs than SAWAD Group). Consequently, 
the Company will have the opportunity to earn a good return on investment in BFIT in the future, 
especially if the business collaboration within the financial business group of SAWAD according to the 
restructuring plan, subsequent to SAWAD holding more than 50% shares in BFIT or having control over 
BFIT, is successfully executed as planned. The business collaboration will include the expansion of BFIT’s 
lending business to cover all collateralized loans (that do not overlap with Srisawad 2014), SME loans, 
and uncollateralized personal loans through Banking Agent, the 2,027 branches of Srisawad 2014 all 
over the country. 

 
3) Facilitate SAWAD Group in building portfolio of new businesses    

Since BFIT has been operating Finance business and providing variety of financial services for a long 
period of time (BFIT was established in 1972), it has abundant experienced personnel, customer base, 
information technology system, as well as awareness among targeted customers. Therefore, the 
acquisition of additional BFIT shares will facilitate SAWAD Group in building portfolio of new businesses 
and/or other types of financial services currently operated by BFIT i.e. accepting deposits from public, 
commercial lending, loans for SME, in order to become a provider of a complete range of financial 
products/services. This will help quicken the  staring-up process comparing to SAWAD obtaining the 
licenses to operate the business from relating regulatory and launch the new products and/or services 
by itself. Consequently, SAWAD will have an opportunity to earn the return on investment faster. 
 
 

                                                             
4 Liquid assets comprise of current deposit at the Bank of Thailand not less than 0.5%, fixed deposit at the Bank of 

Thailand, securities or instruments as specified by the Bank of Thailand and without lien as well as deposit, 
callable loans, or certificates of deposit with the bank resided in Thailand and without lien not more than 1.0%.  
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4) Establishing image and credibility to SAWAD Group 
Given that BFIT is a Finance company licensed by the Ministry of Finance and under the supervision of 
the Bank of Thailand and also BFIT had a good financial status and operating performance in the past 
few years (summary of financial information is presented in Item 2 under the advantages of entering 
into the transaction above), the acquisition of BFIT shares in the proportion that will enable SAWAD to 
exercise control over BFIT, which will result in BFIT being a subsidiary or an associated company under 
SAWAD’s financial business group, can help strengthen the image and credibility of SAWAD Group’s 
lending business and/or other financial services which will be partly operated by BFIT in the future. This 
will also enhance SAWAD Group’s competitiveness to the level of its competitors i.e. other financial 
institutions. Also, it will help preparing SAWAD Group for the potential business expansion both 
domestically and internationally in the ASEAN region in the future. 
 

5) Preparing for possible changes in regulations governing the lending businesses in the future 
At present, secured loans (such as auto, home, land title and condominium) and hire purchase loans are 
not controlled by any state agencies, including the Bank of Thailand (except that the Office of Consumer 
Protection Board is overseeing the hire purchase contracts in order to ensure that consumers are treated 
with fairness). In the future, a state agency may be appointed to directly oversee and control the secured 
loan and hire purchase loan businesses aiming to raise standard and fairness to borrowers. The changing 
regulatory landscape maybe done through issuance of new laws or regulations governing the business 
and/or require business providers to meet certain qualifications. This may pose some limitations and/or 
have some negative impacts to the players in the industry. Therefore, the additional investment in BFIT 
and the internal business restructuring within SAWAD Group through having BFIT, a finance company 
licensed by the Ministry of Finance and under the supervision of the Bank of Thailand who currently 
operates in compliance with the relating laws and regulations of the government agencies, providing some 
collateralized loans and uncollateralized personal loans instead of SAWAD and Fast Money (which are non-
bank institutions) in the future, will help preparing the Company and mitigating potential business risks in 
the event that the government issues stricter policies to control non-financial institutions or non-bank 
businesses in the future. 

 
Disadvantages and risks associated with entering into the transaction  
 
1) Risk associated with SAWAD not realizing returns from increasing its investment stakes in BFIT as 

expected because it does not acquire adequate BFIT shares to exercise control over BFIT’s business 
direction on common issues or significant issues to be in line with the business plan of SAWAD or risk 
associated with earning lower return comparing to SAWAD continuously operates the business on its 
own because there might be uncertainty around the performance of BFIT in the future. 
In the event that none of BFIT shareholders accept the tender offer because they recognize the 
potential growth of BFIT after becoming the provider of collateralized loan and uncollateralized personal 
loan instead of SAWAD in the future, or in the event that the tender offer price, which will not exceed 
THB 11.42 per share, is lower than the market price of BFIT shares traded in the stock market at the 
time of the tender offer, SAWAD’s shareholding in BFIT upon the completion of share acquisition from 
both the Seller Group and the tender offer shall be 36.35% or maybe less than the required portion for 
SAWAD to control BFIT’s business direction and resolution of the shareholders’ meeting on common 
issues, which require majority votes of the shareholders, who attend the meeting and are eligible to 
vote, or on significant issues such as transfer of major or all assets, capital decrease, capital increase, 
and business merger, etc., which require not less than three fourths of the total votes of shareholders, 
who attend the meeting and are eligible to vote. As a result, SAWAD may be unable to effectively 
integrate the policy, the business plan, and other aspects of managing BFIT into its plan to establish a 
financial business group. Consequently, SAWAD may be at risk not earning the expected level of return 
from the business collaboration or from having additional stake in BFIT as expected. 
 
Moreover, in establishing the financial business group, SAWAD will execute the Partial Business Transfer 
to Srisawad 2014, who will continue to operate the transferred portfolio until all contracts are expired, 
and will appoint BFIT to provide collateralized loans that do not overlap with Srisawad 2014 and 
uncollateralized personal loan (instead of SAWAD and Fast Money, who are the current providers). 
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Meanwhile, SAWAD will change its status to a non-operating holding company and Srisawad 2014 will 
provide some collateralized loans and focus on managing its branches as well as provide Banking Agent 
service for BFIT and other companies. Therefore, SAWAD will generate revenues from the operating 
performances of other subsidiaries such as interest income from new loan service for some type of 
collateral, Banking Agent service fees for BFIT and other companies* under Srisawad 2014, and interest 
income from Nano finance loans under Fast Money. Meanwhile, interest income from collateralized 
loans (that are not redundant with Srisawad 2014) and uncollateralized personal loan, which SAWAD 
will assign BFIT to operate in the future, will be earned through SAWAD’s shareholding in BFIT according 
to the final shareholding percentage obtained from the tender offer. In the event that none of BFIT 
shareholders accept the tender offer or only a few shareholders accept the tender offer, although 
SAWAD will earn Banking Agent service fees and other service fees from the additional services to be 
provided. However, due to the uncertainty of revenues from certain types of collateralized loans that 
BFIT will begin to provide post transaction, which largely depends on the management efficiency of BFIT 
and SAWAD as well as the business environment in the future, thus, SAWAD may be at risk of earning 
lower return comparing to the return from pursuing its own organic growth investment opportunity. 
Remark *according to the interview with the management of SAWAD, Srisawad 2014 will collect Banking 

Agent service fees from BFIT or other companies who use such services at a certain percentage of 
loan values approved through the branches of Srisawad 2014. And also, Srisawad 2014 will collect 
other related service fees such as invoice issuance and processing fees, debt collection fees, etc. at 
a certain percentage of outstanding principle of each customer from BFIT or other companies who 
use such services. The related party transaction within SAWAD Group, that may take place in the 
future, will be executed at market price and condition as if they were executed with third party. In 
the event that market price is not available for comparison, the Audit Committee will consider and 
provide opinion regarding the appropriateness and reasonableness of such related party 
transaction under the relevant regulations for the best benefit of the Company and the 
shareholders. 

 
However, the business restructuring according to the plan to establish a financial business group is the 
required procedure under the condition of the Bank of Thailand, permitting the Company to hold more 
than 10% shares in BFIT, and also a preparation of SAWAD for any possible changes in the laws 
governing lending businesses in the future. Additionally, the management of SAWAD is confident in its 
business plan for BFIT, which integrates the competitive advantages of BFIT such as the sound financial 
status and operating performance, the more variety of financial services provided, and the ability to 
obtain lower cost of funds, with those of SAWAD such as the broader branch coverage and the 
experienced personnel in collateralized lending business. The potential business collaboration will likely 
bring in potential growth of BFIT and thus enable SAWAD to earn a good return on investment as well as 
benefit the operations of SAWAD Group as a whole in the long run as expected. 
 

2) Increasing debt and interest burden for the funding of the transaction 
The source of funds for the acquisition of BFIT shares from the Share Collector and the tender offer for all 
remaining securities of BFIT in total approximately THB 1,980.25 million (inclusive of the consideration to 
Share Collector and related transaction fees) will be the loans from financial institution. Upon entering 
into the transaction, SAWAD Group will have higher debt burden and interest expenses. As of 
September 30, 2016, total liabilities of SAWAD Group was THB 12,934.65 million, comprising interest 
bearing debts of THB 12,353.61 million. The debt to equity ratio was 2.08 times. After entering into the 
transaction, in the event that SAWAD borrows the entire purchase amount, total liabilities will increase to 
THB 14,914.90 million, comprising interest bearing debts of THB 14,333.86 million. The debt to equity 
ratio will increase to 2.40 times, calculated based on the consolidated financial statements of the 
Company as of September 30, 2016 which is not high comparing to the ratios of other companies in the 
same industry. According to the interview with the management of SAWAD, the Company has an 
undrawn loan facility (the objective of such loan facility does not conflict with this transaction) and it is 
adequate for paying the entire consideration amount. Such loan facility bears an interest rate of 
approximately 4.00% per annum. 
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3) The impact to the Company’s operating performance and ability to distribute dividend 
The source of funds for the acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and the tender offer for 
remaining securities of BFIT may be from loans. Thus, the Company will have a higher debt burden and 
interest expenses after the transaction. The increasing level of interest expenses from the new loans 
may impact the Company’s ability to distribute dividend in the future. For the year ended December 31, 
2014 – 2015, dividend payout ratios of the Company were 12.81% and 2.16% of the net profits 
according to the separated financial statements each year. Please note that the Company’s dividend 
distribution policy is not less than 40.00% the net profits after corporate income tax according to the 
separated financial statements and all required legal reserves. However, the level of dividend 
distribution maybe changed based on the funding requirement of the Company. 
 
However, with a currently sound financial status and a good performance of BFIT, together with the 
potential return on investment from of a growing SAWAD Group (including BFIT) post business 
restructuring through establishing a financial business group (in the event that the expansion of BFIT’s 
lending business is according to plan), the financial status and operating performance of the Company 
and its subsidiaries and/or associated companies (including BFIT) maybe strengthen further. As a result, 
the ability to distribute dividend maybe strengthen as well. 
 

4) The impact from the recognition of goodwill from the acquisition of BFIT shares in the financial 
statements of the Company  
In the event that the consideration paid for BFIT shares is higher than the fair value of BFIT’s assets and 
liabilities as of the transaction date. If after the transaction, the operating performance of BFIT is not as 
expected, the Company may have to test the impairment of goodwill which may affect the Company’s 
financial statements in the future. In this regards, SAWAD may be affected by the recognition of 
goodwill in the event that it has a shareholding stake in BFIT post transaction at approximately equal to 
or more than 54.73%. In the case SAWAD will hold 100.00% of BFIT shares, amount of goodwill will be 
approximately THB 104.49 million (calculated from the total transaction value of THB 1,980.25 million, 
comprising of the consideration for the acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and the tender 
offer, related transaction fees, and the consideration to the Share Collector). According to the 
management of SAWAD, the excess of consideration paid over the net asset value of BFIT is the value of 
license to operate Finance business and the management views that such amount of goodwill will not 
significantly affect the consolidated financial statements of SAWAD. On the other hand, in the case 
where SAWAD acquires 26.51% shares of BFIT from the Share Collector and all remaining shareholders 
of BFIT, which altogether hold 63.65%, accept the tender offer, SAWAD will hold 100.00% of BFIT 
shares. As a result, the amount of goodwill will be approximately THB 140 million. According to the 
management of SAWAD, the excess of consideration paid over the net asset value of BFIT is the value of 
license to operate Finance business. In this regards, the Company will arrange for the appraisal of fair 
value of BFIT’s assets and liabilities, both tangible and intangible, as of the transaction date. The 
appraised value might result in a different amount of goodwill from the above. In the case where 
SAWAD acquires 26.51% shares of BFIT from the Seller Group and no other BFIT shareholders accept 
the tender offer, SAWAD will hold 36.35% of BFIT shares. As a result, there will be a gain from bargain 
purchase at approximately THB 28.95 million which will be recorded in the profit and loss statement. 
(calculated from the total transaction value of THB 522.49 million, comprising of the consideration for 
the acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group, related transaction fees, and the consideration to 
the Share Collector) because the purchase price is lower than the net book value. 
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The Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements of SAWAD Pre and Post Transaction 

Major Items in Financial 
Statements 
(Unit: THB million) 

Financial Statements before the 
Transaction 

As of September 30, 2016 

Pro Forma Consolidated Financial 
Statements of SAWAD Post Transaction 

(Based on Financial Statements  
for 9 month period in 2016) 

SAWAD BFIT 
In case SAWAD 
holds 36.35% of 

BFIT shares  

In case SAWAD 
holds 100.00% of 

BFIT shares 
Financial Status 
Cash and cash equivalents 545.35  1,392.78  1,938.12  1,938.12  
Investment – net  403.71  2,648.48  2,894.461  2,894.481  
Loan receivables – net 15,212.40  1,392.18  16,604.58  16,604.58  
Goodwill - - - 104.49 
Other assets 2,979.45  33.25  3,012.70  3,012.70  
Total assets 19,140.90  5,466.68  24,449.86  24,554.35 
Deposits – net  - 3,246.57  3,246.57 3,246.57 
Bank overdrafts and short-term 
borrowings from financial 
institutions 

4,359.89  - 4,359.89  4,359.89  

Long-term borrowings from 
financial institutions 

1,770.83  - 2,293.322  3,751.082 

Senior unsecured debentures 5,540.00  6.80  5,546.80 5,546.80 
Other liabilities 1,263.92  132.83  1,396.75  1,396.75 
Total liabilities  12,934.65 3,386.20 16,843.33 18,301.09 
Issued and paid-up share capital 1,045.50 1,000.00  1,045.50 1,045.50 
Share premium 1,421.80 - 1,421.80 1,421.80 
Retained earnings 3,656.22  872.69  3,732.183/4  3,703.223 
Other components of equity 69.84 207.79 69.84 69.84 
Equity attributable to owners 
of the parent 

6,193.36 2,080.48 6,269.31 6,240.36 

Non-controlling interests 12.90 - 1,337.22  12.90  
Total shareholders’ equity 6,206.26  2,080.48  7,606.53 6,253.26 
Total liabilities and 
shareholders’ equity 

19,140.90 5,466.68 24,449.86 24,544.35  

Operating performance 
Interest income 2,831.30  99.08  2,930.38  2,930.38  
Other income 957.30   123.26  1,080.56  1,080.56  
Total revenues 3,788.60 222.34   4,010.94 4,010.94 
Total expenses 1,777.41 68.57 1,845.98   1,845.98 
Profits before finance costs and 
income tax expenses 2,011.20 153.77   2,164.97 2,164.97 
Finance costs     261.19       52.08     313.26     313.26 
Income tax expenses     350.98       13.07     364.05     364.05 
Net profit for the year     1,399.04            88.62      1,487.65  1,487.65 
Profit attributable to equity 
holders of the parent 

   1,399.04         32.21     1,431.24  1,487.65   

Profit attributable to non-
controlling interest 

            -          56.41         56.41  -  

Remark  1 adjust the item – investment in BFIT at the stake of 9.84% acquired on June 27, 2016 at the amount of 
THB 157.72 million (total consideration paid for BFIT shares inclusive of related transaction fees)   

2 SAWAD will finance the transaction entirely by loan from financial institutions. The total consideration 
value in the event that SAWAD acquires 26.51% of BFIT shares from the Seller Group is THB 522.49 
million (inclusive of the consideration to the Share Collector and related transaction fees) and the total 
consideration value in the event that SAWAD acquires BFIT shares from both the Seller Group and all 
remaining shares from the tender offer, altogether of 90.16% of BFIT shares, is THB 1,980.25 million 
(inclusive of the consideration to the Share Collector and related transaction fees)      

3 Recorded gains from revaluation of investment in BFIT that SAWAD currently holds at 19.68 million 
shares (acquired on June 27, 2016 at a price of THB 8.00 per share, representing total consideration 
inclusive of transaction fees of THB 157.72 million) at THB 47.00 million, which is calculated based on 
the fair value, in which IFA preliminary uses the book value of BFIT as of September 30, 2016 (since the 
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appraisal report of the fair value of BFIT’s assets and liabilities has not yet been prepared) after 
deducting the investment value at cost (inclusive of related transaction fees)  

4  Record a gain from bargain purchase of THB 28.95 million 
 
The above pro forma consolidated financial statements of SAWAD is prepared based on the reviewed 
financial statements of SAWAD and BFIT for the first 9 months ended September 30, 2016 under the 
assumption that there will be no significant changes to the financial status and operating performance 
of both SAWAD and BFIT in order to gauge an approximate impact to the consolidated financial 
statements of SAWAD from entering into this transaction by consolidating the assets and liabilities of 
SAWAD and BFIT together. The objective of this pro forma financial statements is to supplement the 
consideration of the shareholders. However, such pro forma is not an indicator of the actual 
performance or financial status of SAWAD in the future. Additionally, the consolidated financial 
statements of SAWAD post transaction may vary due to the actual transaction period, the relevant 
accounting standard, the financial position, and the operating performances of both companies, and the 
appraisal of the fair values of BFIT’s assets and liabilities. As a result, the IFA is unable to guarantee the 
impact from the transaction that may occur to the Company. 
 

5) The risk associated with the operating performance of BFIT post business restructuring according to 
the plan to establish a financial business group is not going as plan  
The events where BFIT’s performance may not be as expected may include; 
o The declining amount of deposits, which is one of the major sources of funds for BFIT’s lending business 

at the moment as well as to support the expansion into collateralized loan and uncollateralized 
personal loan businesses in the future. The possible reasons for declining deposits may include; 
 The change in the shareholding structure of BFIT : after the transaction, SAWAD will become 

the major shareholder of BFIT of at least 36.35% (the final shareholding percentage in BFIT 
depends on the tender offer’s result). Such change in the shareholding structure of BFIT may 
subsequently result in the change in the Board of Directors and the management of BFIT to be 
in accordance with the increasing stakes of SAWAD. This change may consequently impact the 
continuity and/or the amount of deposits coming from the related persons or companies in 
the future. According to the notes to financial statements of BFIT for the 9 month period in 
2016, BFIT had loans and deposits from related companies totaling THB 1,186.3 million at the 
end of 2015 and THB 1,766.8 million as of September 30, 2016, which accounted for 37.25% 
and 54.31% of the total amount of loans and deposits at the end of 2015 (THB 3,184.33 
million) and on September 30, 2016 (THB THB 3,253.37 million), respectively. However, such 
amount of loans and deposits from related companies, represented 22.32% and 32.32% of the 
total funding sources of BFIT as at the end of 2015 (THB 5,315.58 million) and as of September 
30, 2016 (THB 5,466.68 million), respectively. However, related persons or companies have 
continued to deposit money with BFIT in the past. 

 The announcement of the Royal Decree on Coverage of Insured Deposits B.E. 2559 enacted on 
July 7, 2016 : effective on August 11, 2016 onwards by gradually changing the coverage of insured 
deposit based on the level below; 
 

Period when the License 
of Financial Institution will be Revoked Protection Amount 

August 11, 2016 – August 10, 2017 THB 15.00 million 
August 11, 2017 – August 10, 2018 THB 15.00 million 
August 11, 2018 – August 10, 2019 THB 10.00 million 
August 11, 2019 – August 10, 2020  THB 5.00 million 

 
The declining coverage of insured deposit may induce depositors to resort to a larger financial 
institution and/or induce big depositors to diversify their accounts at many financial 
institutions in order to minimize exposure to loss in the event that the licenses of financial 
institutions who provided them the services were revoked. 
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o The growth of collateralized loans and uncollateralized personal loans to new customers, which will 
be provided by BFIT in the future (instead of SAWAD and Fast Money who are the current 
providers) through the Banking Agent and branches of Srisawad 2014, is not according to plan. 

o The increase in the amount of non-performing loans in the future, which may affect the interest 
income and the amount of provision required to set aside for non-performing loans. 

The above events may occur as a result of many causes such as an economic slowdown, an increasing 
competition in lending and depository businesses in the future from both the incumbents and the new 
entrants, a change in market interest rate, etc. As a result, the operating performance of BFIT may not 
be according to plan and SAWAD may unable to realize the expected return from the additional 
investment in BFIT and the business restructuring according to the plan to establish a financial business 
group.  
 

6) The Company will assume more roles in lending business and other financial services thus facing greater 
business risk 
The acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and the tender offer for all remaining securities of 
BFIT as well as the business restructuring under the condition required by the Bank of Thailand in 
permitting the Company to hold more than 10% of BFIT shares, will result in SAWAD Group being a 
financial business group in accordance with the Bank of Thailand’s guideline. As a result, SAWAD Group 
has a duty to comply with relevant rules and regulations regarding the consolidated supervision. 
Especially, SAWAD, as a holding company, must oversee and ensure the compliance of the companies 
within its group. Other key duties are to establish sufficient allowance for doubtful accounts based on 
the Bank of Thailand’s standard, to evaluate the sufficiency of the capital reserve and liquidity of the 
financial group, to report on the group business policies, various internal risk management policies, and 
to prepare financial reports on the group consolidation basis, etc. The Information Memorandum on 
Business Restructuring and the Establishment of Financial Business Group stated that the management, 
together with the Company's financial advisor, prepared financial projections of the financial group 
during the next 3 years on a Solo Basis (BFIT) and Full Consolidation Basis (the Company and all 
subsidiaries) to preliminarily assess the impact on the financial positions and the performance of the 
Company Group, and expected that the compliance to the Bank of Thailand’s regulations will not affect 
the Group’s expansion plan, but rather enhance the governance and the financial strength, as well as 
lower its operating risk. Additionally, if BFIT is to expand its lending business beyond its existing loan 
services, such business plan must be assessed for readiness by the Bank of Thailand before the start of 
service.   
 
Moreover, the additional investment in BFIT, who operates some of the same businesses as SAWAD 
such as collateralized loans and personal loans, may result in SAWAD facing more concentrated business 
risks such as exposure to fluctuation of interest rate, impairment of collateral values, inability to 
liquidate foreclosure assets and/or insufficiency of the liquidated value to cover the loan amount, 
increase in non-performing loan, duration mismatch between assets and liabilities, inefficiency and/or 
inadequacy of working system, personnel, and information technology. In case SAWAD is unable to 
evaluate and/or procure proper and adequate risk management tools, it may affect the financial status 
and operating performance of SAWAD in the future. 
 

7) The Company has a limited experience in the business 
Since SAWAD has never operated some of the businesses and/or provided some of the financial services 
that are the core businesses of BFIT such as depository business, commercial loans, SME loans, etc., 
SAWAD thus may require certain amount of time to study these businesses and may need to rely on the 
knowledge, capability, and expertise of the current management and employees of BFIT. However, with 
the knowledge and experience of SAWAD’s management in providing secured loans, personal loans, and 
Nano finance loans, which have certain similar working processes to the lending businesses of BFIT, 
together with the appointment of SAWAD’s representatives as the directors, managements, and 
managing directors in subsidiary companies, to create a better understanding of BFIT’s businesses and 
to be involved in setting policies and monitoring subsidiaries’ operations (including BFIT), ensuring 
compliance with the overall business plan of SAWAD Group, this will help smoothing the integration 
process and enable the control of SAWAD in BFIT after the transaction. 
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8) The Company has a risk associated with inability to acquire the entire amount of BFIT shares from the 
Seller Group as expected  
The Memorandum of Understanding dated June 10, 2016 and the Share Purchase Agreement for BFIT 
shares dated December 28, 2016 are binding between the contract parties, namely SAWAD and the 
Share Collector (Miss Narissara Kitpipat). In the said Memorandum of Understanding and the Share 
Purchase Agreement, the Share Collector will sell 9.81% of BFIT shares that she acquired from the 2 
former BFIT shareholders at THB 8.20 per share for the Company, to SAWAD at the same price and will 
act as the Share Collector to collect BFIT shares from the other shareholders in the amount not less than 
25.00%. Therefore, in case the other 4 BFIT shareholders or some of them, especially the 2 shareholders, 
who verbally agreed to sell (namely Mr. Somyos Vinitchaikul and Mr. Thanit Sethikul) do not comply 
with the agreement to sell BFIT shares to SAWAD through the Share Collector as agreed with the Share 
Collector due to any reasons, SAWAD may face the risk of adding only 9.81% of BFIT shares and not the 
entire amount of 26.51% as expected by SAWAD.  
 

9) The risk associated with the impact from any damages paid to the Share Collector  
Pursuant to the condition in the Memorandum of Understanding with the Share Collector, SAWAD 
agrees to be responsible for any damages to the Share Collector if she is damaged from performing her 
duty. This might result in the Company facing a burden of expenses due to damages arising from the 
situations as stipulated in the agreement. Additionally, in the event that the Extraordinary General 
Meeting of shareholders No.1/2017 of the Company to be held of March 8, 2017, disapproves the 
Company to acquire BFIT shares from the Seller Group and via the tender offer for all securities of BFIT, 
the Company may be demanded by the Share Collector to acquire 9.81% of BFIT shares (which the Share 
Collector had acquired from the 2 former shareholders on September 13, 2016 and October 11, 2016 for 
the Company) according to such agreement. 

 
10) The Company may lose operational flexibility in the event that both the Company and BFIT are listed 

companies 
In the event that the acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and the tender offer for the 
remaining securities of BFIT altogether result in the Company obtaining adequate BFIT shares to exercise 
control over and making BFIT a subsidiary of the Company after the transaction. In the event that both 
the Company and BFIT maintain their status as listed companies on the SET, the Company and BFIT must 
comply with the rules and regulations of both the SEC and the SET such as the Asset Acquisition or 
Disposal Notification or the Connected Transaction Notification when the transaction value and size are 
greater than the threshold set out by the SEC and the SET (the transaction value and size are on the 
basis of the consolidated financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements 
of BFIT). As a result, an approval from the Board of Directors of both the Company and BFIT as well as an 
approval from the shareholders’ meeting of both the Company and BFIT may be required to further 
proceed with certain actions, which may lead to a decrease in the Company’s operational flexibility in 
the future. 
 

11) The risk associated with maintaining the listing status of BFIT on the SET  
In the event that the remaining shareholders of BFIT at 63.65% accept the tender offer of the Company, 
combining with BFIT shares currently held by the Company at 9.84% as well as another 26.51% of BFIT 
shares to be acquired from the Seller Group, the Company will altogether hold 100% shares in BFIT. As a 
result, BFIT may encounter the risk associated with maintaining its listing status on the SET due to the 
incompliance with the free float requirement of the SET pursuant to the Notification of the Board of 
Governors of the Stock Exchange of Thailand Re: Maintaining the Status of Listed Companies in the 
Exchange, 2011, indicating that a listed company shall maintain its qualification with respect to share 
distribution so that its ordinary shares shall be held by minority shareholders in a number not less than 
150 and such shareholders shall hold shares in aggregate of not less than 15% of the paid-up capital of 
the listed company. 
 
In the event that BFIT and/or SAWAD are unable to maintain BFIT’s qualifications with respect to share 
distribution pursuant to the Notification of the SET, SAWAD may be required to delist BFIT from the SET 
in the future. The ending of BFIT’s listing status may affect its image as well as its inability to raise capital 
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through the stock exchange, which could have been one of its alternative funding source for the future 
operation. However, according to our interview with the management, upon completion of the tender 
offer, in case SAWAD has a shareholding stake in BFIT above 85.00% of total paid-up shares of BFIT, 
SAWAD will sell BFIT shares in the SET so that BFIT will comply with the relevant free float requirement.  

 
12) The risk associated with unfulfilled conditions precedent  

In the event that the conditions precedent per the Share Purchase Agreement for BFIT shares between 
the Share Collector and SAWAD cannot be fulfilled as shown in the examples below, SAWAD will be 
unable to acquire BFIT shares from the Share Collector, make the tender offer for the remaining shares 
of BFIT, as well as proceed with the business restructuring by establishing a financial business group. As 
a result, transaction costs that SAWAD has already incurred will become sunk costs such as service fees 
paid to advisors, costs in convening shareholders’ meeting, costs in printing and circulating documents, 
etc.  
 
Examples of the conditions precedent per the Share Purchase Agreement are shown below. 
o The shareholders’ meeting resolves to approve the transactions with affirmative votes of not less 

than three-fourths of the total number of votes of the shareholders who attend the meeting and 
are entitled to vote. 

o From the date on which the Share Purchase Agreement is executed until the date on which the 
share purchase is completed, there shall be no event of change which constitutes material adverse 
effect to the business operation, financial position or assets of BFIT. 

However, the management of SAWAD views that the related transaction expenses will not significantly 
affect the Company comparing to the benefits to be obtained by the Company from entering into the 
transaction. 

 
1.3  Fairness of the Transaction Price and Conditions  

 
1.3.1  Fairness of the Transaction Price  
 
In evaluating the fairness of the transaction price, the IFA has carried out the following valuation approaches 
for BFIT shares; 
1) Book Value Approach 
2) Adjusted Book Value Approach 
3) Market Comparable Approach 

 Price to Book Value Ratio Approach 
 Price to Earnings Ratio Approach 

4) Historical Market Price Approach 
5) Dividend Discount Model 

 
The IFA did not use the Precedent Transaction Approach because the precedent share purchase transactions 
of Finance company took place more than 10 years ago. The latest transaction, which happened not longer 
than 10 years, took place in 2011 by the Siam Commercial Bank Public Company Limited (“SCB”). SCB made a 
tender offer for the securities of The Siam Industrial Credit Public Company Limited (“SICCO”) after holding 
38.65% of SICCO’s total paid-up shares to be in compliance with the regulations of the Bank of Thailand, 
which requires each financial business group to own only one type of financial institution taking deposits 
from the general public. Thus, SCB made a tender offer for all securities of SICCO to delist SICCO’s shares 
from the SET. Then, SCB ceased the business operation of SICCO and returned SICCO’s license to operate 
Finance business to related government officials. The objective of such transaction is thus not similar to this 
transaction of SAWAD, which primarily aims for business expansion. As a result, the IFA viewed that such 
transaction is not appropriately comparable. 
 
Additionally, the IFA did not use the Discounted Cash Flow Approach by preparing the forecasted Free Cash 
Flow to Equity, which is generally used for the share valuation of companies. This is because the nature of 
BFIT’s business, which is financial services, is different from general businesses. For example, the sources of 
funds for BFIT came primarily from deposits and shareholders’ equity, and also BFIT has to maintain its 
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capital adequacy ratios in compliance with relevant regulations. Thus, when forecasting future growth of the 
business, capital adequacy ratios must also be taken into account. Additionally, working capital, which can be 
calculated from the change in current assets and current liabilities, cannot be explicitly implied from the 
balance sheet of BFIT. 
 
Details of each valuation approach used to evaluate the fair value of BFIT share are explained below; 
 
1) Book Value Approach 
 
The Book Value Approach evaluates the value of shareholders’ equity at a certain point in time as shown in 
the financial statements. In this case, the IFA used BFIT’s reviewed financial statements for the 9 month 
period ended September 30, 2016 with the details as shown below.  
 

Book Value of BFIT as of September 30, 2016 
Items THB million 

Issued and paid-up share capital 1,000.00 
Other components of equity 207.79 
Retained earnings  
   Appropriated – legal and statutory reserves 116.00 
   Unappropriated 756.69 
Equity attributable to equity holders of parent  2,080.48 
No. of paid-up shares (million) – par value at THB 5.00 each 200.00 
Book value per share (THB per share) 10.40 

 
According to the above Table, the fair value of BFIT shares based on the Book Value Approach is THB 10.40 
per share, which is higher than the acquisition price of BFIT shares from the Share Collector at THB 8.20 per 
share by 26.83% or THB 2.20 per share, while is lower than the acquisition price of BFIT shares from the other 
4 sellers at THB 10.50 per share by 0.95% or THB 0.10 per share, and also lower than the offering price in the 
tender offer for the remaining shares of BFIT at THB 11.42 per share by 8.93% or THB 1.02 per share. 
 
2) Adjusted Book Value Approach 
 
This valuation approach considers the book value of BFIT from BFIT’s reviewed financial statements for the 9 
month period ended September 30, 2016, then adjusting with an increase (decrease) in value of certain 
assets that have been reappraised or other situations that may affect the value of BFIT’s assets and liabilities 
beyond the date of such financial statements in order to reflect the most current values of BFIT. The IFA has 
taken into consideration the major items below; 

Assets 
 Net interbank and money market items comprise borrowing transactions between BFIT and the 

Bank of Thailand, commercial banks, and specialized financial institutions. The net amount is 
recorded inclusive of interest receivables.  

 Net investments comprise of  
o Available-for-sale securities at THB 2,631.70 million, which includes investment in government 

and state-owned enterprise securities, private sector debt securities, and domestic marketable 
equity securities and unit trusts. The amounts recorded in the financial statements are at fair 
values.  

o Held-to-maturity debt securities the amounts recorded in the financial statements are based on 
the amortized cost accounting. BFIT has also set up the full amount of allowance for impairment 
loss against these items.    

o Other investments at THB 16.78 million, comprising of domestic non-marketable equity 
securities. The amounts recorded in the financial statements are at cost net of allowance for 
impairment loss. BFIT has already taken into consideration the latest reviewed financial 
statement of each invested company when setting up the allowance for impairment loss.  

 Net loans to customer and accrued interest receivables the amounts recorded in the financial 
statements are net of allowances for doubtful accounts and for the revaluation of debt restructuring. 
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BFIT set up allowances for doubtful accounts and for the revaluation of debt restructuring according 
to the guidelines of the Bank of Thailand by analyzing and evaluating debtors’ status based on 
collateral valuation and risk assessment. The allowances for doubtful accounts set up by BFIT is 
above the required threshold. 

 Properties foreclosed were received from redemption of debt securities with defaulted interest 
payment and from the repayment of loans receivable. The recorded amounts are stated at their fair 
value less estimated selling expenses but not exceeding the amount of principal and accrued interest 
receivable that can be legally claimed. As of September 30, 2016, net properties foreclosed was THB 
6. Nonetheless, according to the notes to financial statements, as of September 28, 2016 BFIT had 
entered into the agreement to purchase and sell a plot of property foreclosed, which had a carrying 
value before deducting provision for impairment and reserve for selling expenses of THB 13.42 
million. The 10% of the settlement amount will be received within 30 days and the remaining 90% 
within 180 days after the agreement date. The selling price per the agreement after deducting selling 
expenses and income taxes is THB 15.78 million, which BFIT will be able to recognize the entire 
amount as profit since it has already set up a full provision for impairment loss. The fair value of the 
remaining properties foreclosed at THB 56.42 million (forced sale value) is appraised by a qualified 
independent appraiser. BFIT has also set up a full provision of impairment loss for these remaining 
foreclosed properties because they have low liquidity and limited holding period according to the 
BOT’s guidelines given that these assets are not financial assets used in BFIT’s business operation. 
There is also no further progress on the sale of these assets.  

 Net land, premises, and equipment the land value is recorded at cost. Premises and equipment are 
recorded at cost after deducting accumulated depreciation and allowance for impairment of assets 
(if any).  As of September 30, 2016, net land, premises, and equipment was THB 11.81 million, 
accounted for 0.22% of total assets. BFIT did not engage an asset appraiser to appraise the value of 
these assets. Therefore, the IFA did not adjust the value of these assets due to the lack of appraised 
values as well as these assets altogether do not comprise significant values on the balance sheet of 
BFIT. 
 
Liabilities 

 Deposits BFIT receives deposits from general public and overseas, accounted for 95.88% of total 
liabilities. The amount of deposits recorded is inclusive of interest payables. 

 Provisions BFIT will record provisions when there is a high possibility that contingent liabilities must 
be paid out by law or as a result of past events. And that such contingent liabilities will likely result in 
a loss of economic benefit to settle any obligation and the amount of loss can be reasonably 
estimated. In case BFIT is certain that some or all of the expenditures used to settle the provisions 
are to be reimbursed, BFIT will record the amount as a separate item of asset. The amount 
recognized should not exceed the amount of related provisions. According to the financial 
statements of BFIT, BFIT recorded provisions for employee benefit plan in the amount of THB 12.88 
million and provisions for the commitments off-balance sheet in the amount of THB 22.31 million, 
comprising the provision for the letter of guarantee in performance bond and bid bond to debtors in 
the amount of THB 28.31 million. The difference of THB 6.00 million is fully guaranteed by deposits. 
 
From the discussion of the above asset items, net interbank and money market items, net 
investments, and net loans to customer and accrued interest receivable, are presented at their fair 
values or after deducting allowances for doubtful accounts or for revaluation of debt restructuring as 
well as other provisions. For land, premises, and equipment, they are recorded at cost after 
deducting accumulated depreciation and allowance for impairment of assets (if any). Given that BFIT 
did not engage an independent appraiser to appraise the value of these fixed assets and also they do 
not comprise significant values of total assets, the IFA did not make any adjustment to the values of 
these fixed assets. However, for one of the foreclosed properties, which BFIT had already set up a 
full amount of impairment provision for, is under the asset sale and purchase agreement. The IFA 
thus adjusts the shareholders’ equity from the amount of profits to be earned with the details as 
presented below. 
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For the liabilities side, the amount of deposits is recorded inclusive of interest payables and the 
amount of provisions for off-balance sheet commitment is recorded entirely above the amount of 
deposits used as collaterals. Additionally, based on our interview with the management of BFIT, BFIT 
does not have litigation cases that could result in additional contingent liabilities apart from those 
that BFIT has already set up a full amount of provisions for. As a result, the IFA did not adjust 
shareholders’ equity through liabilities adjustment.  
 

Share Valuation of BFIT Using Adjusted Book Value Approach as of September 30, 2016 
 THB million 

Equity attributable to equity holders of parent  2,080.48 
Add gains from sale of asset 15.78 
Adjusted book value of shareholders’ equity 2,096.26 
No. of paid-up shares (million) – par value at THB 5.00 each 200.00 
Adjusted book value per share (THB per share) 10.48 

 
According to the above Table, the fair value of BFIT shares based on Adjusted Book Value Approach is THB 
10.48 per share, which is higher than the acquisition price of BFIT shares from the Share Collector at THB 
8.20 per share by 27.80% or THB 2.28 per share. However, the fair value is lower than the acquisition price of 
BFIT shares from the other 4 sellers at THB 10.50 per share by 0.19% or THB 0.02 per share, and also lower 
than the offering price in the tender offer for the remaining shares of BFIT at THB 11.42 per share by 8.23% 
or THB 0.94 per share. 
 
3) Market Comparable Approach 
 
Market Comparable Approach is a relative valuation approach that determines the fair value of BFIT shares 
based on the market ratios of the comparable listed companies, who operate a similar business and are 
within the same industry as BFIT. This valuation approach is performed with the key underlying assumption 
that the financial ratios of the selected comparable companies such as the Price to Book Value Ratio and the 
Price to Earnings Ratios possess comparable characteristics to one another. Given the limitation on the 
number of Finance companies; there are 2 Finance companies in Thailand and only BFIT is listed on the SET, 
the IFA is unable to find the market ratios of the same type Finance company for comparison. However, the 
IFA selected listed commercial banks or listed holding company of commercial banks, who operate 
depository and lending businesses similar to Finance company for comparison. Although the business size 
and the total asset value of these commercial banks significantly differ from BFIT’s and also these commercial 
banks engage in a broader range of businesses, the IFA considered only the companies with the asset value 
not more than THB 300,000 million. The names of the selected listed companies for comparing are presented 
in the Table below. 
 

List of Comparable Companies to BFIT 

Comparable Company Trading 
Symbol 

Total Assets as 
of Sept 30, 16 
(THB million) 

Business Characters 

Kiatnakin Bank Public 
Company Limited 

KKP 234,976.15 KKP engages in the businesses of commercial banking, 
insurance brokerage, securities and derivatives, 
investment banking, private banking, and investment.  

Tisco Financial Group 
Public Company Limited 

TISCO 265,929.04 TISCO engages in the businesses of commercial banking, 
insurance brokerage, securities and derivatives, 
investment banking, private banking, and fund 
management. 

LH Financial Group 
Public Company Limited 

LHBANK 212,118.27 LHBANK is a holding company in which the companies 
under its group engage in the businesses of 
commercial banking, securities and derivative, 
investment banking, and mutual fund management. 

Source :  the reviewed financial statements for 9 month period ended September 30, 2016 and the information  
disclosure (Form 56-1) of each company 
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To perform the valuation under this market comparable approach, the IFA used 1) Price to Book Ratio 
Approach and 2) Price to Earnings Ratio Approach. The details of the valuation are presented below. 
 
a)     Price to Book Value Ratio Approach 
 
In determining the fair value of BFIT shares by using the Price to Book Value Ratio Approach, the IFA has 
determined the cut-off date for the calculation of the average historical price to book value ratio (“P/BV”) to 
be on December 28, 2016, which is the last trading day of BFIT shares before the disclosure of the resolutions 
of the Board of Directors’ meeting regarding the transaction. In this regards, the IFA has calculated the 
historical 15 – 360 business days average P/BV for comparable companies, which can be summarized as 
follows; 
 

Average Historical P/BV of Peer Comparable for the Valuation of BFIT Shares  

Peer Companies 
Historical Period (Business Days) 

15 days 30 days 60 days 90 days 180 days 240 days 360 days 
KKP 1.25x  1.24x  1.24x  1.19x  1.08x  1.05x  0.95x  

TISCO 1.51x  1.48x  1.48x  1.48x  1.39x  1.37x  1.31x  
LHBANK 1.18x  1.18x  1.19x  1.20x  1.25x  1.27x  1.28x  

Average P/BV 1.31x  1.30x  1.30x  1.29x  1.24x  1.23x  1.18x  
Source : information as of December 28, 2016 from www.setsmart.com 
 
The IFA applied the average historical P/BV as shown in the Table above to the book value per share of BFIT 
to derive the fair price of BFIT. The IFA used the book value of shareholders’ equity as of September 30, 2016 
(the details of the book value of BFIT is shown in the Book Value Approach above). The details of the 
valuation are shown in the Table below.  
 

Share Valuation of BFIT Using P/BV Approach 

Historical Period  
(Business Days) 

Average P/BV 
(times) (1) 

Book Value Per Share 
(THB per share) (2) 

Fair Value  
(THB per Share)  

(3) = (1) x (2) 
15 business days 1.31x  

10.40  

13.68  
30 business days 1.30x  13.52  
60 business days 1.30x  13.55  
90 business days 1.29x  13.41  

180 business days 1.24x  12.91  
240 business days 1.23x  12.78  
360 business days 1.18x  12.28  

Fair value of BFIT share (THB per share) 12.28 – 13.68  
 
According to the above Table, the fair value of BFIT share based on the Price to Book Value Ratio Approach 
ranges between THB 12.28 – 13.68 per share which is higher than the acquisition price of BFIT shares from 
the Share Collector at THB 8.20 per share by 49.76%– 66.83% or THB 4.08 – 5.48 per share and 
higher than the acquisition price of BFIT shares from the the other 4 sellers at THB 10.50 per share by 16.95% – 
30.29% or THB 1.78 – 3.18 per share, and also higher than the offering price in the tender offer for the 
remaining shares of BFIT at THB 11.42 per share by 7.53% – 19.79% or THB 0.86 – 2.26 per share. 
 
b) Price to Earnings Ratio Approach 
 
Based on the Price to Earnings Ratio Approach, the IFA has determined the cut-off date for the calculation of 
average historical price to earnings ratio (“PER”) to be on December 28, 2016. The IFA has calculated the 
historical 15 – 360 business days average PER for comparable companies, which can be summarized as 
follows;  
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Average Historical PER of Peer Comparable for the Valuation of BFIT Share   

Peer Comparable 
Historical Period (Business Days) 

15 days 30 days 60 days 90 days 180 days 240 days 360 days 
KKP 9.62x  9.50x  10.30x  10.28x  10.32x  10.65x  10.52x  

TISCO 9.12x 8.92x  9.15x 9.21x  9.00x  8.84x  8.28x  
LHBANK 9.32x  9.34x  9.69x  9.90x  11.61x  12.47x  13.59x  

Average PER 9.35x  9.25x  9.71x  9.80x  10.31x  10.66x  10.80x  
Source : information as of December 28, 2016 from www.setsmart.com 
 
The IFA applied the average PER obtained to the earnings per share of BFIT to derive the fair price. The IFA 
used the total net profits in the latest 4 quarters (October 1, 2015 – September 30, 2016) based on the 
financial statements of BFIT with the details of the valuation presented below. 
 

Share Valuation of BFIT Using PER Approach 

Historical Period 
(Business Days) 

Average PER 
(times) (1) 

Earnings Per Share 
(THB per Share) (2) 

Fair Value  
(THB per Share)  

(3) = (1) x (2) 
15 business days 9.35x 

0.59 

5.50 
30 business days 9.25x 5.44 
60 business days 9.71x 5.71 
90 business days 9.80x 5.76 

180 business days 10.31x 6.06 
240 business days 10.66x 6.27 
360 business days 10.80x 6.35 
Fair value of BFIT share (THB per share) 5.44 – 6.35 

 
According to the above Table, the fair value of BFIT share based on the Price to Earnings Ratio Approach 
ranges between THB 5.44 – 6.35 per share which is lower than the acquisition price of BFIT shares from the 
Share Collector at THB 8.20 per share by 22.56% - 33.66% or THB 1.85 - 2.76 per share and lower than the 
acquisition price of BFIT shares from the other 4 sellers at THB 10.50 per share by 39.52% – 48.19% or THB 
4.15 – 5.06 per share, and also lower than the offering price in the tender offer for the remaining shares of 
BFIT at THB 11.42 per share by 44.40% – 52.36% or THB 5.07 – 5.98 per share. 
 
4)       Historical Market Price Approach 
Historical Market Price Approach evaluates the fair value of the Company’s shares by taking into 
consideration of the actual trading price and trading volume of BFIT shares on the SET. Under this approach, 
the IFA has calculated the historical 15 – 360 business day volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) for BFIT 
shares until December 28, 2016, which is the last trading day prior to the announcement of the resolution of 
the Board of Directors regarding the transaction. Historical market price can reflect the fair value of BFIT 
shares based on the demand and supply of BFIT shares in the market, perspective of investors towards BFIT’s 
future operating performance, any related news announced in the market as well as prevailing economic 
condition. The details of VWAP calculation are presented in the following table. 
 

Volume Weighted Average Price of BFIT 

Historical Period 
(Business Days) 

Market Price (THB per Share) Average 
Trading Volume 

per Day 
(Shares) 

Volume 
Weighted 

Average Price 
 (THB per Share) 

Minimum 
Closing Price 

Maximum 
Closing Price 

Average 
Closing Price 

15 business days 10.00  11.80  10.61  1,483,897.67  11.26  
30 business days 9.90  11.80  10.37  786,156.13  11.20  
60 business days 9.50  11.80  10.25  859,942.22  10.75  
90 business days 9.50  11.80  10.31  1,267,974.01  10.85  

180 business days 5.75  11.80  9.10  1,584,327.98  10.07  
240 business days 5.65  11.80  8.32  1,217,768.18  9.97  
360 business days 5.20  11.80  7.49  852,735.60  9.79  

Fair value of BFIT share (THB per share) 9.79 – 11.26 
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According to the Table above, the fair value of BFIT share based on the Historical Market Price Approach 
ranges between THB 9.79 – 11.26 per share which is in higher than the acquisition price of BFIT shares from the 
Share Collector at 8.20 per share by 19.39% – 37.32% or THB 1.59 – 3.06 per share and in the same range as 
the acquisition price of BFIT shares from the other 4 sellers at THB 10.50 per share. The lower bound is lower 
by THB 0.71 per share or 6.76% and the upper bound is higher by THB 0.76 per share or 7.24%. Nonetheless, 
the range of fair value above is lower than the offering price in the tender offer for the remaining shares of 
BFIT at THB 11.42 per share or lower by 1.40% – 14.27% or lower by THB 0.16 – 1.63 per share.  
 
5)      Dividend Discount Model 

 
This valuation approach considers the ability of a company to distribute dividend to its shareholders in the 
future from its operating profits. The IFA forecasted the dividend payment schedule of BFIT, then discounting 
them with the cost of equity (Ke) to determine the present value. The forecasted amount of dividend 
distribution is THB 70.00 million per year throughout the projected period. This is based on the actual amount 
of dividend payment in 2013 – 2015 when BFIT paid THB 70.00 million each year, representing dividend payout 
ratios of 68.19%, 72.79%, and 71.10%, respectively. Additionally, the IFA prepared another scenario of valuation 
when BFIT distributes 95.00% of its profits each year as dividend. This is because we viewed that BFIT has the 
capacity to pay higher dividends than its current paying amount considering its capital-to-risk-assets ratio as 
well as the ratio of liquid assets to deposits and borrowings is above the regulated level. The IFA prepared the 
forecast based on historical data of BFIT and the interview with the management of BFIT. We assumed that 
there will be no significant changes to the business operation of BFIT. In the event that BFIT’s business is 
adversely affected by any occurrences in the future, the share valuation result may differ accordingly. 
 
Key assumptions used in preparing the financial forecast are presented below. 
 
1. Interest income comprises (1) interest income from interbank and money market items, (2) interest 

income from investment in debt securities, and (3) interest income from loans. The IFA considered the 
average interest rate in 2016 from the unaudited financial statements of BFIT submitted to the SET to 
reflect the current level of interest rate earned that has been declining in the money market. The 
interbank and money market items are forecasted based on the difference between the amounts of 
deposits received and the amount invested, which include different types of lending. For investment in 
debt securities, the IFA forecasted a fixed amount each year going forward because BFIT is likely maintain 
its investment in debt securities at the same amount for liquidity management. The management of BFIT 
plans to grow its interest income through loan offerings, which is projected to grow at the rates of 3.38% 
– 3.85% per annum from 2017 onwards. While loans to major clients are expected to decrease at 5.00% 
per year due to the gradual repayment of loans per loan contracts, loans to retail clients are expected to 
increase at 5.00% per year. The details are presented below.  
 

 Actual Forecast 
(THB million) 2013A 2014A 2015A Jan-Sep 

2016A 2016E 2017F 2018F 2019F 2020F 2021F 
1) Interest income from interbank and money market items 
interbank and 
money market 
items 

620.01 391.41 1,349.20 1,392.59 778.16* 847.52 893.55 940.10 986.92 1,032.94 

Growth rate – 
interbank and 
money market 
items 

28.68% -36.87% 244.70% 3.22% -42.32% 8.91% 5.43% 5.21% 4.98% 4.66% 

Average interest 
rate 

2.09% 2.66% 2.66% 1.34% 1.24% 1.24% 1.24% 1.24% 1.24% 1.24% 

Interest income – 
interbank and 
money market 
items 

11.54  13.46  23.13  13.75  17.16  10.11  10.83  11.41  11.99  12.56 

2) Interest income from investment in debt securities 
Investment in 
debt securities 

2,872.94 2,304.87 2,036.40 2,074.95 1,861.95 1,861.95 1,861.95 1,861.95 1,861.95 1,861.95 

Growth rate – 
investment in 
debt securities 

-12.56% -19.77% -11.65% 1.89% -8.57% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 
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 Actual Forecast 
(THB million) 2013A 2014A 2015A Jan-Sep 

2016A 2016E 2017F 2018F 2019F 2020F 2021F 
Average interest 
rate 

5.14% 4.35% 4.49% 4.61% 4.79% 4.79% 4.79% 4.79% 4.79% 4.79% 

Interest income - 
investment in 
debt securities 

158.31  112.62  97.56  70.82  93.38  89.20  89.20  89.20   89.20 

3) Interest income from loans 
Loans 2,172.74 2,054.62 1,939.00 1,912.54 1,901.15 1,965.45 2,034.50 2,108.47 2,187.52 2,271.84 
Growth rate – 
loans 

-1.86% -5.44% -5.63% -1.36% -1.95% 3.38% 3.51% 3.64% 3.75% 3.85% 

Average interest 
rate 

7.51% 8.28% 7.03% 6.88% 6.84% 6.84% 6.84% 6.84% 6.84% 6.84% 

Interest income – 
loans  

164.65  175.01  140.47  99.08  131.36  132.27  136.83  141.72  146.96  152.55  

Total interest 
incomes  

334.50  301.10  261.16  183.65  241.90  231.58  236.86  242.33  248.14  254.31  

Remark * The IFA considers interest income from interbank and money market items by excluding the interbank 
items that the IFA regards as an excess capital of THB 947.31 million (details appear in the assumption 
item 9. Excess capital) to avoid redundancy in performing valuation. As a result, the interbank items 
declined in 2016. 

 
2. Interest expenses comprise interest expenses on deposits, debt securities issued and borrowings, and 

contribution fee to Financial Institutions Development Fund (“FIDF”) and the Deposit Protection Agency. 
The IFA forecasted these expenses based on the amount of deposits, debt securities, and historical 
growth rate of these liabilities in 2015 until September 30, 2016 to reflect the potential sources of 
funding for BFIT in the future. In this regards, the declining amount of deposit in 2014 was due to a 
decrease in number of depositors who are related to BFIT and want to use the deposits for business 
expansion. In 2015, the amount of deposits increased because there was a launch of promotional 
interest rate in the beginning of 2015 and the clients continue to maintain their deposits with BFIT. The 
management of BFIT forecasted the target growth rate of deposits from 2017 onwards at 3.00% per 
annum to be in line with the potential source of funds for the retail lending business. Meanwhile, the IFA 
considered the average interest rate in 2016 to reflect the current level of interest rate which had been 
declining in the money market as well as BFIT interest rate. For the contribution fee to FIDF and the 
Deposit Protection Agency, the IFA forecasted according to the relevant regulations governing these 
expenses. The details are presented below. 
 

 Actual Forecast 

(THB million) 2013A 2014A 2015A Jan-Sep 
2016A 2016E 2017F 2018F 2019F 2020F 2021F 

Deposits 3,516.35 2,545.27 3,177.53 3,246.57 3,380.95 3,482.38 3,586.85 3,694.45 3,805.29 3,919.45 
Growth rate – 
deposits 

-4.41% -27.62% 24.84% 2.17% 6.40% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 

Average deposits  
interest rate 

3.41% 2.96% 3.04% 1.70% 1.64% 1.64% 1.64% 1.64% 1.64% 1.64% 

Interest expenses 
– deposits 

122.73  89.73  86.97  40.84  53.67  56.16  57.85  59.58  61.37  63.21  

Other interest 
expenses 

19.27  15.83  16.82  11.24  15.14  16.23  16.72  17.22  17.73  18.26  

Total interest 
expenses 

142.00  105.56  103.78  52.08  68.81  72.40  74.56  76.80  79.10  81.47  

 
3. Fees and services income comprises fees and services income from acceptances, Aval, and guarantees. 

The details are presented below.  
 Other fees and services income relating to BFIT’s lending business. They represent 0.25%, 0.30%, 

0.33%, and 0.35% of total loans in 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months ended September 30, 2016, 
respectively. The increases were due to an increasing portion of retail loans. In the projected period, 
the IFA forecasted other fees and services income to be 0.36% of the estimated amount of loans 
each year on average in line with BFIT’s loan expansion plan. 
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 Services income from acceptances, Aval, and guarantees, which were THB 0.85 million in 2013 and 
THB 0.57 million each year in 2014 – 2016. In the projected period, IFA forecasted these incomes at a 
fixed amount of THB 0.57 million per year. 

 
4. Other operating incomes comprise dividend income and other incomes  

a. The IFA forecasted dividend income by making an assumption that marketable equity securities and 
unit trusts will grow by 5.00% per annum according to the business plan of BFIT’s management, 
which is in line with historical growth rates. During 2015 and the first 9 months ended September 30, 
2016, the growth rates of investment in these securities were 29.66% and 14.21% compared to the 
previous year figure, respectively. Additionally, the IFA forecasted the returns from these investments 
to be 7.34% based on the average returns earned in 2016 to reflect the current level of return on 
investments earned by BFIT, which is in accordance with the average return on investments during 
2013 – 2015 at 7.57% – 8.01%.  

b. Other income are primarily from the repayment received from restructured loans which vary by the 
repayment amount received each year from the debtors. In 2016, BFIT has a higher amount of this 
income since BFIT has gains from foreclosed properties of THB 15.78 million. The IFA forecasted this 
income to be THB 1.00 million each year throughout the projected period based on the forecast 
provided by BFIT’s management. 
 

5. Net gain (loss) on investments the IFA did not forecast this item because historical figures were volatile. 
Furthermore, net gain (loss) on investments is highly dependent on the conditions of the money market 
and capital market in the future which are still uncertain. In 2013 – 2015, BFIT had net gain on 
investments of THB 3.79 million, THB 17.60 million, and THB 17.44 million, respectively. The increase in 
net gain on investments during 2014 – 2015 increased from the increase in the market value of equity 
securities and unit trusts. In 2016, based on the audited financial statements of BFIT, net loss on 
investments was THB 2.73 million, due to a decrease in gain on sales of investments by THB 17.95 
million comparing to the amount in 2015 and an increase in impairment loss of investments by THB 2.22 
million. 

 
6. Other operating expenses personnel expenses and directors’ remuneration are forecasted to grow by 

4.00% per year according to the management forecast and the policy to increase salary of BFIT which is 
in accordance with the historical data. Premises and equipment expenses are forecasted to grow by 
1.84% in 2017 and during 2019 – 2020. While in 2018 and 2021, they are forecasted to grow by 10.17% 
per year due to an increase in lease payments every 3 years according to historical data during 2013 - 
2015. For taxes and duties, the IFA forecasted based on historical percentage to interest incomes at 
1.89% per year based on the actual ratio in 2016 which is close to the ratios observed in 2013 – 2015 at 
an average of 1.90%. For other expenses, the IFA forecasted at 3.09% of total incomes each year based 
on the actual percentage incurred in 2016. 
 

7. Discount Rate 
The IFA applied the cost of equity (Ke) of BFIT as a discount rate to calculate the present value of 
dividend. Ke can be obtained from the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM) as presented below. 
 
 
 
Where 
Rf   = Risk-free rate which the IFA based on the Thai government bond yield of 30 years as of 

December 28, 2016, which is the preparation date of this report, equals to 3.46% per annum 
(Source:  www.thaibma.or.th) 

 = Beta coefficient of BFIT at 0.817 
Rm = The expected market return which the IFA based on the average change in SET index during 

the past 35 years from 1981 – 2015, equals to 13.82% (Source: www.set.or.th and the 
calculation of the IFA) 

 

Ke = Rf +  (Rm – Rf) 
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Details of the calculation of Ke are presented in the Table below. 
Calculation of the Cost of Equity 
Items Assumptions 

Risk-free Rate (1) 3.46%  
Risk Premium (Rm – Rf) (2) 10.36%  
 (3) 0.817 
Cost of Equity or Ke (4) = (1) + [(3)*(2)] 11.92%  

 
8. Terminal Value 

In calculating the terminal value, the IFA assumed that BFIT will continue to operate its business with a 
perpetual growth rate of zero. This is applied in the scenario where dividend is forecasted at THB 70.00 
million each year. Under the scenario of 95.00% payout ratio, a perpetual growth rate of 1.00% per year is 
applied.   
 

9. Excess capital  
The business objective of BFIT, a financial institution operating Finance company business, gives higher 
priority to maintaining high quality of assets and liquidity than business expansion, conforming to the 
conservative basis. This can be seen from the level of BFIT’s capital-to-risk-asset ratios at 48.21%, 
44.93%, and 44.83% in 2014 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, which were higher than the level required 
by the Bank of Thailand at 8.00% and higher than the ratios of comparable listed companies selected by 
the IFA. When considering the Return on Equity (ROE) of BFIT during 2013 – September 30, 2016, they 
were 5.01% – 5.82%, which were lower than our calculated discount rate at 11.92%. 
 
Therefore, in order to benefit the shareholders, the IFA has included the amount of excess capital above 
the level of ratios maintained by the selected comparable companies as cash flow to equity holders as of 
September 30, 2016 and not considering it as part of interbank and money market items for earning 
future income. In calculating the excess capital, the IFA considered the capital-to-risk-assets ratios of 
selected comparable listed companies with similar business operation as BFIT using conservative basis. 
The IFA took into consideration the ratio of TISCO at 19.60% and made an assumption that BFIT will 
maintain its capital-to-risk-assets ratio at 20.00%. As a result, the excess capital of BFIT as of September 
30, 2016 will be THB 947.31 million (as of September 30, 2016, BFIT had a capital reserve of THB 1,710.35 
million and risky assets of THB 3,815.18 million). The IFA then incorporated such amount of excess capital 
into the calculation of the present value of future cash flows to find the share price of BFIT. The details of 
the capital-to-risk-assets ratios of comparable listed companies are presented below. 
 

Capital-to-Risk-Assets Ratios of Comparable Listed Companies  
With Similar Business Operations as BFIT 

Capital-to-Risk-Assets Ratio (%) December 31, 
2015 

September 30, 
2016 

KKP 16.54 18.80 
TISCO 17.94 19.60 
LHBANK 14.01 14.13 

 
Summary of the projected profit and loss statement is presented in the table below. 
 

 Actual Forecast 

Unit : THB million 2013A 2014A 2015A Jan. - Sept 
2016A 2016E 2017F 2018F 2019F 2020 2021 

Interest incomes 334.50 301.10 261.16 183.65 241.90 231.58  236.86  242.33  248.14  254.31  
Interest expenses 142.00 105.56 103.78 52.08 68.81 72.40  74.56  76.80  79.10  81.47  
Net interest incomes  192.50 195.54 157.38 131.57 173.09 159.19  162.30  165.53  169.05  172.84  
Fees and services income 6.23 6.81 6.99 5.30 7.47 7.71  7.96  8.23  8.51  8.82  
Gain (loss) on investments 3.79 17.60 17.44 1.87 (2.73) -  - - - - 
Other operating incomes 40.69 30.40 35.56 31.53 59.00 42.91  45.00  47.20  49.52  51.94  
Other operating expenses 
   Personnel expenses 61.20 63.15 63.77 43.91 63.19 65.72  68.35  71.08  73.93  76.88  
   Directors’ remuneration 5.31 4.80 5.00 4.05 5.06 5.27  5.48  5.70  5.92  6.16  
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 Actual Forecast 

Unit : THB million 2013A 2014A 2015A Jan. - Sept 
2016A 2016E 2017F 2018F 2019F 2020 2021 

   Premises and equipment  
expenses 

12.09 12.31 13.56 10.04 13.58 13.83  15.24  15.52  15.80  17.41  

   Taxes and duties 5.89 6.23 4.87 3.47 4.61 4.38  4.48  4.58  4.69  4.81  
   Other expenses 15.79 17.37 10.18 7.10 9.51 8.72  8.96  9.20  9.46  9.74  
Other operating expenses 100.27 103.86 97.38 68.57 95.96 97.92  102.50  106.08  109.81  115.00  
Profit (loss) before income 
tax expense 

142.91 146.48 119.99 101.69 140.88 111.88  112.76  114.88  117.26  118.60  

Income tax expense 40.26 50.32 21.53 13.07 13.00 22.38  22.55  22.98  23.45  23.72  
Profit (loss) for the period 102.65 96.16 98.46 88.62 127.88 89.50  90.20  91.90  93.81  94.88  

 
Summary of the projected dividend distribution to shareholders under the two scenarios i.e. the distribution 
of THB 70.00 million dividend each year and the distribution of 95.00% of net profits in the prior year since 
the IFA considers that BFIT has the ability to distribute dividend at higher than the current payout ratio based 
on its capital-to-risk-assets ratio as well as the ratio of liquid assets to deposits and borrowings which are 
much higher than the regulated level. Details of the forecasted BFIT share price under different payout 
scenarios are presented in the table below. 
 
BFIT’s share valuation in the scenario of 95% dividend payout ratio 

(THB million) 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 
Net profits 127.88 89.50 90.20 91.90 93.81 94.88 
Dividend distribution   121.48 85.03 85.69 87.31 89.12 
Terminal value      823.93 
Present value of dividend 
distribution 

790.43      

Add excess capital 947.31      
Total shareholders’ equity 1,737.74      
Number of BFIT shares (million) 200.00      
Fair value of BFIT share  8.69      
 
BFIT’s share valuation in the scenario of THB 70 million dividend distribution each year and zero perpetual 
growth rate 

 (THB 
million) 

Dividend distribution each year 70.00 
Discount rate 11.92% 
Present value of dividend 
distribution 

587.02 

Add excess capital 947.31 
Total shareholders’ equity 1,534.33 
Number of BFIT shares (million) 200.00 
Fair value of BFIT share  7.67 
 
From the above Table, the fair value of BFIT shares based on the Dividend Discount Model is THB 7.67 – 
8.69 per share, in which the range of fair values covers the acquisition price of BFIT shares from the Share 
Collector at THB 8.20 per share. The lower bound is lower by THB 0.53 per share or by 6.46% and the upper 
bound is higher by THB 0.49 per share or by 5.98%. However, this range of fair value is lower than the 
acquisition price of BFIT shares from the other 4 sellers at THB 10.50 per share by 17.24% – 26.95% or by THB 
1.81 - 2.83 per share. This range of fair value is also lower than the acquisition price of BFIT shares from the 
tender offer at THB 11.42 per share by 23.91% – 32.84% or by THB 2.73 - 3.75 per share. 
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Summary of BFIT’s Share Valuation by the IFA 

Valuation Approaches 

Share Price 
by the IFA 
(THB per 

share) 

Share Price by the IFA Higher (Lower)  
Than the Transaction Price (%) 

Acquisition from 
Miss Narissara 
Kitpipit at THB 
8.20 per share 

Acquisition from 
Other 

Shareholders at 
THB 10.50 per 

share 

Acquisition from 
the Tender Offer 
at THB 11.42 per 

share 

1. Book Value Approach 10.40 26.83 (0.95) (8.93) 
2. Adjusted Book Value Approach 10.48 27.80 (0.19) (8.23) 
3. Market Comparable Approach     

- Price to Book Value Ratio 
Approach 

12.28 – 13.68 49.76 – 66.83 16.95 – 30.29 7.53 – 19.79 

- Price to Earnings Ratio Approach 5.44 – 6.35 (22.56) – (33.66) (39.52) – (48.19) (44.40) – (52.36) 
4. Historical Market Price Approach 9.79 – 11.26 19.39 – 37.32 (6.76) - 7.24 (1.40) – (14.27) 
5. Dividend Discount Model 7.67 – 8.69 (6.46) – 5.98 (17.24) – (26.95) (23.91) – (32.84) 
 
Summary of BFIT ordinary share valuation by the IFA 
Each valuation approach has its own advantages and disadvantages. The Book Value Approach and the 
Adjusted Book Value Approach considers the value of BFIT only at a certain point in time without considering 
its growth potential as well as future operating capability. 
 
Although BFIT paid equal amount of dividend in the past 3 years, the future amount of dividend distribution 
will depend on its future operating performance, its choices of investments in different securities, as well as 
its ability to maintain capital adequacy ratios in compliance with relevant regulations. Therefore, the IFA 
views that Dividend Discount Model is not appropriate for the valuation of BFIT shares. 
 
For Historical Market Price Approach, although having relatively lower trading liquidity, Historical Market 
Price Approach considers the demand and supply of BFIT’s ordinary shares traded in the SET by investors 
whom taking into consideration the relevant news, the estimated future performance of BFIT, as well as the 
overall market and economic condition. 
 
The Market Comparable Approach, both the Price to Earnings Ratio Approach and the Price to Book Value 
Ratio Approach, has a limitation from the difference of listed companies selected for comparison such as 
business size and policy. Additionally, the approach does not take into consideration the ability to generate 
cash flows in the future. The Price to Earnings Ratio Approach considers only the profits generating capability 
at a certain point in time without considering the net asset values of BFIT. Although the Price to Book Value 
Ratio Approach faces the same limitation of difference in selected comparable listed companies, it takes into 
consideration the values of BFIT’s assets and liabilities, which are mostly liquid financial assets/liabilities such 
as investment in equity securities, unit trusts, debt securities, loans, interbank and money market items, and 
deposits, all of which have been marked to market as well as having a complete provisions set up for loss and 
impairment according to the regulations of the Bank of Thailand. Additionally, the Price to Book Value Ratio 
Approach reflects the level of premium (discount) willing to be paid by investors. Therefore, the IFA views 
that the appropriate valuation approach for the valuation of BFIT shares is the Price to Book Value Ratio 
Approach and the Historical Market Price Approach. The IFA concluded that the range of fair values of BFIT 
share is between THB 9.79 – 13.68 per share. The acquisition price of BFIT shares from Miss Narissara 
Kitpipit at THB 8.20 per share, from other shareholders at THB 10.50 per share, and from the tender offer 
at THB 11.42 per share, are all lower or fall within the above range of fair values evaluated by the IFA. 
 
1.3.2 Reasonableness of the Transaction Conditions  
 
The IFA has considered the conditions of the transaction as appeared in the Memorandum of Understanding 
between SAWAD and the Share Collector, the Share Purchase Agreement between BFIT and the Share 
Collector, and the summary of key conditions underlying the tender offer for all remaining securities of BFIT, 
which the details appear in Section 1 Item 1.1.2 of this report. The IFA has an opinion as follows; 
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o Certain conditions and/or requirements under these agreements will ensure the benefit to the 
Company in obtaining the asset with the same condition as was agreed by both parties prior to closing 
i.e. the conditions precedent which requires that there must not be an event of change which 
constitutes material adverse effect to the business operation, financial position or assets of BFIT, 
before the date on which the share purchase is completed. 

o Certain conditions and/or requirements are for complying with relevant laws or regulations i.e. the 
condition which requires the acquisition of BFIT shares and the tender offer for all securities of BFIT to 
be approved by the shareholders’ meeting with affirmative votes of not less than three-fourths of the 
total number of votes of the shareholders who attend the meeting and are entitled to vote and the 
condition which indicates that the procedures and timeline of the tender offer shall be in accordance 
with the Takeover Notification and the relevant regulations. 

o The conditions underlying the share purchase transaction are normal conditions which can be agreed 
upon mutually and voluntarily by both parties i.e. the consideration paid to the Share Collector for her 
duty of collecting shares, the execution of share acquisition on the Big Lot Board or other method to 
be determined by the Company, the settlement of share purchase transaction to the seller group in 
cash.  

 
With the aforementioned reasons, the IFA views that the conditions for the acquisition of BFIT shares from 
the group of sellers and via the tender offer are appropriate. However, the IFA views that SAWAD may 
encounter risk associated with a condition per the Memorandum of Understanding with the Share Collector 
which states that SAWAD shall responsible for any damages to the Share Collector in the event that the Share 
Collector is damaged from performing her duty. 
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Section 2 : Summary of the Opinions by the Independent Financial Advisor 
 
Based on our analysis on the reasonableness of the transaction which includes the fairness of the transaction 
price and the conditions underlying the acquisition transaction of BFIT shares from the the Seller Group and the 
tender offer for all securities of BFIT, The IFA views that this transaction is appropriate due to the following 
reasons; 
1. The investment will be made in a company with a good business potential which could benefit or 

support the core business of the Company. SAWAD and BFIT together could bring positive synergies 
through each party’s business potential and/or competitive advantages to the new financial business 
group. This is one of the strategies to support the sustainable long-term growth of both SAWAD Group 
and BFIT in the future. The benefits to be realized from the potential synergies among the businesses of 
both firms after the transaction include the increase in variety of lending products and/or financial services 
of SAWAD Group, the increase in alternative sources of funds for the business of SAWAD Group through 
the depository business of BFIT which bears lower cost of funds comparing to other sources, the increase 
in service channels and ability to penetrate target customers of the businesses that BFIT will operate 
instead of SAWAD in the future (i.e. certain types of collateralized loan business of SAWAD and personal 
loan business of Fast Money) through the available branches of SAWAD Group all over the country as well 
as the business support personnel who are experienced in the lending business, etc. Such business synergy 
will result in SAWAD, as a parent company of the financial business group, will have an opportunity to 
earn a good return on investment from its subsidiaries and/or associated companies (including BFIT) 
according to its objective underlying this transaction. The management of the Company views that the 
benefits to be received from the acquisition of BFIT shares and allowing BFIT to offer certain types of 
loans instead of SAWAD are worthwhile. Since the Company will be able to better expand its loan 
services as well as access lower costs of funds even though SAWAD will lose the opportunity to operate 
certain types of secured loans by itself to BFIT in the future after the transaction. 
 

2. The investment will be made in a company that has a sound financial status and positive profits as well 
as good business potential (because BFIT has more licenses to operate Finance business and other types 
of financial services5 than SAWAD Group. Also, BFIT has been able to maintain its financial ratios above 
the requirement of the Bank of Thailand. Thus, BFIT has the ability to expand its lending business and to 
further invest in the future. Additionally, BFIT has an access to lower costs of funds than SAWAD). As a 
result, SAWAD Group will have the opportunity to earn a good return on investment as targeted, 
especially if the business collaboration within the financial business group of SAWAD according to the 
restructuring plan post acquisition of BFIT shares (which includes the expansion of BFIT’s lending 
business to cover certain types of collateralized loans and personal loans) are executed as planned. 
 

3. The investment will facilitate SAWAD Group in building portfolio of new businesses that are not 
currently available such as depository business, commercial lending, and loans for SME, all of which are 
currently operated by BFIT. This will enable SAWAD to earn returns from investing in new types of 
businesses and services as well as help lessen the time required comparing to SAWAD obtaining the 
licenses to operate the business from relating regulatory and launch the new products and/or services 
by itself. This is because BFIT has already owned licenses to operate Finance business, experienced 
personnel, customer base, information technology system, as well as a certain level of awareness 
among targeted customers given that BFIT has been operating Finance business and providing variety of 
financial services for a long period of time (BFIT was established in 1972). 
 

4. The investment will establish a good image and credibility in providing different types of loans and/or 
other financial services of SAWAD Group which will be partly operated by BFIT in the future (given that 
BFIT is a Finance company licensed by the Ministry of Finance and under the supervision of the Bank of 
Thailand. Also, BFIT had a good financial status and operating performance in the past few years). This 

                                                             
5    BFIT was granted the license No.8/2516 by the Ministry of Finance to engage in 4 types of finance businesses 

including business of finance for commerce, business of finance for development, business of finance for 
disposition and consumption, and business of finance for housing. Moreover, BFIT is approved to act as 
debenture holder representative and/or trustee. 
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will enhance SAWAD Group’s competitiveness to the level of its competitors which are other financial 
institutions. Also, it will help preparing SAWAD Group for future business expansion into other types of 
financial services both domestically and internationally in the ASEAN region.  

 
5. The business restructuring within SAWAD Group through having BFIT, a finance company licensed by the 

Ministry of Finance and under the supervision of the Bank of Thailand, who currently operates in 
compliance with the relating laws and regulations of the government agencies, providing some 
collateralized loans and uncollateralized personal loans instead of SAWAD and Fast Money (which are 
non-bank institutions) in the future, will help preparing the Company and mitigating potential business 
risks in the event that the government issues stricter policies to control non-financial institutions or non-
bank businesses in the future. 
 

6. The highest acquisition price of BFIT shares from the tender offer at THB 11.42 per share are in the 
appropriate range of fair value evaluated by the IFA using Price to Book Value Ratio Approach and 
Historical Market Price Approach which are THB 9.79 - 13.68 per share (the details of BFIT share 
valuation appear in Section 1 Item 1.3.1 of this report).   
 

7. The conditions underlying the transaction per the Share Purchase Agreement are appropriate since they 
will ensure the benefits to the Company in obtaining the asset with the same condition as was agreed by 
both parties prior to closing. Meanwhile, other conditions and/or agreements are in compliance with 
the laws or related regulations such as the transaction must be approved by the shareholders’ meeting 
with a vote of no less than three-quarters of the total votes cast by the shareholders attending the 
meeting and eligible to vote. As for other conditions of the share purchase transaction, they are normal 
conditions agreed upon mutually and voluntarily by both parties i.e. the consideration paid to the Share 
Collector for her duty of collecting shares. However, the IFA views that SAWAD may encounter risk 
associated with a condition per the Memorandum of Understanding with the Share Collector which 
states that SAWAD shall responsible for any damages to the Share Collector in the event that the Share 
Collector is damaged from performing her duty. 

 
Hence, the shareholders should approve the acquisition transaction of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and 
the tender offer for all securities of BFIT. However, there are disadvantages and risks that the shareholders 
should take into consideration before making the decision to approve the transaction as follows;  
1. Risk associated with SAWAD not benefiting from the business synergies or realizing return from its 

increasing stakes in BFIT as expected because SAWAD does not acquire additional BFIT shares from the 
tender offer or does not acquire adequate shares to control BFIT’s business direction and resolution of 
the shareholders’ meeting on common issues or on significant issues. As a result, SAWAD may be unable 
to effectively integrate policy, business plan, and other aspects of managing BFIT into its plan to 
establish a financial business group. This might be because the remaining shareholders of BFIT recognize 
the potential growth of BFIT after becoming the provider of certain types of collateralized loan and 
personal loan instead of SAWAD in the future, or in the event that the tender offer price, which will not 
exceed THB 11.42 per share, is lower than the market price of BFIT shares traded in the stock market at 
the time of the tender offer.  

 
Additionally, after establishing the financial business group, SAWAD will generate revenues from the 
operating performances of other subsidiaries such as revenues of Srisawad 2014 – Interest income from 
a certain types of collateralized loan services and service fees from Banking Agent services provided to 
BFIT and other companies under SAWAD Group as well as revenues of Fast Money – Interest income 
from Nano finance loans. Meanwhile, interest income from certain types of collateralized loans (that are 
not redundant with Srisawad 2014) and uncollateralized personal loans, which SAWAD will assign BFIT 
to operate in the future, will be earned through SAWAD’s shareholding in BFIT according to the final 
shareholding percentage obtained from the tender offer. In the event that none of BFIT shareholders 
accept the tender offer or only a few shareholders accept the tender offer, although SAWAD will earn 
Banking Agent service fees and other service fees from the additional services to be provided. However, 
due to the uncertainty of revenues from certain types of collateralized loans that BFIT will begin to 
provide post transaction which largely depends on the management efficiency of BFIT and SAWAD as 



The opinion of IFA on the acquisition of assets 
(For the purpose of translation only) 

 

      56 
 

well as the business environment in the future, SAWAD may be at risk of earning lower return from 
increasing its shareholding stakes in BFIT and the business restructuring, comparing to the return from 
pursuing its own organic growth investment opportunity. 
 
However, the business restructuring according to the plan to establish a financial business group is the 
required procedure under the condition of the Bank of Thailand, permitting the Company to hold more 
than 10% shares in BFIT, and also a preparation of SAWAD for any possible changes in the laws 
governing lending businesses in the future. Additionally, the management of SAWAD is confident in its 
business plan for BFIT which utilizes the competitive advantages of both firms and thus will likely bring 
in potential growth to BFIT. As a result, SAWAD will have an opportunity to earn a good return on 
investment as well as realize positive benefits to the operations of SAWAD Group as a whole in the long 
run as expected. 
 

2.  The transaction might impact the Company’s operating performance and its ability to distribute 
dividend in the future due to the increasing amount of debt burden and interest expenses from the 
loans that SAWAD will use in the acquisition of BFIT shares. In the event that all remaining BFIT 
shareholders accept the tender offer, total consideration (inclusive of the consideration to be paid to 
the Share Collector and related transaction fees) will be THB 1,980.25 million. As a result, total liabilities 
of SAWAD will increase to THB 14,914.90 million, comprising interest bearing debts of THB 14,333.86 
million. Also, the debt to equity ratio will increase to approximately 2.40 times, calculated based on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company as of September 30, 2016. Additionally, there might be 
an impact from the recognition of goodwill in the event that the consideration paid for BFIT shares is 
higher than the fair value of BFIT’s assets and liabilities as of the transaction date. If after the 
transaction, the operating performance of BFIT is not as expected, the Company may have to test the 
impairment of goodwill which may affect the Company’s financial statements in the future. In this 
regards, SAWAD may be affected by the recognition of goodwill in the event that it has a shareholding 
stake in BFIT post transaction at approximately equal to or more than 54.73%. In the case SAWAD will 
hold 100.00% of BFIT shares, amount of goodwill will be approximately THB 104.49 million (calculated 
from the total transaction value of THB 1,980.25 million, comprising of the consideration for the 
acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group and the tender offer, related transaction fees, and the 
consideration to the Share Collector). According to the management of SAWAD, the excess of 
consideration paid over the net asset value of BFIT is the value of license to operate Finance business 
and the management views that such amount of goodwill will not significantly affect the consolidated 
financial statements of SAWAD. On the other hand, in the case where SAWAD acquires 26.51% shares of 
BFIT from the Share Collector and all remaining shareholders of BFIT, which altogether hold 63.65%, 
accept the tender offer, SAWAD will hold 100.00% of BFIT shares. As a result, the amount of goodwill 
will be approximately THB 140 million. According to the management of SAWAD, the excess of 
consideration paid over the net asset value of BFIT is the value of license to operate Finance business. In 
this regards, the Company will arrange for the appraisal of fair value of BFIT’s assets and liabilities, both 
tangible and intangible, as of the transaction date. The appraised value might result in a different 
amount of goodwill from the above. In the case where SAWAD acquires 26.51% shares of BFIT from the 
Seller Group and no other BFIT shareholders accept the tender offer, SAWAD will hold 36.35% of BFIT 
shares. As a result, there will be a gain from bargain purchase at approximately THB 28.95 million which 
will be recorded in the profit and loss statement (calculated from the total transaction value of THB 
522.49 million, comprising of the consideration for the acquisition of BFIT shares from the Seller Group, 
related transaction fees, and the consideration to the Share Collector) because the purchase price is 
lower than the net book value (additional details appear in Section 1 Item 1.2.2 of this report). 

 
3. The risk associated with not realizing expected return from the additional investment in BFIT because 

the operating performance of BFIT is not according to plan due to different factors such as; 
o The declining amount of deposits, which is one of the major sources of funds for BFIT’s lending 

business at present as well as for future business expansion (i.e. collateralized loan and 
uncollateralized personal loan businesses that BFIT will operate instead of SAWAD and Fast Money 
in the future). The declining amount of deposits may result from the declining amount of deposits 
from related persons or companies in the future after SAWAD becoming the major shareholder of 
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BFIT or the impact from a gradual change in the coverage of insured deposit according to the 
announcement of the Royal Decree on Coverage of Insured Deposits B.E. 2559 enacted on July 7, 2016, 
that may result in depositors resorting to larger financial institutions and/or big depositors 
diversifying their accounts at many financial institutions in order to minimize exposure to loss. 
However, related persons or companies have continued to deposit money with BFIT in the past. 

o The growth of collateralized loans and uncollateralized personal loans to new customers, which will 
be provided by BFIT in the future (instead of SAWAD and Fast Money who are the current 
providers), is not according to plan. 

 The above events may occur as a result of many causes such as an economic slowdown, an increasing 
competition in the future, a change in market interest rate, etc.  

 
4.     SAWAD as a holding company will assume more roles in governing the businesses of other companies 

under its group to be in compliance with the regulations regarding the consolidated supervisions and 
other related rules of the Bank of Thailand. For example, to establish sufficient allowance for doubtful 
accounts based on the BOT’s standard, to evaluate the sufficiency of the capital reserve and liquidity of 
the financial group, to report on the group business policies, various internal risk management policies, 
and to prepare financial reports on the group consolidation basis, etc. Moreover, the additional 
investment in BFIT, who operates certain businesses similar to SAWAD, will result in SAWAD facing 
concentrated risks in lending business and other financial services. In case SAWAD is unable to evaluate 
and/or arrange for proper and adequate risk management tools, it may affect the financial status and 
operating performance of SAWAD in the future. 

 
 The management of SAWAD, together with the Company's financial advisor, prepared financial 

projections of the financial group during the next 3 years on a Solo Basis (BFIT) and Full Consolidation 
Basis (the Company and all subsidiaries) to preliminarily assess the impact on the financial positions and 
the performance of the Company Group, and expected that the compliance to the BOT’s regulations will 
not affect the Group’s expansion plan, but rather enhance the governance and the financial strength, as 
well as lower its operating risk. Additionally, if BFIT is to expand its lending business beyond its existing 
loan services, such business plan must be assessed for readiness by the Bank of Thailand before the start 
of service.   
 

5.  The risk associated with SAWAD unable to acquire the entire 26.51% of BFIT shares as expected by 
SAWAD since the other 4 shareholders or some of them especially the 2 shareholders who agree to sell 
verbally (namely Mr. Somyos Vinitchaikul and Mr. Thanit Sethikul) do not comply with the agreement to 
sell BFIT shares to SAWAD as agreed with the Share Collector.  If such case happens, SAWAD will 
continue to acquire 9.81% BFIT shares from the Share Collector. 

 
6. The risk associated with the condition in the Memorandum of Understanding between SAWAD and the 

Share Collector in which SAWAD agrees to be responsible for any damages, which may occur to the 
Share Collector from performing her duty. Additionally, the Share Collector may demand the Company 
to acquire 9.81% of BFIT shares according to the condition in the said Memorandum of Understanding. 

 
7.  The Company and BFIT may lose operational flexibility since both are listed companies on the SET who 

must comply with the rules and regulations of both the SEC and the SET such as in the event that BFIT, a 
subsidiary of the Company, will enter into an acquisition or disposal of asset transaction or connected 
transaction with the transaction value and size greater than the threshold set out by the SEC and the SET 
(the transaction value and size are on the basis of the consolidated financial statements of the Company 
and the consolidated financial statements of BFIT). As a result, an approval from the Board of Directors 
and/or the shareholders’ meeting of both the Company and BFIT may be required to further proceed 
with certain actions. 

 
8.    In the event that the remaining shareholders of BFIT accept the tender offer of the Company and result 

in the Company holding 100.00% shares in BFIT, BFIT may encounter the risk associated with 
maintaining its listing status on the SET due to the incompliance with the free float requirement of the 
SET pursuant to the Notification of the Board of Governors of the Stock Exchange of Thailand Re: 
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Maintaining the Status of Listed Companies in the Exchange, 2011, indicating that a listed company shall 
maintain its qualification with respect to share distribution so that its ordinary shares shall be held by 
minority shareholders in a number not less than 150 and such shareholders shall hold shares in 
aggregate of not less than 15% of the paid-up capital of the listed company. As a result, SAWAD may be 
required to delist BFIT from the SET in the future. However, according to the interview with the 
management, upon completion of the tender offer, in case SAWAD has a shareholding stake in BFIT 
above 85.00% of total paid-up shares of BFIT, SAWAD will sell BFIT shares in the SET so that BFIT will 
comply with the relevant free float requirement. 

 
9.  The risk associated with SAWAD unable to complete the transaction after all of the transaction costs 

have been incurred because the conditions precedent cannot be fulfilled. For example, the 
shareholders’ meeting does not resolve to approve the transactions with affirmative votes of not less 
than three-fourths of the total number of votes of the shareholders who attend the meeting and are 
entitled to vote or there is an event of change which constitutes material adverse effect to the business 
operation, financial position or assets of BFIT, before the date on which the share purchase is 
completed. However, the management of SAWAD views that the related transaction expenses will not 
significantly affect the Company comparing to the benefits to be obtained by the Company from 
entering into the transaction. 

 
In this regard, the decision to cast a vote approving the entering into transaction shall be subjected to the 
shareholders’ discretion. The shareholders are advised to study the information and consider the reasons, 
advantages, disadvantages, risk factors, limitations and opinions on the factors relating to the entering into 
transaction attached hereto, and shall exercise the care before casting a vote to ensure that they are able to 
consider and approve the entering into transaction in an appropriate manner. 
Jaydee Partners Limited, as the Independent Financial Advisory of the Company, has performed the study 
and analysis with care in accordance with the professional standard and has provided the opinion based on 
the fair analysis of information by taking into consideration the benefits of all shareholders. 
 
The opinion of the independent financial advisor is based on the information which has been received from 
the Company as well as interviews with the Company’s management, publicly available information and 
other relevant documents. The Independent Financial Advisor assumes that all information received is 
truthful and correct. Therefore, if the said information is incorrect and/or is not truthful and/or has been 
significantly changed in the future, it will affect the opinion of the Independent Financial Advisor. Therefore, 
the Independent Financial Advisor is unable to certify or warrant the future impact that may arise to the 
Company and the shareholders. In addition, the opinion of the Independent Financial Advisor is only to 
provide comments to the shareholders, and providing this opinion does not warrant the accomplishment of 
the Proposed Transaction and any impact flowing from the Transaction to the Company.   
 
This English report of the Independent Financial Advisor’s opinion has been prepared solely for the 
convenience of foreign shareholders of the Company and should not be relied upon as the definitive and 
official document. The Thai language version of the Independent Financial Advisor’s opinion is the definitive 
and official document and shall prevail in all aspects in the event of any inconsistency with this English 
Translation. 
 
 
Yours Sincerely, 
 
-Mrs. Duangjai Lorlertwit-   -Ms. Jirayong Anuman-Rajadhon- 
 
(Mrs. Duangjai Lorlertwit)    (Ms. Jirayong Anuman-Rajadhon) 
Executive Partner    Managing Partner / Operation Controller 
Jaydee Partners Limited, the Independent Financial Advisor 
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Enclosure 1:  General Information of Srisawad Power 1979 Public Company Limited 
 
1. Company Background 

  
The Company was originally founded by the Kaewbootta family in 1979 to operate an auto title loan business 
in Petchaboon province. From then until year 2000, the Company continued to expand its service coverage 
by opening new branches in other provinces to include financial services offered to customers who needed 
financial aids but had limited access to the financing services offered by banks and financial institutions.  
 
At present, the Company and its subsidiaries offer auto-backed loans and home-backed loans through their 
2,027 branches (information as of September 30, 2016) under the service mark / tradename “Mee Baan Mee 
Rod Ngern Sod Than Jai”. The Company’s strengths include its prompt services, fast approval and lending 
process, as well as easy access and close relationship with customers. The Company offers financing services 
to general retail customers in Bangkok, Bangkok’s vicinity, and other provinces nationwide.  
 
The Company’s major changes and development can be summarized below. 
 

2007 Sold the existing business which included branches and service mark to another operator in 
the industry. 

2008 Srisawad Power 1979 Company Limited (formally known as PV and KK Service 2008 Company 
Limited) was founded with the registered capital of THB 1 million. This company did not 
operate any business during its initial phase. 

2009 Acquired Srisawad Power Company Limited (“SP”) (formally known as Power 99 Company 
Limited). SP engaged in debt collection business and auto title loan business. Later on, SP 
expanded its debt collection and lending businesses to include 136 branches. 

2010 – 2011 o The Company increased its registered and paid-up capital to THB 5 million and launched 
the auto-backed loans and home-backed loan businesses under the service slogan “Mee 
Baan Mee Rod Ngern Sod Than Jai”. 

o Restructured the business by acquiring 2 companies which did not have business operation 
namely: 
 Srisawad Power 1982 Company Limited (“SP 1982”) (formally known as K.P.N. Holding 

Company Limited) 
 Fast Money Company Limited (“Fast Money”) (formally known as J.D.T. Money Service 

Company Limited) 
o Increased the registered and paid-up capital to THB 200 million. 
o SP’s business was transferred to the Company through the transfer of loan receivables and 

hire purchase receivables for operation and management at the Company and SP 1982. 
o The branch network was expanded to include 265 branches by the end of 2011. 

2012 The Company increased its registered capital from THB 200 million to THB 750 million. 
2013 The Extraordinary Shareholder’s Meeting No.1/2013 held on May 31, 2013 approved the 

Company’s conversion into public company with a change of par value from THB 100 per share to 
THB 1 per share and also approved the increase in the registered capital from THB 750 million to 
THB 1,000 million by increasing THB 250 million of capital, comprising of 250 million shares to be 
allotted in the initial public offering.  

2014 o The Company carried on the initial public offering for the total shares of 250 million with a 
par value of THB 1 per share at an offering price of THB 6.90 per share. In addition, the 
Company registered the change of paid-up capital to THB 1,000 million (1,000 million 
ordinary shares with a par value of THB 1 per share) with the Business Development 
Department, Ministry of Commerce, on May 2, 2014. Then, the Stock Exchange of Thailand 
listed 1,000 million ordinary shares with a par value of THB 1 per share as trading securities 
and began its first trading on May 8, 2014. 

o Issued senior and unsecured bonds in the amount of THB 500 million with maturity of 1 
year and 6 months offered to institutional investors and high net worth investors on June 
30, 2014. 
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o The Company founded Srisawad Asset Management Company Limited with the registered 
capital of THB 25 million. The new company was set to operate debt collection services and 
purchase distressed assets from financial institutions for management with an operating 
license being granted by the Bank of Thailand on July 9, 2014. 

o On September 9, 2014, the Extraordinary Shareholder’s Meeting No.3/2014 resolved to 
approve the Company to receive the business transfer from SP 1982, the Company’s 
subsidiary. Then, SP 1982 registered its dissolution. In addition, such shareholder’s meeting 
approved the issuance and offering of debentures from the previously planned amount of 
THB 3 billion to THB 7 billion. The debenture maybe subordinated or unsubordinated, with 
gradual or balloon repayment of principle, secured or unsecured, with or without 
debenture representative. The maximum outstanding debenture will not exceed THB 7 
billion at any point in time. 

2015 o Increased the registered capital from THB 1,000 million to THB 1,060 million by issuing 60 
million ordinary shares at a par value of THB 1 per share partly for stock dividend payment 
amounted to 20 million shares and partly to reserve for the exercise of warrants No.1 
allotted to the Company’s existing shareholders amounted to 40 million shares. 

o Received the Nano Finance operating license granted by the Bank of Thailand. 
o Srisawad Asset Management Company Limited increased its registered capital from THB 25 

million to THB 100 million and was renamed to “SWP Asset Management Company Limited” 
(“SWPAM”). 

o The Company founded Srisawad International Holding Company Limited (“SIH”) with the 
registered capital of THB 10 million. The new company was set to be a holding company. 

o SIH (the Company’s subsidiary) founded a subsidiary namely Srisawad Vietnam LLC with 
the registered capital of THB 200 million. The new company was set to operate trading 
business in Vietnam. 

2016 o In February, the Company sold its investment in SWPAM comprising 49,996 shares at a par 
value of THB 100 per share to outside investor. The sold shares represented 4.99% of the 
total registered ordinary shares of SWPAM. 

o The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for the Year 2016 held on April 21, 2016 
approved the important agendas as follows: 
 Decreased the registered capital from THB 1,060 million to THB 1,059.99 million by 

decreasing 6,323 ordinary shares with a par value of THB 1 per share, which were left 
from the allotted stock dividend and the allotted shares reserved for warrant exercise. 

 Increased the registered capital from THB 1,059.99 million to THB 1,086.49 million by 
issuing 26.50 million ordinary shares with a par value of THB 1 per share. The 25.50 
million ordinary shares were allotted for stock dividend payment and the remaining 
1.00 million ordinary shares were allotted to reserve for the exercise of warrants No.1 
after the right adjustment. 

 Issuance and offering of debenture amounted to THB 15,000 million (from the 
previously planned amount of THB 7,000 million with the details as follows: 
-  Type :    All types of debentures, subordinated or unsubordinated, gradual or balloon 

payment of principle, secured or unsecured, with or without debenture 
representative. 

-  Size :    The maximum outstanding debenture at any point in time will not exceed 
THB 15 billion or the equivalent in other currencies. 

-  Term :   Not exceed 270 days for short term debenture and not exceed 10 years for 
long term debenture. 

o In May, the Company founded a new subsidiary namely SWP Services Company Limited 
(“SWP Services”) with the registered capital of THB 15.00 million to provide management 
and advisory services pertaining to instalment sales and retail lending businesses, for both 
domestic and international markets. 

o On June 27, 2016, the Company invested in 19,680,000 ordinary shares of BFIT according 
to the resolution of the Board of Directors’ meeting at the acquired price of THB 8.00 per 
share, totaling to THB 157.71 million (including fees). The acquired shares represented 
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9.84% of total shares of BFIT. 
o In July, the Company sold its investment in SWP Services, comprising of 149,997 ordinary 

shares with a par value of THB 100 per share, at the price of THB 100.07 per share, totaling 
to THB 15.01 million, to SIH, which is the Company’s subsidiary. 

o In October, the Company founded a new subsidiary namely Srisawad Power 2014 Company 
Limited (“Srisawad 2014”) with the registered capital of THB 1 million to provide debt 
collection services. Also, SIH (the Company’s subsidiary) founded a subsidiary namely 
United Coastal Company Limited (“UC”) with the registered capital of THB 1 million to 
invest in  and/or joint venture with foreign companies which have finance and/or consumer 
finance licenses. 

Source : Form 56-1 for the year 2015 and www.set.or.th 
 
As of December 28, 2016, the Company had a registered capital of THB 1,086,493,519 and a paid-up capital 
of 1,045,496,492 million, comprising 1,045,496,492 ordinary shares with a par value of THB 1 per share. In 
addition, the Company issued and allotted the Warrants to Purchase the Ordinary Shares of Srisawad Power 
1979 Public Company Limited No.1 (“SAWAD-W1”) to its existing shareholders on a pro rata basis under the 
rights offering. Details of SAWAD-W1 are presented as follows: 
 

Name of Securities  :  Warrants to purchase the ordinary shares of Srisawad Power 1979 Public 
Company Limited No.1 (SAWAD-W1) 

Allotment Method  :  Allot to the existing shareholders of the Company on a pro rata basis (rights 
offering) in the ratio of 25 ordinary shares per 1 unit of warrant. 

No. of Warrants Issued  :  39,997,885 units 
No. of Ordinary Shares 
Issuable upon the 
Exercise of Warrants  

:  39,997,885 shares at a par value of THB 1 per share. Later on, the Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders for the Year 2016 approved the issuance and 
allotment of 999,895 ordinary shares to reserve for the right adjustment of 
SAWAD-W1 upon the Company’s payment of stock dividend. The total number 
of ordinary shares reserved for the exercise of warrants (post right adjustment) 
are thus altogether of 40,997,780 shares. 

No. of Remaining 
Warrants  

:  39,997,885 units (as of September 30, 2016, the first exercise date has not yet 
arrived. The first exercise date is the last business day of November 2017).  

No. of Remaining 
Ordinary Shares 
Issuable upon the 
Exercise of Warrants 

:  40,997,780 shares with a par value of THB 1 per share (as of September 30, 
2016, the first exercise date has not yet arrived. The first exercise date is the last 
business day of November 2017).  

Term of Warrants  :  Not exceeding 5 years from the issuance date. The maturity date of SAWAD-W1 
is on June 11, 2020. 

Issuance Date  :  June 12, 2015 
Exercise Ratio and 
Exercise Price 

:  1 unit of the warrant is entitled to purchase 1 ordinary share. The exercise price 
is THB 60 per share (subject to any adjustment as specified in the terms and 
conditions). Later on, the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for the Year 
2016 held on April 21, 2016 resolved to approve the stock dividend payment. To 
comply with the terms and conditions of SAWAD-W1, the Company adjusted 
the exercise ratio to “1 unit of the warrant is entitled to purchase 1.025 ordinary 
share” and adjusted the exercise price to “THB 58.537 per share”.  

Exercise Period : The last business day of May and November each year until the maturity date. 
The first exercise date is the last business day of November 2017 which is 
November 30, 2017 and the last exercise date is May 29, 2020. 

Source : Form 56-1 for the year 2015 of SAWAD and www.set.or.th 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries has a debenture facility and can issue debenture at the maximum amount 
of THB 15,000 million at any point in time. On September 30, 2016, the Company and its subsidiaries issued 
senior and unsecured debentures without representative to the general investors and institutional investors. 
The total amount of issued debentures, both to be matured within 1 year and longer, is altogether of THB 
5,540 million. 
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As of December 28, 2016, the entities that the Company hold shares directly and indirectly of at least 10% of 
the total paid-up shares are as follows: 
 

Name 
Percentage of 
Shares Held  
by SAWAD  

Types of Business 

Direct Subsidiaries 
Fast Money Company Limited  99.99 Offer hire purchase loans for  

new motorcycles, personal loans,  
and Nano Finance loans  

Srisawad Asset Management Company 
Limited   

90.00 Operate debt collection services and 
purchase distressed assets for management 

Srisawad International Holding Company 
Limited 

90.00 Invest in other companies domestically  
and internationally 

Srisawad Power 2014 Company Limited 97.00 Provide debt collection services 
Indirect Subsidiaries through SAWAD Holding 
Srisawad Vietnam LLC 100.00 Operate commercial auto trading  

in Vietnam  
SWP Services Company Limited  99.99 Provide management and advisory services 

pertaining to instalment sales and retail 
lending businesses, for ASEAN 

United Coastal Company Limited 97.00 Invest in and/or joint venture with  
foreign companies which have finance  

and/or consumer finance licenses 
Source : SAWAD 
 
2.  Business Characteristics  
 
At present, SAWAD Group offers secured retail loans under the slogan “Mee Baan Mee Rod Ngern Sod Than 
Jai”, hire purchase loans for new motorcycles and personal loans. In addition, the Company expanded its 
business to cover debt collection services and purchase of distressed assets from financial institutions for 
management. Details of each business are presented below. 
 
2.1  Auto title and home-backed loans  
SAWAD Group provides secured loans, collateralized by all kinds of vehicles, including personal cars, personal 
trucks (pick-up trucks), motorcycles, six-wheel vehicles, tractors, trailers, and vehicles used for agricultural 
purposes as well as other collaterals including houses, land, and condominiums. As of September 30, 2016, 
the Company offered auto title loans and home-backed loans with the total net receivables under the hire 
purchase contracts and loan agreements of THB  15,552.62 million. Over 47.19% of the total lending value 
was from loans collateralized by four wheel vehicles.  
 

Loan Values Classified by Collaterals 

Collaterals As of Dec 31, 2013 As of Dec 31, 2014 As of Dec 31, 2015 As of Sept 30, 2016 
THB mill % THB mill % THB mill % THB mill % 

Motorcycles 995.28 18.13 1,280.61 16.75 2,016.95 17.53 2,841.15 18.27 
Commercial cars 620.53 11.30 1,015.92 13.29 1,399.13 12.16 1,767.76 11.37 
Vehicles used for 
agricultural purposes 

84.98 1.55 76.28 1.00 68.03 0.59 88.68 0.57 

Four-wheel vehicles 3,077.14 56.06 4,430.41 57.96 5,954.10 51.75 7,339.80 47.19 
Deeds of houses, land, 
and condominium 

711.35 12.96 841.10 11.00 2,068.09 17.97 3,515.23 22.60 

Total 5,489.28 100.00 7,644.32 100.00 11,506.30 100.00 15,552.62 100.00 
Source : SAWAD 
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Legal transactions and contracts can be classified into 2 groups 
 (1)  Loan agreements the collaterals can be classified into 2 categories.  

o Loans collateralized by all kinds of vehicles For this type of loans, customers do not have to 
transfer the ownership of the vehicle registration when the loan agreement is inked but they are 
required to present the vehicle registration certificate to the Company and also sign in a transfer 
request for floating transfer of collaterals to the Company. Note that the customers still hold the 
right to possess and use the collateral. 

o Legal transactions for loans secured by the deeds of land, houses, and condominium units can be 
classified into 2 categories which are (1) Mortgage contracts – a customer, as a mortgagee, 
registers mortgage with the Company, as a mortgagor, and signs a loan agreement. Then the 
customer presents the deed to the Company as collateral on the day the loan is extended to the 
customer and (2) Consignment contracts – a customer, as a seller on consignment, signs a 
consignment contract with the Company, as a buyer on consignment. The ownership of the 
collateral belongs to the buyer after the consignment contract is inked. The ownership will be 
returned to the seller upon the collateral redemption within the redemption period specified in 
the contract. Note that the customers still hold the right to possess and use the collateral. 

 (2)  Hire Purchase Contracts A customer is required to transfer the ownership of the vehicle registration 
certificate and presents the vehicle registration certificate to the Company as collateral. As for a rice 
combine harvester with no ownership documents, the customer is required to present an ownership 
certificate issued by the manufacturer and a sale contract as collateral but he or she still remains an 
owner of the vehicle. 

 
Loan Amount Classified by Legal Transactions 

Legal Transactions As of Dec 31, 2013 As of Dec 31, 2014 As of Dec 31, 2015 As of Sept 30, 2016 
THB mill % THB mill % THB mill % THB mill % 

Loan agreements 3,887.16 70.81 5,342.38 69.89 8,568.66 74.47 12,237.87 78.70 
Hire purchase 
contracts 

1,602.12 29.19 2,301.94 30.11 2,937.64 25.53 3,311.43 22.30 

Total 5,489.28 100.00 7,644.32 100.00 11,506.30 100.00 15,549.30 100.00 
Source : SAWAD 
 
In term of repayment period, the Company allows 6 – 48 instalment periods, depending on types of 
collaterals. For example, the maximum repayment period for loans collateralized by motorcycles is 18 
instalment periods. Meanwhile loans collateralized by general vehicles, customers are given a maximum of 
36 instalment periods. As for popular cars, homes, or land deeds, the repayment period does not exceed 48 
instalment periods. Finally, in terms of interest, the rates vary, depending on types of collaterals. 
 
SAWAD Group has a policy to offer loans only to retail customers, not those in the big corporate sector. The 
Company’s customer target is Grade B- customers, including factories’ workers, general workers, state 
employees, and etc. Potential customers must own collaterals and the sources of their income should be 
clearly specified and verified by financial documents. A customer / a guarantor is required to submit 
supporting documentation for loan approval process, including a copy of ID card, a copy of house registration 
document, and a pay slip or a salary certificate. As of September 30, 2016, the Company’s coverage network 
included a total of 2,027 branches. Customers can settle instalment bills at all branches, counter services, 
service counters of Bangkok Bank, Krung Thai Bank, and Kasikorn Bank.  
 
2.2  Hire purchase loans for new motorcycles   
SAWAD Group launched the hire purchase loan services for new motorcycles in 2011 by the subsidiary, Fast 
Money. At present, SAWAD group concerned about the high risk of new motorcycles loans. As a result, it has 
freeze new motorcycles loans. In 2015 and during the first 9 months of 2016, Fast Money did not underwrite 
new motorcycles loans but still maintained contact with its existing customers. Customers can settle 
instalment bills at the same channels as auto title and home-backed loans.  In this regard, as of September 
30, 2016, SAWAD Group had an outstanding amount of hire purchase loans for new motorcycles of THB  
19.24 million, or representing 0.12% of total amount of loans of SAWAD Group. 
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Once the hire purchaser agrees to buy a new motorcycle from the dealer, the hire purchaser signs a hire 
purchase contract with Fast Money and makes repayment on instalments, with durations of 12 – 36 
instalment periods. The repayment duration depends mainly on the hire purchaser’s ability to repay debts. 
Then, the hire purchaser can possess the hire-purchased motorcycle, with maintenance work under the 
responsibility of the hire purchaser. Meanwhile, the ownership belongs to Fast Money until the hire 
purchaser completes the repayment as specified in the contract. Fast Money considers approving loans, 
based on the brands of motorcycles because selling prices of popular brands do not fall much and there is 
high liquidity in case the vehicles need to be confiscated and resold. 
 
2.3  Personal loan business  
In 2011, the Company launched the personal loan business segment, operated by Fast Money, a subsidiary. 
Fast Money was granted a license by the Bank of Thailand to provide personal loan services under control on 
September 30, 2011. Fast Money also received a license to operate the personal loan business under control 
by Ministry of Finance on September 19, 2011. Not being secured by collaterals, providing personal loans is 
riskier than offering auto title loans, home-backed loans, or hire purchase loans for new motorcycles. Hence, 
the Company offers loans only to stable and secured income earners, including government officials and 
state enterprises’ employees. Customers need at least two guarantors in order to minimize risk. 
Approximately 99% of total customer base is government officials. Fast Money’s income earned by its 
personal loan segment includes interest income, fees for minimum repayments, contract fees, and penalty 
fees for late repayment. 
 
To consider approving personal loans, Fast Money focuses on customers’ ability to repay debts. Generally, 
the maximum credit limit is not more than 2.5 times of customers’ net income and not exceeding THB 50,000 
per customer, with instalments between 24 – 36 periods. Customers who fail to settle the instalment bills for 
4 consecutive months will receive a warning letter from the Company. If customers or guarantors still refuse 
to repay debts, Fast Money will proceed with legal actions. As of September 30, 2016, Fast Money recorded 
the personal loan receivables of valued at THB 0.44 million. The average interest rate for personal loans 
stands at 15% per annum. The rates vary in accordance with collateral conditions, collateral ages, and 
repayment durations.  
 
2.4  Nano Finance business  
Fast Money was granted a license by the Bank of Thailand to provide Nano Finance loan services and the 
permission to provide loan through Nano Finance scheme from the Ministry of Finance on April 10, 2015. 
Fast Money operated Nano Finance business since May 2015. Not being secured by collaterals, Nano Finance 
loans is riskier than offering auto title loans or hire purchase loans for new motorcycles. Hence, SAWAD 
Group offers loans only to person who wants to start new business as a franchisee, by focusing on franchiser 
policy, place of business, revenue and expense projection, to consider suitable loans in order to minimize 
risk. Fast Money’s income earned by its Nano Finance loan segment includes interest income, fees for 
minimum repayments, contract fees, and penalty fees for late repayment. 
 
To consider approving Nano Finance loans, Fast Money focuses on customers’ ability to repay debts. The 
lending credit is usually not more than THB 100,000 per customer. For the lending duration, Fast Money 
allows 24 – 36 instalment periods. Customers who fail to settle the instalment bills for 4 consecutive months 
will receive a warning letter from the Company. If customers or guarantors still refuse to repay debts, Fast 
Money will proceed with legal actions. As of September 30, 2016, Fast Money recorded Nano Finance loan 
receivables of 6,117 contracts, with the total receivables valued at THB 85.48 million and lending duration 
were between 12 – 30 instalment periods. For effective cost of loan, including interest, fees and penalties, 
should not exceed 36% per annum. 
 
2.5  Debt collection business  
In 2014, SAWAD founded a subsidiary, SWPAM, to operate debt collection business and purchase distressed 
assets for management. On July 9, 2014, SWPAM was granted a permission from the Bank of Thailand to 
register as an asset management company, according to the Royal Act on Asset Management Company B.E. 
2541. The company purchases or receives transfers of distressed assets from financial institutions for its own 
management. SWPAM also provides debt collection services. During an early stage, SWPAM will focus on 
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debt collection particularly for secured debts. The company’s customer targets include retail loan lending 
providers, financial institutions, leasing companies, and etc. The service fee is based on the success of each 
collection order as well as the degree of difficulty and collateral. 
 
2.6  Distressed asset management business  
SAWAD operated distressed asset management business through its subsidiary, SWPAM, which was granted 
asset management permission from the Bank of Thailand. SAWAD started to operate distressed asset 
management by auctioning financial institutions’ distressed assets. Before auction, SWPAM has to due 
diligence non-performing loan data, analyse, and pricing for auction. After auction, SWPAM will inspect all 
details of non-performing loans, subrogate, and substitute all non-performing loans to SWPAM’s assets. In 
each auction process, SWPAM will concern and consider succession rate of collection, enforcement, resell, all 
expense used for collection, period of time to collect, and SAWAD Group required rate of return. 
 
The Company’s revenue structure in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2013 – 2015 and the 9 month period ended September 30, 2016 are presented below. 
 

Revenue Structure of the Company for the Year Ended 2013 – 2015 and 9 Month Period in 2016 

 2013 2014 2015 Jan – Sept 2016 
THB mil % THB mil % THB mil % THB mil % 

Core business         
o Revenue from hire 

purchase business 
412.72 21.31 502.23 18.67 634.22 16.79 544.94 14.38 

o Interest income from 
lending business 

1,033.57 53.36 1,452.51 54.01 2,179.90 57.72 2,286.36 60.35 

Total revenue from core 
business 

1,446.29 74.67 1,954.74 72.68 2,814.12 74.51 2,831.30 74.73 

Other revenue* 490.68 25.33 734.64 27.32 962.63 25.49 957.30 25.27 
Total revenue 1,936.97 100.00 2,689.38 100.00 3,776.75 100.00 3,788.60 100.00 

Remark : * Other revenue include fees, service charges, expense and penalty fees, and etc.  
Source : SAWAD 
 
3.  Shareholders  
 
The list of the Company’s major shareholders as of January 20, 2017 (the latest closing date of the book of 
shareholders’ registration) is as follows: 
   

The List of the Company’s Major Shareholders as of January 20, 2017 
 Name No. of Shares % 

1 Kaewbootta Family* 
1.1 Miss Thida Kaewbootta 
1.2 Miss Doungchai Kaewbootta 
1.3 Mrs. Jariya Kaewbootta 

455,778,660 
326,996,166  

66,052,494 
62,730,000   

43.60 
31.28 

6.32 
6.00 

2 CREDIT SUISSE AG, SINGAPORE BRANCH 69,864,175 6.68 
3 Thai NVDR Company Limited 33,243,751 3.18 
4 CHASE NOMINEES LIMITED 30,291,548 2.90 
5 STATE STREET BANK EUROPE LIMITED      13,000,000  1.24 
6 MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL PLC 12,370,926 1.18 
7 THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON      10,977,750  1.05 
8 Mr. Sutthisak Chaipradit 341,557,182 32.67 
9 Other shareholders 69,864,175 6.68 

Total 1,045,496,492 100.00 
Remark : * Including the family, not shareholding of the related parties, based on the Article 258 of the Securities 

and Stock Exchange of Thailand 
Source :  www.set.or.th and Form 56-1 for the year 2015  
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4.  The Board of Directors 
 
As of December 28, 2016, the Company’s Board of Directors are as follows: 
 

The Company’s Board of Directors as of December 28, 2016 
 Name Position 

1 Mr. Sukhont Kanchanahuttakij Chairman 
2 Mr. Vinai Vittavasgarnvej Vice Chairman of the Board / Chairman of Audit Committee / 

Independent Director 
3 Mr. Chatchai Kaewbootta Director / Chief Executive Officer 
4 Miss Doungchai Kaewbootta Director / Managing Director 
5 Mr. Somyot Ngerndamrong Director 
6 Miss Thida Kaewbootta Director 
7 Mr. Weidt Nuchjalearn Director 
8 Mr. Pinit Puapan Director 
9 Mr. Prayong Saennual Director 

10 Pol.Lt.Gen Pharnu Kerdlarpphon Audit Committee / Independent Director 
11 Mr. Weerachai Ngamdeevilaisak Audit Committee / Independent Director 
12 Mr. Sumate Maneewattana Independent Director 

Source :  www.set.or.th 
 
The directors authorized to sign for the Company as in the certificate of the company registration: the 
signatures of either Miss Doungchai Kaewbootta or Mr. Chatchai Kaewbootta, together with the signatures of 
either Mr. Somyot Ngerndamrong or Mr. Prayong Saennual, are required with the Company’s seal. 
 
As of December 28, 2016, the list of the Company’s management are as follows: 

 
The List of the Company’s Management as of December 28, 2016 

 Name Position 
1 Mr. Chatchai Kaewbootta Chief Executive Officer 
2 Miss Doungchai Kaewbootta Managing Director 
3 Mr. Vasit Kanchanahuttakij Deputy Managing Director 
4 Mr. Watcharabooraya Surasingsrit Vice President – Marketing Department 
5 Mr. Somyot Ngerndamrong Vice President – Collection Department 
6 Mrs. Wanaporn Pornkitipong Vice President – Accounting and Finance Department 
7 Mr. Prayong Sannual Vice President – Personnel and Personnel Development 
8 Mr. Seksan Supapwibool Vice President – Branch Operation Department 

Source : SAWAD 
 

5. Summary of Financial Statements and Operating Performance  
 

The following table provides a summary of financial information in accordance with the consolidated financial 
statement of SAWAD, audited or reviewed by PricewaterhouseCoopers ABAS Ltd., for the year ended December 
31, 2013 – 2015 and for 9 month period ended September 30, 2016 
 

Summary of Financial Statements and Operating Performance of SAWAD Group 
for the year ended December 31, 2013 – 2015 and for 9 month period ended September 30, 2016 

SAWAD 
2013 2014 2015 30 Sept 2016  Statement of Financial Position  

(Unit: THB Million) 
Cash and cash equivalents 100.41 347.99  332.80  545.35  
Short-term investments, net 20.62  61.34  3.60  202.90  
Current portion of hire purchase receivables, net 912.58 1,202.92  1,515.17  1,689.20  
Current portion of loan receivables and personal 3,074.66 4,117.34  6,826.02  9,635.46  
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SAWAD 
2013 2014 2015 30 Sept 2016  Statement of Financial Position  

(Unit: THB Million) 
loan receivables, net 
Other receivables1 - - 186.43  218.42  
Foreclosed assets, net 94.52  207.80  94.53  103.51  
Other current assets1 82.41  82.30  6.05  6.86  
Total current assets 4,285.20 6,019.69  8,964.60  12,401.69  
Available-for-sale investments, net - - - 200.81  
Hire purchase receivables, net 822.79 1,120.92  1,307.03  1,437.46  
Loan receivables and personal loan receivables, net 729.06 1,101.88  1,564.63  2,450.28  
Loan receivables from purchase of loans, net - - 1,264.68  2,016.20  
Property, plant and equipment, net 145.30 245.50  390.90  453.30  
Intangible assets, net 6.93  8.58  7.83  8.11  
Deferred tax assets 33.28  58.53  73.69  83.03  
Other non-current assets 23.88  36.63  66.32  90.03  
Total non-current assets 1,761.25 2,572.05  4,675.09  6,739.22  
Total assets 6,046.45 8,591.74  13,639.68  19,140.90  
Amounts due to related parties2 19.74  16.70  - - 
Bank overdrafts and short-term borrowings from 
financial institutions 

4,565.31 3,464.43  1,010.04  4,359.89  

Other payables2 - - 337.06  424.54  
Current portion of long-term borrowings from 
financial institutions 

- - 500.00  916.67  

Short-term loans from related parties 74.00  300.00  - - 
Current portion of long-term borrowings from 
financial institutions for purchase loans 

- - 821.42  183.86  

Current portion of liabilities under finance lease 
agreements 

5.77  5.96  12.52  20.01  

Current portion of senior unsecured debentures - 500.00  200.00  2,200.00  
Income tax payable 77.78  142.03  187.76  142.10  
Other current liabilities2 169.18 224.88  3.78  5.25  
Total current liabilities 4,911.77 4,654.00  3,072.58  8,252.32  
Long-term borrowings from financial institutions - 500.00 1,000.00  854.17  
Long-term borrowings from financial institutions 
for purchase loans 

- -  155.24  31.32  

Long-term borrowings from related parties - - 400.00  400.00  
Liabilities under finance lease agreements - - 33.42  47.69  
Senior unsecured debentures - - 4,200.00  3,340.00  
Employee benefit obligations 4.08  5.65  6.65  9.15  
Non-current liabilities 4.08 505.65  5,795.31  4,682.33  
Total liabilities 4,915.85 5,159.65  8,867.89  12,934.65  
Issued and paid-up share capital 750.00 1,000.00  1,020.00  1,045.50  
Share premium -  1,421.80  1,421.80  1,421.80  
Share premium from share-based payment 36.19  36.19  36.19  36.19  
Retained earnings 344.41 974.10  2,287.79  3,656.22  
Other components of equity - - 0.06  33.65  
Non-controlling interests - - 5.96  12.90  
Total shareholders’ equity 1,130.60 3,432.09  4,771.79  6,206.26  
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 6,046.45 8,591.74  13,639.68  19,140.90  
Note  1 SAWAD has grouping some parts of other current assets as other receivables since 2015. 

2 SAWAD has grouping amounts due to related parties and some parts of other current liabilities as other 
payables since 2015. 

 
SAWAD 

2013 2014 2015 Jan – Sept 2016  Statement of Comprehensive income  
(Unit: THB Million) 
Interest income from hire purchase 412.72  502.23  634.22  544.94  
Interest income from loan 1,033.57  1,452.51  2,179.90  2,286.36  
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SAWAD 
2013 2014 2015 Jan – Sept 2016  Statement of Comprehensive income  

(Unit: THB Million) 
Other income 490.68  734.64  962.63  957.30  
Total revenue 1,936.97  2,689.38  3,776.75  3,788.60  
Servicing expenses 122.33  125.57  126.53  113.66  
Administrative expenses 726.52  1,094.66  1,551.12  1,530.11  
Bad and doubtful debts expense 131.63  188.81  168.10  133.64  
Total expenses 980.49  1,409.04  1,845.76  1,777.41  
Profit before finance costs and income tax 
expense 

956.48  1,280.35  1,930.99  2,011.20  

Finance costs 230.31 218.53 280.59 261.19 
Profit before income tax expense 726.17  1,061.82  1,650.40  1,750.01  
Income tax expense 150.74 207.13 314.33 350.98 
Net profit for the period 575.43  854.69  1,336.06  1,399.04  
 
SAWAD 2013 2014 2015 Jan – Sept 2016  Statement of Cash flows (Unit: THB Million) 
Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities (2,043.18) (1,129.23) (2,426.10) (2,890.44) 
Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities (93.65) (188.70) (134.10) (497.32) 
Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities 2,224.26  1,565.50  2,545.01  3,586.57  
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

87.43  247.57  (15.19) 198.81  

 
SAWAD 2013 2014 2015 Jan – Sept 2016  Financial Ratios 
Profitability Ratio         
Interest income ratio (%)1 30.82  29.88  30.01  28.57 
Interest expense ratio (%)2 5.77  4.64  4.28  3.37 
Net interest margin (%) 25.04  25.24  25.72  25.20 
Net profit margin (%) 29.71  31.78  35.38  36.93  
Return on equity (%)  66.07   37.46   32.57  33.98 
Efficiency Ratio         
Return on assets (%) 10.91  11.68  12.02  11.38 
Total asset turnover (times) 0.37  0.37  0.34  0.31 
Financial Ratio         
Debt to Equity ratio (times) 4.35  1.50  1.86  2.08 
Interest bearing debts to Equity ratio (times) 4.11  1.39  1.75  1.99 
Total loans to Total borrowing (times) 1.19 1.58 1.35 1.23 
Dividend payout ratio (%)3 96.89 12.81 2.16 - 
Note  1   Interest income ratio means interest and fee income/ average hire purchase receivables and loan receivables. 

     2   Interest expense ratio means funding cost/ average loans from financial institutions plus loans from 
related parties and payables from related parties (for 2013) because SAWAD Group had loans from SP in 
2012 (Amount due to related party of THB 403.07 million and Short-term loans from related parties of 
THB 438.31 Million. 

     3  Dividend payout ratio is calculated from the net profit as shown in the separated financial statements. 
 
Analysis of Financial Performance and Operating Results of SAWAD 
Operating results 
Revenue 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, SAWAD had a total revenue of THB 1,936.97 million, THB 
2,689.38 million, THB 3,776.75 million, and THB 3,788.60 million, respectively. The main revenues of SAWAD 
were interest income from hire purchase contracts and interest income from lending business. 
 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, SAWAD had interest income from hire purchase contracts of 
THB 412.72 million, THB 502.23 million, THB 634.22 million, and THB 544.94 million, respectively. In 2014, 
such revenue increased from the previous year by THB 89.51 million or by 21.69%. In 2015, such revenue 
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increased from the previous year by THB 131.99 million or by 26.28%. And in the first 9 months of 2016, such 
revenue increased from the same period of the previous year by THB 79.86 million or by 17.17%. 
 
Additionally, SAWAD had interest income from lending business of THB 1,033.57 million, THB 1,452.51 
million, THB 2,179.90 million, and THB 2,286.36 million in 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, 
respectively. These amounts represent an increase of THB 418.94 million, THB 727.38 million, and THB 
740.84 million or by 40.53%, 50.08%, and 47.94% in each period comparing to the same period of the 
previous year. 
 
The main reason for the increases in both interest income from hire purchase contracts and interest income 
from lending business was the expanding branch office network, which resulted in an expanded customer 
base. Thus, SAWAD had an increasing amount of contracts and interest incomes each year. As of December 
31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, the number of branches of SAWAD were 602 branches, 1,059 
branches, 1,627 branches, and 2,027 branches, respectively. Consequently, the receivable portfolios and 
interest incomes from hire purchase contracts as well as personal loan contracts of SAWAD grew 
continuously. 
 
Other revenues 
Other revenues include primarily fee income, penalty fee income, and collection fee income. Other revenues 
of SAWAD varied with the number of contracts and/or loan values. In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 
2016, SAWAD had other revenues of THB 490.68 million, THB 734.63 million, THB 962.63 million, and THB 
957.30 million, respectively. In 2014, other revenues increased by THB 243.96 million or by 49.72% 
comparing to the previous year due primarily to an increase in fee income by THB 110.47 million, an increase 
in penalty fee income by THB 54.02 million, and an increase in collection fee income by THB 103.37 million. In 
2015, other revenues increased by THB 228.00 million or by 31.04% comparing to the previous year due 
primarily to an increase in fee income by THB 127.19 million, penalty fee income by THB 60.30 million, and 
collection fee income by THB 51.72 million. For the first 9 months of 2016, other revenues increased by THB 
276.48 million or by 40.61% comparing to the same period of previous year. Other revenues of SAWAD 
varied positively with the growth in interest income. 
 
Operating expenses 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, operating expenses of SAWAD were THB 980.49 million, THB 
1,409.04 million, THB 1,845.76 million, and THB 1,777.41 million, respectively. In 2014 – 2015, operating 
expenses increased by THB 428.55 million and THB 436.72 million or by 43.71% and 30.99% from the 
previous year. For the first 9 months of 2016, operating expenses increased by THB 464.95 million or by 
35.43% from the same period last year. Operating expenses increased following the increases in revenues 
and number of branches. In this regards, the main item in operating expenses of SAWAD was administrative 
expenses with the details as follows; 
 
Administrative expenses 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, administrative expenses were THB 726.52 million, THB 
1,094.66 million, THB 1,551.12 million, and THB 1,530.11 million, respectively. These amounts represent 
74.10%, 77.69%, 84.04%, and 86.09% of total operating expenses each year, respectively. In 2014 – 2015, 
administrative expenses increased by THB 368.14 million and THB 456.46 million or by 50.67% and 41.70% 
from the previous year. The reason for such increases were 1) an increase in personnel expenses by THB 
202.17 million and THB 241.90 million each year 2) an increase in rental expenses by THB 80.69 million and 
THB 73.66 million each year 3) an increase in depreciation and vehicle expenses by THB 37.49 million and 
THB 47.13 million each year and 4) an increase in office expenses by THB 31.47 million and THB 21.17 million 
each year due to expansion of branch network. For the first 9 months of 2016, administrative expenses of 
SAWAD increased by THB 434.18 million or by 39.62% comparing to the same period of previous year due to 
an increase in the number of branches. As of December 31, 2013 – 2015, the number of SAWAD’s employees 
were 2,261 persons, 3,114 persons, and 4,085 persons, respectively. As of the same dates above, the number 
of branches were 602 branches, 1,059 branches, and 1,627 branches, respectively. As of September 30, 2016, 
total number of branches was 2,027 branches. 
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Financial costs 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, financial costs of SAWAD were THB 230.31 million, THB 218.53 
million, THB 280.59 million, and THB 261.19 million, respectively. In 2014, financial costs declined by THB 
11.78 million or by 5.12% comparing to previous year due to the change in funding sources from short-term 
loans from financial institutions to senior unsecured debentures which bear lower interest rates. For 2015, 
financial costs increased by THB 62.06 million or by 28.40% from the previous year. For the first 9 months of 
2016, financial costs increased by THB 56.96 million or by 27.89% comparing to the same period last year. 
The increases of financial costs in both 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016 were due to an increase in 
interest bearing debts used in the expansion of lending business by SAWAD. 
 
Operating profits 
SAWAD had operating profits or earnings before interest and taxes in 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 
2016 at the amount of THB 726.17 million, THB 1,061.82 million, THB 1,650.40 million, and THB 1,750.01 
million, respectively. These amounts represent operating profit margins of 37.49%, 39.48%, 43.70%, and 
46.19%, respectively. 
 
In 2014 – 2015, operating profits of SAWAD increased by THB 335.64 million and THB 588.58 million or by 
46.22% and 55.43% from the previous year, respectively. For the first 9 months of 2016, earnings before 
taxes increased by THB 575.28 million or by 48.97% comparing to the same period of previous year due to an 
increase in interest income from hire purchase contracts and interest income from lending business following 
the growth in loan receivable portfolios. As a result, fee income and penalty fee income rise accordingly. 
Additionally, SAWAD was able to better control its costs. And also, financial costs declined as a percentage of 
total revenues because SAWAD had an access to a cheaper funding source through capital raising in the stock 
exchange. 
 
Net profits 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, SAWAD had net profits of THB 575.43 million, THB 854.69 
million, THB 1,336.06 million, and THB 1,399.04 million, respectively. These amounts represent net profit 
margins of 29.71%, 31.78%, 35.38%, and 36.93%, respectively. In 2014 – 2015, SAWAD had an increase in net 
profits by THB 279.25 million and THB 481.38 million or by 48.53% and 56.32% comparing to last year, 
respectively. For the first 9 months of 2016, SAWAD had an increase in net profits by THB 460.07 million or by 
49.00% comparing to the same period last year. These increases were due to a growing amount of total 
revenues. 
 
Total assets 
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, total assets of SAWAD were THB 6,046.45 million, 
THB 8,591.74 million, THB 13,639.68 million, and THB 19,140.90 million, respectively. As of December 31, 
2014 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, total assets of SAWAD increased by THB 2,545.28 million, THB 
5,047.95 million, and THB 5,501.22 million or by 42.10%, 58.75%, and 40.33%, respectively, due primarily to 
an increase in loan receivable portfolios. In this regards, the main assets of SAWAD comprise of hire purchase 
receivables, loan receivables, and investment in receivables from the purchase of non-performing loans for 
management. The details are presented below.  
 
Hire purchase receivables  
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, net hire purchase receivables were THB 1,735.37 
million, THB 2,323.85 million, THB 2,822.20 million, and THB 3,126.66 million, respectively. These amounts 
represent 28.70%, 27.05%, 20.69%, and 16.33% of total assets each year. As of December 31, 2014 – 2015, 
net hire purchase receivables increased by THB 588.47 million and THB 498.35 million or by 33.91% and 
21.45% from the previous year. As of September 30, 2016, SAWAD has an increase in net hire purchase 
receivables of THB 304.47 million or by 10.79% from December 31, 2015. The main reason for such increases 
was a continuous increase in the number of branches, which allowed SAWAD to broadly expand its customer 
base.  
 
In this regards, hire purchase receivables classified by maturity and duration of overdue balance are presented 
below. 
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1)  Hire purchase receivables classified by maturity  
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, SAWAD classified its net hire purchase receivables 
by maturity date to include 1) the balance due not exceeding 1 year of THB 912.58 million, THB 1,202.92 
million, THB 1,515.17 million, and THB 1,689.20 million, representing 52.59%, 51.76%, 53.69%, and 54.03% of 
total net hire purchase receivables each year and 2) the balance due in more than 1 year of THB 822.79 
million, THB 1,120.92 million, THB 1,307.03 million, and THB 1,437.46 million, representing 47.41%, 48.24%, 
46.31%, and  45.97% of total net hire purchase receivables each year. Since SAWAD provided hire purchase 
services for used cars and new motorcycles with the hire purchase period ranging from 12 – 36 months or 
approximately 1 – 3 years, SAWAD had a higher proportion of net hire purchase receivables with the balance 
due not exceeding 1 year. 
 
2)  Hire purchase receivables classified by duration of overdue balance 

Hire purchase receivables 2013 2014 2015 Sept 30, 2016 
THB mill % THB mill % THB mill % THB mill % 

Not overdue or overdue up to 
1 month 

1,134.08   62.93 1,540.68  62.59 1,804.24  60.31 1,990.85  59.77 

Overdue 1 – 3 months 543.05   30.13 678.40  27.56 894.02  29.88 982.57  29.50 
Overdue 3 – 6 months 87.08   4.83 135.54  5.51 148.62  4.97 180.28  5.41 
Overdue 6 – 12 months 27.73   1.54 57.36  2.33 68.34  2.28 59.36  1.78 
Overdue more than 12 months 10.17   0.56 49.58  2.01 76.40  2.55 117.60  3.53 
Total 1,802.11   100.00 2,461.56  100.00 2,991.62  100.00 3,330.67  100.00 
Less allowance for doubtful 
accounts 

66.74   3.70 137.71  5.59 169.43  5.66 204.01  6.13 

Hire purchase receivables – 
net 

1,735.37   96.30 2,323.85  94.41 2,822.19  94.34 3,126.66  93.87 

 
Considering the hire purchase receivables based on the duration of overdue balance as of December 31, 
2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, they were under good condition i.e. they were primarily not overdue 
or overdue up to 1 month. The amounts were THB 1,134.08 million, THB 1,540.68 million, THB 1,804.24 
million, and THB 1,990.85 million or representing 62.93%, 62.59%, 60.31%, and 59.77% of total hire purchase 
receivables each year before deducting allowance for doubtful accounts. The overdue balance of 1 – 3 
months were THB 543.05 million, THB 678.40 million, THB 894.02 million, and THB 982.57 million, 
representing 30.13%, 27.56%, 29.88%, and 29.50% of  total hire purchase receivables each year before 
deducting allowance for doubtful accounts. As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, 
SAWAD set up allowance for doubtful accounts of THB 66.74 million, THB 137.71 million, THB 169.43 million, 
and THB 204.01 million, representing 3.70%, 5.59%, 5.66%, and 6.13% of total hire purchase receivables each 
year before deducting allowance for doubtful accounts. 
 
Loan receivables 
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, net loan receivables were THB 3,803.73 million, 
THB 5,219.22 million, THB 8,390.65 million, and THB 12,085.74 million, representing 62.91%, 60.75%, 61.52% 
and 63.14% of total assets each year, respectively. As of December 31, 2014 – 2015, net loan receivables 
increased by THB 1,415.50 million and THB 3,171.43 million or by 37.21% and 60.76% from the previous year. 
As of September 30, 2016, net loan receivables increased by THB 3,695.08 million or by 44.04% from 
December 31, 2015. The reason for such increases was a continuous increase in the number of branches of 
SAWAD which enabled SAWAD to broadly expand its customer base.  The details of loans receivable classified 
by maturity and duration of balance due are presented below. 
 
1)  Loan receivables classified by maturity 
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, SAWAD classified its loan receivables by maturity 
comprising 1) the balance due not more than 1 year of THB 3,074.66 million, THB 4,117.34 million, THB 
6,826.02 million, and THB 9,635.46 million, representing 80.83%, 78.89%, 81.35%, and 79.73% of total loan 
receivables each year and 2) the balance due more than 1 year of THB 729.06 million, THB 1,101.88 million, 
THB 1,564.63 million, and THB 2,450.28 million, representing 19.17%, 21.11%, 18.65%, and 20.27% of total 
loan receivables each year. Since the largest proportion of the Company’s loans were loans collateralized by 
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general cars, motorcycles, and houses or land deeds; most of which were allowed the repayment period of 
not more than 24 months, the proportion of loan receivables due not more than 1 year thus was higher.  
 
2)  Loan receivables classified by duration of overdue balance 

Loan receivables 2013 2014 2015 Sept 30, 2016 
THB mill % THB mill % THB mill % THB mill % 

Not overdue or overdue up to 1 
month 

2,922.76   74.57 4,210.47  78.63 7,010.72  81.74 10,159.12  82.41 

Overdue 1 – 3 months 808.14   20.62 940.19  17.56 1,297.49  15.13 1,827.12  14.82 
Overdue 3 – 6 months 110.55   2.82 116.01  2.17 142.68  1.66 174.92  1.42 
Overdue 6 – 12 months 45.27   1.15 43.56  0.81 55.79  0.65 66.44  0.54 
Overdue more than 12 months 32.99   0.84 44.40  0.83 69.83  0.81 99.52  0.81 
Total 3,919.71   100.00 5,354.63  100.00 8,576.51  100.00 12,327.11  100.00 
Less allowance for doubtful 
accounts 

115.98   2.96 135.41  2.53 185.86  2.17 241.37  1.96 

Loan receivables – net  3,803.73   97.04 5,219.22  97.47 8,390.65  97.83 12,085.74  98.04 
 
Considering the loan receivables based on duration of overdue balance as of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and 
September 30, 2016, they were under good condition i.e. they were primarily not overdue or overdue up to 1 
month. The amounts were THB 2,922.76 million, THB 4,210.47 million, THB 7,010.72 million, and THB 
10,159.12 million or representing 74.57%, 78.63%, 81.74%, and 82.41% of loan receivables each year before 
deducting allowance for doubtful accounts. The overdue balance of 1 – 3 months were THB 808.14 million, 
THB 940.19 million, THB 1,297.49 million, and THB 1,827.12 million, representing 20.62%, 17.56%, 15.13%, 
and 14.82% of  total loan receivables each year before deducting allowance for doubtful accounts. As of 
December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, SAWAD set up allowance for doubtful accounts of THB 
115.98 million, THB 135.41 million, THB 185.86 million, and THB 241.37 million, representing 2.96%, 2.53%, 
2.17%, and 1.96% of total loan receivables each year before deducting allowance for doubtful accounts. 
 
Investment in receivables 
SAWAD had investment in receivables from the purchase of non-performing loans from financial institutions 
for management. In 2015, SAWAD purchased investment in receivables at cost in the amount of THB 
1,268.42 million and received repayment of THB 3.74 million. As of December 31, 2015, the outstanding 
investment in receivables was THB 1,264.68 million, representing 9.27% of total assets. In 2016, SAWAD 
additionally invested in THB 863.08 million and received repayment of THB 111.57 million. As of September 
30, 2016, the outstanding balance was THB 2,016.20 million, representing 10.53% of total assets. 
 
Total liabilities 
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, total liabilities of SAWAD were THB 4,915.85 million, 
THB 5,159.65 million, THB 8,867.89 million, and THB 12,934.65 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2013 – 
2015, total liabilities increased by THB 243.79 million and THB 3,708.24 million or by 4.96% and 71.87% from 
the end of previous year. As of September 30, 2016, total liabilities increased by THB 4,066.76 million or by 
45.86% from December 31, 2015. The main reason for such increases was an increase in interest bearing debts 
for the expansion of lending business. The core liabilities of SAWAD was interest bearing debt which is discussed 
below.  
 
Interest bearing debts 
Interest bearing debts of SAWAD comprised short-term loans from financial institutions, bill of exchange, 
short-term loans from related companies, long-term loans for investment in receivables, financial leases, 
senior unsecured debentures, and long-term loans from financial institutions. As of December 31, 2013 – 
2015 and September 30, 2016, interest bearing debts of SAWAD were THB 4,645.08 million, THB 4,770.38 
million, THB 8,332.64 million, and THB 12,353.61 million, representing 94.49%, 92.46%, 93.96%, and 95.51% 
of total liabilities at the end of each year. As of December 31, 2014 – 2015, interest bearing debts increased 
by THB 125.31 million and THB 3,562.25 million or by 2.70% and 74.67%, respectively, comparing to the end 
of previous year. As of September 30, 2016, interest bearing debts increased by THB 4,020.97 million or by 
48.26% from December 31, 2015. Such increases in interest bearing debts at the end of each period were 
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used in the expansion of lending business. For an increase in interest bearing debts as of September 30, 2016, 
it was because of an increase in short-term loans from financial institution amounted to THB 3,349.85 million. 
 
As of December 31, 2013, interest bearing debts of SAWAD comprise short-term loans from financial 
institutions, namely, bank overdrafts and promissory notes (PN), and also financial leases. The PN had an 
interest rate of MOR – 1.75%. Additionally, SAWAD was approved to issue short-term bill of exchange to 
institutional or high net worth investors in 2013 with the maturity not exceeding 270 days bearing an interest 
rate of 4.00% – 5.00% per annum. Meanwhile, as of December 31, 2014, SAWAD had long-term loans from 
financial institutions bearing an interest rate of MOR – 2.25% per annum. As of December 31, 2015, SAWAD 
had short-term bill of exchange bearing lower interest rate from 4.00% – 5.00% per annum to 3.00% – 4.00% 
per annum as well as long-term loans for investment in receivables at an interest rate of 1.00% per annum, 
and senior unsecured debentures at an interest rate between 3.90% – 4.50% per annum. As of September 
30, 2016, interest rate for bill of exchange declined from 3.00% – 4.00% per annum to 2.00% – 3.00% per 
annum and interest rate for senior unsecured debentures were 2.80% – 3.10% per annum. 
 
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, debt to equity ratio of SAWAD were 4.35%, 1.50%, 
1.86%, and 2.08%, respectively. Interest bearing debt to equity ratio were 4.11%, 1.39%, 1.75%, and 1.99%, 
respectively. 
 
Total shareholders’ equity 
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, total shareholders’ equity were THB 1,130.60 million, 
THB 3,432.09 million, THB 4,771.79 million, and THB 6,206.26 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2014 – 
2015, total shareholders’ equity increased by THB 2,301.49 million and THB 1,339.70 million or by 203.56% and 
39.03% from the end of previous year. As of September 30, 2016, total shareholders’ equity increased by THB 
1,434.46 million or by 30.06% from December 31, 2015. The increasing amount in 2014 was due to an increase 
in paid-up share capital by THB 250 million from the initial public offering for the listing of shares on the SET. 
Consequently, SAWAD had a premium on ordinary shares of THB 1,421.80 million. For the increases on 
December 31, 2015 and September 30, 2016, the primary reason was an increase in retained earnings due to 
profits earned in each period. 
 
Liquidity 
Cash flows from operating activities 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, SAWAD had cash flows used in operating activities of THB 
2,043.18 million, THB 1,129.23 million, THB 2,426.10 million, and THB 2,890.44 million, respectively. During 
2014 – 2015, operating cash outflows decreased by THB 913.95 million or by 44.73% and increased by THB 
1,296.87 million or by 114.85%, respectively. For the first 9 months of 2016, operating cash outflows 
increased by THB 1,162.98 million or by 67.32% comparing to the same period last year. Operating cash 
outflows were primarily used in the expansion of loan receivable portfolios each year in which is considered 
normal for the lending business operated by non-financial institutions since SAWAD had a continuous growth 
in loan receivable portfolios each year. 
 
Cash flows used in investing activities 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, SAWAD had cash flows used in investing activities of THB 
93.65 million, THB 188.70 million, THB 134.10 million, and THB 497.32 million, respectively. During 2014 – 
2015, cash flows used in investing activities increased by THB 95.05 million or by 101.49% and decreased by 
THB 54.60 million or by 28.94%, respectively. For the first 9 months of 2016, cash flows used in investing 
activities declined by THB 250.80 million or by 33.52% comparing to the same period last year. Cash flows 
used in investing activities were primarily for investment in fixed assets each year such as investment in 
computer system, office decoration, office equipment, and vehicles, in order to support business expansion 
and improve operation efficiency.  
 
Cash flows from financing activities 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, cash flows from financing activities were THB 2,224.26 million, 
THB 1,565.50 million, THB 2,545.01 million, and THB 3,586.57 million, respectively. In 2014 – 2015, cash 
inflows from financing activities declined by THB 658.77 million or by 29.62% and increased by THB 979.51 
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million or by 62.57%, respectively. For the first 9 months of 2016, cash outflows increased by THB 968.96 
million or by 37.02% comparing to the same period last year. Apart from cash inflows from operating 
activities, SAWAD procured additional sources of funds from the loans from financial institutions and related 
parties, increase in share capital, and issuance of debentures. In 2013, SAWAD increased its share capital 
twice altogether of THB 644 million. In 2014, SAWAD increased it paid-up capital by THB 250 million through 
the initial public offering for the listing of shares on the SET. As a result, SAWAD had a premium on ordinary 
shares of THB 1,421.80 million. The above borrowings and capital increases of SAWAD were with an objective 
to invest in branch and loan receivable portfolio expansions.  
 
Source of funds 
The main sources of funds for SAWAD were loans from financial institutions in the forms of bank overdrafts 
and promissory notes. Then, the secondary source was the issuance of bill of exchange. More than 70% of 
SAWAD’s funds were interest bearing debts due within 1 – 3 years. The details of SAWAD’s capital structure 
are presented below. 
 
Capital structure 
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, debt to equity ratios were 4.35 times, 1.50 times, 
1.86 times, and 2.08 times, respectively. The decrease in debt to equity ratio in 2014 was due to an increase 
in total shareholders’ equity as a result of the initial public offering. As of December 30, 2015 and September 
30, 2016, the increases in debt to equity ratios were due to the additional borrowings used in the expansion 
of loan receivable portfolios. 
 

Major sources and uses of 
funds 

2013 2014 2015 Sept 30, 2016 
THB mill % THB mill % THB mill % THB mill % 

Sources of funds         
Short-term loans 4,645.08 80.42 4,270.38 52.06 2,543.98 19.42 7,680.44 41.49 
Long-term loans - - 500.00 6.10 5,788.66 44.19 4,673.18 25.24 
Shareholders’ equity* 1,130.60 19.58 3,432.09 41.84 4,765.78 36.38 6,159.71 33.27 
- Paid-up capital 750.00 12.99 1,000.00 12.19 1,020.00 7.79 1,045.50 5.65 
- Retained earnings 344.41 5.96 974.10 11.88 2,287.79 17.47 3,656.22 19.75 
- Premium on ordinary shares - - 1,421.80 17.33 1,421.80 10.85 1,421.80 7.68 
- Premium on shares from 
share based payment 

36.91 0.63 36.19 0.44 36.19 0.28 36.19 0.20 

Sources of funds – total  5,775.68 100.00 8,202.47 100.00 13,098.42 100.00 18,513.32 100.00 
Uses of funds         
Up to 1 year 3,987.24  71.98 5,320.26 70.53 8,341.19 74.39 11,324.66 74.44 
1 year onwards 1,551.86  28.02 2,222.81 29.47 2,871.66 25.61 3,887.74 25.56 
Uses of funds – total  5,539.10  100.00 7,543.07 100.00 11,212.85 100.00 15,212.40 100.00 
Remark * shareholders’ equity excludes other component of equity and non-controlling interests 
 
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, SAWAD had total sources of funds of THB 5,775.68 
million, THB 8,202.47 million, THB 13,098.42 million, and THB 18,513.32 million, respectively. Meanwhile, the 
uses of funds were THB 5,539.10 million, THB 7,543.07 million, THB 11,212.85 million, and THB 15,212.40 
million, respectively. As of December 31, 2013, the duration between the sources and uses of funds was 
closely matched i.e. sources of funds were mainly short-term loans which accounted for 80.42% of total 
sources of funds, meanwhile, uses of funds were mainly loans not exceeding 1 year which accounted for  
71.98% of total uses of funds. As of December 31, 2014, shareholders’ equity increased by THB 1,671.80 
million from the initial public offering. As a result, the proportion of short-term loans declined to 52.06%. 
Since the increase in share capital is considered as long-term funds, liquidity risk of SAWAD thus declined 
accordingly. As of December 31, 2015, SAWAD replaced its short-term loans with long-term loans. As a result, 
the proportion of short-term loans declined to 19.42% while proportion of long-term loans increased to 
44.19% of total sources of funds. As of September 30, 2016, SAWAD took out additional short-term loans to 
support the expansion of its lending business. As a result, the proportion of short-term loan increased to 
41.49% of total sources of funds. 
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Off-balance sheet obligations 
Potential obligations and liabilities  
(Unit : THB million) 2013 2014 2015 Sept 30, 2016 

Within 1 year 97.11 140.64 198.79 214.33 
From 1 – 5 years 126.59 146.93 188.03 212.79 
Total 223.70 287.57 386.83 427.12 
 
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, off-balance sheet obligations of SAWAD were THB 
223.70 million, THB 287.57 million, THB 386.83 million, and THB 427.12 million, respectively. The obligations 
under the lease agreement for SAWAD’s offices accounted for 19.79%, 8.38%, 8.11%, and 6.88% of 
shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, respectively. 
 
6.  Industry Review 
 
The main business of the Company is providing secured retail loans collateralized by all kind of vehicles, 
deeds of land, houses, and condominium, as well as hire purchase loans, personal loans, and Nano Finance 
loans. Since the main revenues of the Company are interest income, both from loans and hire purchases, the 
outlook for domestic economy, business sector, industrial sector, agricultural sector, and public investment, 
all of which will affect consumers’ confidence, purchasing power, and demand of credits by households, are 
the important factors to the Company’s success. These factors will determine the increase or decrease in the 
potential number of borrowers and loan size. Also, financial factors such as interest rate, investment in bill of 
exchange, government bond yield, all of which will determine the Company’s accessibility to / the cost of 
funding for its operation at any given point in time, are also the crucial factors to the Company’s business. 
 
Thai economic outlook for 2016  
According to the economic report by the Office of the National Economic and Social Development Board 
(“NESDB”) in November 2016, Thai economy in 2016 is expected to grow by 3.2%, continually improving from 
0.8% and 2.8% growth in 2014 and 2015, respectively. Meanwhile, headline inflation is anticipated to be at 
0.2%, compared with a negative 0.9% in 2015. Current account balance is expected to register an increase in 
surplus to 11.3% of GDP, compared with 8.2% of GDP in 2015. The economic growth in 2016 is supported by 
(1) Private consumption – it is expected that private consumption will grow as high as 3.0%. This is due to 
better-than-expected recovery of the agricultural sector, while overall agricultural prices continue to 
improve, and implementation of measures under the government’s stimulus packages to assist farmers and 
low-income individuals. (2) Export value – it is expected that export value will grow by 0.0%, improving from 
the 1.9% contraction predicted in the previous projection on August 15, 2016. This is a result of the growth of 
export value in in the third quarter of 2016, representing a positive growth of 0.4% for the first time in 7 
quarters; improvement of oil price and commodities price in the global market which rose more quickly than 
anticipated, making the export price in in the third quarter of 2016 increased by 0.8% for the first time in 14 
quarters, causing the export price in the first 9 months of 2016 to decline by only 0.8%. Coupled with the 
expected increase of export price in the fourth quarter of 2016, export price for the entire 2016 is projected 
to contract by 0.2%, which is less than the anticipated range of (-1.5%) - (-1.0%) used in the previous 
projection; and lastly the gradual recovery of the global economy led to a sooner-than-expected growth of 
export volume in August and September. This leads to the projection that export volume in 2016 will slowly 
turn positive by 0.2%, compared with a 0.9% decline in the previous projection.   
 
Financial conditions in 2016  
o Interest rate the policy rate was kept unchanged at 1.50% per annum throughout the third quarter of 

2016. In both meetings on August 3, and September 14, 2016, the Monetary Policy Committee (“MPC”) 
decided to remain the policy rate at 1.50% per annum. These decisions were based on the assessment 
that current policy rate was at an appropriate level for supporting the economic recovery, being 
reflected in low real interest rates. There was also the need to preserve the policy space as a cushion for 
any potential risks from slower-than-expected global economic growth and monetary policies 
conducted around the world. During the third quarter of 2016, four major commercial banks (namely 
Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited, Kasikornbank Public Company Limited, Krung Thai Bank Public 
Company Limited, and The Siam Commercial Bank Public Company Limited) kept 12-month deposit rate 
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and MLR at 1.38% and 6.27% per annum, respectively. Similarly, the retail banks maintained its 12-
month deposit rate and MLR stable at 1.70% and 8.52% per annum, respectively. On the contrary, 
medium-sized commercial banks and Specialized Financial Institutions (SFIs) lowered their 12-month 
deposit rates by 0.03% to 1.24% and 1.52% per annum, respectively. However, they held their MLR at 
the same level as in the previous quarter at 6.68% and 6.63% per annum, respectively. For real deposit 
and lending rates in the third quarter of 2016, they were kept stable from the previous quarter at 1.00% 
and 5.89% per annum; as a result of the maintaining of both deposit rate and MLR of major commercial 
banks and the same level of the headline inflation rate at the end of the second and third quarter. 
However, in October 2016, the real deposit rate was increased to 1.06% per annum in accordance with 
the increase in deposit rate and the reduction in the headline inflation rate. Likewise, the real MLR was 
raised to 5.93% per annum following the reduction in the headline inflation. 

o Deposits including Bill of Exchange (B/E) of commercial banks grew by 2.3% in the third quarter of 2016, 
decelerating from 2.8% growth in the previous quarter. 

o Loans private loan (excluding accrued interest) of commercial banks increased by 3.8%, slowing down 
from 4.1% in the previous quarter, as a result of the slowdown in business loan, particularly in 
manufacturing loan. Household loan, however, expanded at the same pace as prior quarter, supported 
by the improvement of loans for purchase or hire purchase of cars and motorcycle. Meanwhile, growth 
of home loans slightly declined due to the end of government stimulus measure in real estate sector. 
Loan quality during the third quarter deteriorated, due to the fact that Non-Performing Loan to total 
outstanding loan ratio continually increased from 2.72% in the second quarter to 2.89% in the third 
quarter. Likewise, Special Mention Loan to total outstanding loan ratio rose from 2.17% to 2.38% in this 
quarter. 

o The government bond yields shifted upward in almost all maturities, comparing with the second quarter 
of 2016. Thai government bond yields in almost all maturities shifted upward which was induced by (1) 
the anticipation of the new issuance of long-term government bond amounted to THB 86,000 million. 
Investors, therefore, delayed their investment; (2) the expectation that the Federal Reserve Bank 
(“FED”) will increase its policy rate in September, which caused foreign investors to sell bonds in 
emerging markets. However, after FED decided to hold the policy rate in September, foreign investors’ 
demand for bonds in emerging market bounced. As a result, foreign investors recorded a net buy 
position of THB 109.1 billion, slightly dropped from a net buy position of THB 132.2 billion in prior 
quarter. In addition, an average daily outright trading transaction slightly decreased from an average of 
THB 98.2 billion in the second quarter to THB 89.8 billion in this quarter.  

o SET Index fluctuated in an upward trend as a result of foreign capital inflow. at the end of the third 
quarter of 2016, SET Index closed at 1,483.2 points; representing a 2.6% growth from the previous 
quarter. An average trading volume slightly increased from THB 44.9 billion  per day in previous quarter 
to THB  58.1 billion per day in this quarter. Foreign investors registered a net buy of THB 96.0 billion, 
compared with a net buy of THB 17.5 billion in the previous quarter. In October 2016, SET Index closed 
at 1,495.7 points, slightly increased by 0.9% from the previous month. Nevertheless, the expectation 
that Fed will increase policy rate later in this year caused foreign investors to register a net sell of THB 
18.1 billion. 

 
Household debt in 2016 
According to the information of Kasikorn Research Center in December 2016, household debt in the third 
quarter of 2016 continued to slow down with a growth rate of merely 4.1% from the same period last year. 
Contrasting to the end of 2015, household debt in Thailand expanded by 5.2% and even experienced a 
double digit growth between 2009 – 2013. The slower growth is explained by the caution of financial 
institutions to underwrite new loans to households. As a result, household debt to GDP declined for the third 
consecutive quarter to 81% of GDP by the end of 3rd quarter of 2016 compared to 81.3% of GDP by the end 
of previous quarter. A slowdown in many retail credit offerings including home loans (which is the majority 
portion of household debt) attributed to this decline. Home loan expanded by 8.0% from the same period 
last year, declining from 8.7% growth during the second quarter of 2016. The slower growth matched with 
the declining ownership transfer transactions of housings in Bangkok and its vicinity, coupled with the decline 
in consumer loans due to a cautious credit policy by banks to govern bad debt during the time when Thai 
economy had not fully recovered. On the contrary, credit card loan still increased due to rising consumers’ 
usage. Auto loan also expanded despite the pressure from the end of government’s First Car Buying Scheme. 
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Although the outstanding amount of household debt increased from the previous quarter by THB 98.1 billion, 
it declined by 4.1% (the lowest growth rate since 2004) from the same period last year. Kasikorn Research 
Center expected that the amount of outstanding household debt will increase to 81.5% of GDP by the end of 
2016 due to growth prospect of home loans, acceleration of housing ownership transfer at year end by real 
estate operators, and end of year spending spree by consumers. These factors will drive up the outlook for 
personal loan, credit card loan, and multi-purpose loan to rise above the 3rd quarter level. However, the level 
of household debt at the end of 2016 is still expected to be lower than the level seen in 2015. 

 
Economic projection for 2017  
Thai economy in 2017 is projected to grow in the range of 3.0%-4.0%, improving from 2.8% and 3.2% of 
growth during 2015 and 2016, respectively. The headline inflation is projected to be within the range of 1.0%-
2.0%. The current account balance is forecasted to register a surplus of 10.2% of GDP. Key contributions of 
economic growth are as follows: 
(1) Consumption: private consumption expenditure is expected to grow by 2.7%, slightly edged down from 

the growth of 3.0% in 2016, showing a slower pace after previous rapid growth during the first half of 
2016 (partly explained by the fiscal stimulus measures as well as the upsurge in vehicle spending during 
the launch of several new car models over that period). However, the household consumption is 
expected to strengthen in the second half of 2017 due to the gradual improvement in household income 
from both a pickup in export-related earning and a stronger recover in farm income after a rising 
agricultural productions. Meanwhile, government consumption expenditure is likely to increase by 2.1%, 
presenting a much better performance than 0.6% in 2016. 

(2) Total Investments is anticipated to rise by 5.0% in 2017, relative to a 3.0% of growth in 2016. Private 
investment is likely to grow by 2.8%, moving forward with stronger momentum from a growth of 1.2% 
in 2016. The key drivers are (1) the recent trend of improvement in exports, which would slowly 
increase capacity utilization and eventually stimulate new investment to expand production capacity; (2) 
a further progress of public infrastructure projects, especially those that have already been tendered 
and started construction, as well as investments under the Public and Private Partnership (PPP), which 
will enhance investor confidence and provides more clarity about the Government’s intension; (3) 
tendency among foreign manufacturers to move their production bases to Thailand. Meanwhile, public 
investment is expected to grow by 11.2% compared with a growth of 10.0% in 2016. This could be 
mainly driven by supporting factors from public enterprise investment and the progress of infrastructure 
projects in the transport sector.  

(3) Export value of goods in US dollar term is predicted to expand by 2.4%, improving from 0.0% in 2016. 
Export volume of goods is estimated to grow by 1.2%, higher than an expansion of 0.2% in 2016, mainly 
supported by the recovery of the world economy and global trade volume. Meanwhile, export price is 
expected to rise by 1.2%. In addition, export of services is also expected to continue to expand well due 
to a continual expansion in income from tourism. Thus, the export quantity of goods and services is 
forecasted to grow by 3.0% in 2017.  

(4) Economic Stability remains favorable. The average headline inflation in 2017 is estimated to be in the 
range of 1.0%-2.0%, compared with the rate of 0.2% in 2016, following the upward trend of crude oil 
prices, commodity prices, as well as the depreciation of Thai baht.  

 
Outlook for interest rate and household debt in 2017 
In 2017, Kasikorn Research Center expected that the MPC will continue to preserve the policy space and 
implement easing monetary policy to cope with sensitivity of global economy. Although headline inflation 
might increase in 2017, it is likely to stay within the targeted range of the Bank of Thailand thus not putting 
strong pressure on the MPC. As a result, there is a possibility that the MPC will maintain the policy rate at 
1.50% for the whole year of 2017. 
 
For household debt in 2017, Kasikorn Research Center forecasted that it will remain at the same level or slow 
down within the range of 80.5%-81.5% of GDP under the GDP growth assumption of 3.3% despite the level of 
outstanding household debt increasing in the range of 4.0%-5.0% at year end 2016 from the previous forecast 
of 3.6% due to economic growth supported by government’s stimulus package, public investment, as well as 
the rise in commodity price particularly crude oil. Retail credit products which will foster growth in household 
debt include home loans, consumption loans, and hire purchase auto loans. Home loans will likely be supported 
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by the launch of new residential projects by real estate operators and their intense marketing campaigns, 
together with the stabilized level of interest rate expected in 2017 (but may increase in 2018). The stabilized 
interest rate will drive purchasing decisions of potential home owners in 2017 to lock down interest rate and 
thus their repayment ability. For consumption loans, which include personal loans and credit card loans, they 
are expected to increase following the rising costs of living that will likely be adjusted upward based on rising 
energy and labor costs. For hire purchase auto loans, which had been slowed down for many consecutive years, 
it is expected to revert back in 2017 due to recovery of domestic auto sales and release of debt burden of 
approximately 30% of borrowers in the First Car Buying scheme. This may result in a slower deceleration of hire 
purchase auto loan in 2017. Furthermore, financial institutions will be the core lenders to households in 2017 
including commercial banks, SFIs, co-operatives. Meanwhile, non-bank institutions will come back and 
strengthen their roles after a 2 consecutive years of stepping down. Kasikorn Research Center estimated that in 
2017, Thai households will accumulate savings and prepare for the potential increase in interest rate in 2018. 
Such increase will likely to affect debt burdens of household that are linked to floating interest rate especially 
home loans (when stabilized interest rate had passed), business loans, co-op loans, which altogether comprise 
approximately 35% of GDP. Meanwhile, it is expected that financial institutions will continue to implement 
cautious lending policy even with the forecasted declining household debt in 2017. 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Household Debts by Loan Types for 2015 – 2017 Loan Expansion by Loan Types for 2016 – 2017 

Remark : f – forecasted by Kasikorn Research Center 

Source : Kasikorn Research Center 
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Enclosure 2: General Information of Bangkok First Investment & Trust Public Company Limited 

 
1. Company Background 

 
Bangkok First Investment & Trust Public company Limited (“BFIT”) was founded in 1972 as a finance 
company. In 1984, BFIT’s shares were listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand with a trading symbol “BFIT”. 
BFIT mainly engaged in the financial services under the scopes permitted by the Bank of Thailand, Ministry of 
Finance, and other relevant government agencies. It was granted the license No.8/2516 by the Ministry of 
Finance to engage in 4 types of finance businesses including business of finance for commerce, business of 
finance for development, business of finance for disposition and consumption, and business of finance for 
housing. Moreover, BFIT is approved to act as debenture holder representative and/or trustee. 
 
As of December 31, 2016, BFIT had a registered capital of THB 1,500 million, comprising of 300,000,000 
ordinary shares with a par value of THB 5.00 per share, and a paid up capital of THB 1,000 million, comprising 
of 200,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of THB 5.00 per share. 
 
2. Business Characteristics 

 
The nature of BFIT’s services by permission can be divided into 2 categories which are Finance business and 
other financial services that BFIT are permitted. The details are presented as follows: 
 
(2.1) Public borrowing  
BFIT provides several types of deposit services consisted of deposit receipts and promissory for general 
public, corporate entities, foundations, and associations. The term of deposits are made available for client’s 
need such as at call or ranging from 1 month, 3 months, 5 months, 6 months, 9 months, 12 months, 18 
months, 24 months, 36 months, etc. with appropriate interest rate according to economic condition, BFIT’s 
liquidity, interest rate and yield in the money market as a whole. 

 
(2.2) Lending  
BFIT provides lending for different purposes as follows: 
(1) Commercial lending – BFIT provides a wide range of commercial loan facilities to its clients, such as 

loans for working capital with various short-term maturities and/or loans to finance inventory or 
receivables. The commercial lending is provided to suit the need of each client and to match the 
collateral risk. 

(2) Project Finance – BFIT also provides credit facilities for newly established entities as well as expansion 
projects of existing establishments that will be beneficial to the economy. Short term, medium term, 
and long term loan facilities are available to match with the necessity and suitability of each type of 
business. Project finance for SME business is also included in this category to support the 
government’s policy.  

(3) Personal loans for individuals – BFIT provides personal loans for the purpose of personal consumption 
which is similar to staff loans that employers provide to their employees. This personal loan facility is 
mainly to serve personal needs. The available tenors are short term, medium term, and long term 
depending on the borrowers’ needs and their ability to repay debts. 
 

(2.3) Debenture holder representative  
As a debenture holder representative, BFIT offers service on behalf of debenture holders to monitor the 
issuer’s compliance with the terms and conditions of the debentures for the benefits of debenture holders.  

 
(2.4) Treasury and investment in securities 
BFIT invests under proprietary accounts in a wide range of securities classes both in primary and secondary 
markets. BFIT focuses mainly in marketable securities with good fundamental which include government and 
state-owned enterprise bonds, corporate bonds, bill of exchange, listed common shares, listed property 
funds, and also non-listed common shares. BFIT as an investor also participates in collateralized repurchase 
transactions with the Bank of Thailand and commercial banks. 
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Please take into consideration any additional information about BFIT’s business in Form 56-1 for the year 
2015 or Annual Report for the Year 2015 of BFIT which can be located at the website of the SET – 
www.set.or.th, the SEC – www.sec.or.th, or BFIT – www.bfit.co.th.  

 
BFIT’s revenue structure according to its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 – 2015 are 
presented below. 
 

Revenue Structure of BFIT for 2013 – 2015 
 2013 2014 2015 

THB mill % THB mill % THB mill % 
Interest income        

Interbank and money market items  11.54  2.99  13.46  3.78  23.13  7.20  
Investments in debt securities 158.31  41.10  112.62  31.64  97.56  30.38  
Loans  164.64  42.74  175.02  49.18  140.47  43.75  
Hire purchase 0.01  0.01  -  -  -  -  

Total interest income (1) 334.50  86.84  301.10  84.60  261.16  81.33  
Interest expense        

Deposits  122.72  31.86  89.72  25.21  86.96  27.07  
Interbank and money market items  -  -  -  -  0.01  0.01  
Contribution fees to FIDF and the 
Deposit Protection Agency 

18.50  4.80  15.52  4.36  16.66  5.19  

Debt securities issued and borrowings  0.78  0.20  0.31  0.08  0.14  0.04  
Borrowing fees  -  -  0.01  0.01  0.01  0.01  

Total interest expense 142.00  36.86  105.56  29.66  103.78  32.32  
Net interest income 192.50  49.98  195.54  54.94  157.38  49.01  
Fees and services income        

Acceptances, Aval, and guarantees 0.85  0.22  0.57  0.16  0.56  0.17  
Other 5.38  1.40  6.24  1.75  6.43  2.00  

Total fees and services income (2)  6.23  1.62  6.81  1.91  6.99  2.17  
Net gains (loss) on investments        

Gains from disposal of investments  6.92  1.79  19.18  5.39  19.32  6.02  
Loss on impairment of investments  (3.13)  (0.81)  (1.59)  (0.44)  (1.88)  (0.59)  

Net gains (loss) on investments (3)  3.79  0.98  17.59  4.95  17.44  5.43  
Other operating incomes        

 Dividend income  32.39  8.41  29.27  8.22       34.59 10.77  
Other income  8.30  2.15  1.13  0.32  0.97  0.30  

Total other operating incomes (4)  40.69  10.56  30.40  8.54  35.56  11.07  
Total income (1) + (2) + (3) + (4)  385.21  100.00  355.90  100.00  321.15  100.00  
Source : Form 56-1 for the year 2015 of BFIT 

 
3.  Shareholders 

 
The list of BFIT’s major shareholders as of March 18, 2016 (the latest closing date of the book of 
shareholders’ registration) is as follows: 
 

The List of BFIT’s Major Shareholders as of March 18, 2016 
 Name No. of Shares % 

1 Mr. Siritaj Rojanapruk 12,043,100 6.02 
2 Ms. Kanoknuj Cholwanit 9,970,000 4.99 
3 Ms.Saowakon Limaksorn 9,940,000 4.97 
4 Mr. Vorajate Indamra 9,920,000 4.96 
5 Mr. Somyos Vinitchaikul 9,901,000 4.95 
6 Mr. Luchai Phukhuan-Anadha 9,820,000 4.91 
7 Ms.Supida Chatrapiruk 9,740,000 4.87 
8 Mrs. Phirada Indamra 9,734,000 4.87 
9 Mrs. Tassanee Indamra 9,700,000 4.85 
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 Name No. of Shares % 
10 Mrs. Vilailuck Vikitset 9,040,000 4.52 

 Total 10 major shareholders 99,808,100  49.91 
 Other minority shareholders 100,191,900 50.09 
 Total 200,000,000 100.00 

Remark : On June 27, 2016, SAWAD invested in 19,680,000 ordinary shares of BFIT or 9.84% of total shares of BFIT. 
Source :  www.set.or.th  

 
4.  The Board of Directors 

 
As of December 28, 2016, BFIT’s Board of Directors are as follows: 

 
The Board of Directors of BFIT as of December 28, 2016 

 Name Position 
1 Mrs. Kingthien Bang-Or Director / Managing Director (Acting) 
2 Mr. Vorakit Srangsriwong Director 
3 Mrs. Thanyathorn Chonlavorn Director 
4 Mr. Thititham Rojanapruk Director 
5 Mr. Amorn Jetchamnongnuch Director 
6 Mr. Auychai Somklin Director 
7 Mr. Thira Wipuchanin Independent Director / Chairman of Audit Committee 
8 Mr. Siriwut Buranapin Independent Director / Audit Committee 

Source : www.set.or.th 
 
The authorized directors are Mrs. Kingthien Bang-Or, Mrs. Thanyathorn Chonlavorn, Mr. Vorakit Srangsriwong, 
Mr. Thititham Rojanapruk, and Mr. Auychai Somklin; two out of these five directors sign together with the 
company’s seal. 
 
As of December 28, 2016, the management of BFIT are presented below. 
 

The Management of BFIT as of December 28, 2016 
 Name Position 

1 Mrs. Kingthien Bang-Or Managing Director (Acting) 
2 Mr. Thititham Rojanapruk Deputy Managing Director 
3 Mr. Auychai Somklin Deputy Managing Director 
4 Mr. Manop Himakorn Assistant Managing Director 
5 Mrs. Choochit Teyateeti Vice President / Head of Credit Department 
6 Mr. Wichain Proongpanish Vice President / Head of Risk Management Department 
7 Miss Wimon Chiramongkolgarn Vice President / Head of Information Technology Department 
8 Miss Kanoknuj Cholvanit Vice President / Head of Investment Advisory Department 
9 Mr. Adisorn Wichaidith Assistant Vice President / Head of Personnel & General 

Service Department 
10 Mr. Kanokporn Liewsuwan Assistant Vice President / Head of Legal Department 
11 Mr. Sornpol Buppanimit Assistant Vice President / Head of Audit Department 
12 Mrs. Kanda Kovitayamongkol Assistant Vice President / Head of Operations Department 
13 Mrs. Chamaiporn Decharkom Assistant Vice President / Head of Account & Finance 

Department 
Source : Form 56 – 1 for the year 2015 and www.bfit.co.th 
 
5.  Summary of Financial Statements and Operating Performance  

 
Summary of financial information in accordance with the financial statement of BFIT, audited or reviewed by 
DIA International Auditing Co.,Ltd., for the year ended December 31, 2013 – 2015 and for 9 month period 
ended September 30, 2016, and summary of financial information in accordance with the financial statement 
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for the year ended December 31, 2016 (unaudited version as submitted by BFIT to the SET on January 20, 
2017, in which the IFA presented below as an additional information to the shareholders for the updated 
financial status and operating performance of BFIT) are as follow: 
  

Summary of Financial Statements and Operating Performance of BFITfor the year ended December 31, 
2013 – 2015 and for 9 month period ended September 30, 2016 (audited or reviewed by auditor) 

and for the year ended December 31, 2016 (unaudited) 
BFIT 

2013 2014 2015 30 Sept 2016 
2016 

(unaudited) Statement of financial position  
(Unit: THB Million)  
Cash 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 
Interbank and money market items - 
net 

620.18 391.45 1,349.47 1,392.76 1,720.61 

Investment - net 3,273.09 2,699.49 2,540.66 2,648.48 2,435.48 
Net loans to customer and accrued 
interest receivables 

     

Loans to customer 2,186.42 2,057.24 1,941.51 1,914.48  1,903.10  
Accrued interest receivables 9.31 6.57 6.42 6.98  1.19  

Total loans to customer and accrued 
interest receivables 

2,195.74 2,063.81 1,947.93 1,921.47  1,904.29  

Less: Deferred incomes  (2.58) - - - - 
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (560.01) (562.73) (559.45) (526.83)  (501.09) 
Less: Allowance for revaluation of debt 
restructuring  

(6.14) (4.69) (3.37) (2.46)  (2.20) 

Net loans to customer and accrued 
interest receivables 

1,627.01 1,496.40 1,385.11 1,392.18  1,401.00  

Land, premises and equipment - net 4.39 10.34 12.80 11.81  10.86  
Other intangible assets - net 0.07 0.05 0.68 0.55  0.57  
Deferred tax assets 0.84 1.50 1.43 1.65  1.73  
Other assets - net 33.71 23.43 25.40 19.23  24.27  
Total assets 5,559.30 4,622.69 5,315.58 5,466.68  5,594.53  
Deposits      

From public 3,516.08 2,545.21 3,177.47 3,246.51  3,380.89  
From foreign countries 0.27 0.06 0.06 0.06  0.06  

Total deposits 3,516.35 2,545.27 3,177.53 3,246.57  3,380.95  
Debt securities issued and borrowings 13.67 7.37 6.80 6.80  6.41  
Provisions 34.95 36.77 34.90 35.19  35.56  
Deferred tax liabilities 25.16 51.30 40.69 72.41  61.92  
Other liabilities 69.72 41.26 67.49 25.23 29.98 
Total liabilities 3,659.84 2,681.97 3,327.41 3,386.20 3,514.82 
Authorised share capital 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 
Issued and paid-up share capital 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00  1,000.00  
Other components of equity 100.62 116.54 134.10 207.79  165.83  
Retained earnings 798.84 824.18 854.07 872.69 913.89 
Total owners’ equity 1,899.46 1,940.72 1,988.17 2,080.48 2,079.71 
Total liabilities and owners’ equity 5,559.30 4,622.69 5,315.58 5,466.68 5,594.53 
 
BFIT 

2013 2014 2015 Jan – Sept 
2016  

2016 
(unaudited) Statement of comprehensive income  

(Unit: THB Million)  
Interest income     

Interbank and money market items 11.54 13.46 23.13 13.75  19.09 
Investments in debt securities 158.31 112.62 97.56 70.82  93.38 
Loans 164.65 175.01 140.47 99.08  131.36 

Total interest income 334.50 301.10 261.16 183.65  243.84 
Interest expenses      

Deposits 122.73 89.73 86.97 40.84 53.67 



The opinion of IFA on the acquisition of assets 
(For the purpose of translation only) 

 

      83 
 

BFIT 
2013 2014 2015 Jan – Sept 

2016  
2016 

(unaudited) Statement of comprehensive income  
(Unit: THB Million)  

Contribution fee to FIDF and the 
Deposit Protection Agency 

18.49 15.52 16.67 11.16  15.03 

Debt securities issed and borrowings 0.78 0.31 0.14 0.08  0.11 
Total interest expenses 142.00 105.56 103.78 52.08  68.81 
Net interest income 192.50 195.54 157.38 131.57  175.03 
Total fees and services income 6.23 6.81 6.99 5.30 7.47 
Net gain (loss) on investments 3.79 17.60 17.44 1.87 (2.73) 
Total other operating incomes 40.69 30.40 35.56 31.53 59.00 
Total other operating expenses 100.27 103.86 97.38 68.57 95.96 
Impairment loss of loans and debt 
securities  

0.02 - - - - 

Profit from operating before income 
tax expense 

142.91 146.48 119.99 101.69 142.82 

Income tax expense 40.26 50.32 21.53 13.07  13.00 
Profit for the year 102.65 96.16 98.46 88.62  129.82 
Total other comprehensive incomes (68.70) 15.09 18.99 73.69 31.73 
Total comprehensive income 33.95 111.26 117.45 162.31 161.54 
 
BFIT 2013 2014 2015 Jan – Sept 

2016  Statement of cash flows (Unit: THB Million)  
Net cash flows provided by (used in) operating 
activities 

(338.50) (569.65) (67.82) 76.32 

Net cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities 436.70 611.05 195.61 (12.94) 
Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities (60.00) (70.00) (70.00) (70.00) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 38.19 (28.60) 57.79 (6.62) 

 
BFIT 2013 2014 2015 Jan – Sept 

2016 Financial ratio (Unit: THB Million)  
Profitability ratio     
Gross profit margin (%) 62.02 68.73 65.70 76.51 
Net profit margin (%) 26.65 27.02 30.66 39.86 
Return on equity (%) 5.37 5.01 5.01 5.78 
Interest income ratio (%) 8.06 9.12 7.08 5.57 
Interest expenses ratio (%) 3.33 2.96 3.04 1.86 
Net interest margin (%) 4.73 6.16 4.04 3.71 
Return on investment (%) 5.51 5.34 5.71 5.50 
Efficiency ratio     
Net interest income to Total assets ratio (%) 3.66 4.15 3.50 3.53 
Return on assets (%) 1.78 1.89 1.98 2.18 
Total asset turnover (times) 0.07 0.07 0.06 0.06 
Fiancial ratio     
Debt to Equity ratio (times) 1.93 1.38 1.67 1.63 
Loans to Deposits and Borrowings ratio (times) 0.64 0.74 0.86 0.86 
Deposits and Borrowings to Total liabilities ratio (%) 96.45 95.18 95.70 96.08 
Dividend payout ratio (%) 68.19 72.79 71.10 - 
Total capital ratio (%) 33.70 48.21 44.93 44.83 
Asset quality ratio     
Allowance for doubtful accounts to Total loans to 
customer ratio (%)* 

21.26 24.39 18.10 16.92 

Non-performing loans to customer and receivables to 
Total loans to customer ratio (%)* 

19.90 18.51 10.91 10.68 

Accrued interest to Total loans to customer (%)* 0.36 0.29 0.21 0.23 
 Remark * Total loans to customer, by the Bank of Thailand’s definition, is Loans to customers plus Specialized 

financial institutions item 
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Analysis of Financial Performance and Operating Results of BFIT 
Operating results 
Interest income 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, BFIT had an interest income of THB 334.50 million, THB 301.10 
million, THB 261.16 million, and THB 183.65 million, respectively. These interest incomes represent interest 
rates of 8.06%, 9.12%, 7.08% and 5.57%, respectively. Interest incomes of BFIT comprise interest income 
from interbank and money market items, interest income from investment in debt securities, and interest 
income from loans. The details of these interest incomes are explained below. 
 
Interest income from interbank and money market items 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, BFIT had interest income from interbank and money market 
items of THB 11.54 million, THB 13.46 million, THB 23.13 million, and THB 13.75 million, respectively. These 
amounts represent 3.45%, 4.47%, 8.86%, and 7.49% of total interest income each year. The reason for an 
increase in interest income from interbank and money market items of BFIT in 2014 – 2015 comparing to the 
previous year by the amount of THB 1.92 million and THB 9.66 million, or by 16.66% and 71.79%, was an 
increase in the average volumes of private repurchase agreement. For the first 9 months of 2016, BFIT had a 
lower interest income from interbank and money market items by THB 4.23 million or by 23.53% comparing 
to the same period of the previous year. 
 
Interest income from investment in debt securities 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, BFIT had interest income from investment in debt securities of 
THB 158.31 million, THB 112.62 million, THB 97.56 million, and THB 70.82 million, respectively. These 
amounts represent 47.33%, 37.40%, 37.36%, and 38.56% of total interest income each year. In 2014 – 2015, 
interest income from investment in debt securities declined from the previous year by THB 45.69 million and 
THB 15.06 million, respectively, or by 28.86% and 13.37%. The declining amount was due to the redemption 
of matured debt securities during the year and the decrease in the volume of investments in debt securities 
for the preparation of liquidity for business operation. For the first 9 months of 2016, BFIT had a lower 
interest income from investment in debt securities by THB 1.18 million or by 1.64% comparing to the same 
period of the previous year.  
 
Interest income from loans 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, BFIT had interest income from loans of THB 164.65 million, THB 
175.01 million, THB 140.47 million, and THB 99.08 million, respectively. These amounts represent 49.22%, 
58.13%, 53.79%, and 53.95% of total interest income each year. Interest income from loans in 2014 increased 
by THB 10.36 million or by 6.29% from the previous year due to an increase in interest income from the 
restructured loans of major clients. For 2015, interest income from loans declined by THB 34.55 million or by 
19.74% because BFIT did not receive payment of interest from the major loans restructured as in 2014. 
 
Interest expenses 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, BFIT had interest expenses of THB 142.00 million, THB 105.56 
million, THB 103.78 million, and THB 52.08 million, respectively. These interest expenses represent interest 
rates of 3.33%, 2.96%, 3.04%, and 1.86% each year. During 2014 – 2015, interest expenses declined by THB 
36.44 million and THB 1.77 million, or by 25.66% and 1.68%, respectively, comparing to the same period last 
year. For the first 9 months of 2016, BFIT had a lower interest expenses by THB 28.68 million or by 35.51% 
comparing to the same period of previous year. 
 
The declining amount of interest expenses during 2014 was due to a decrease in the amount of deposits and 
the deposit interest rate from the year 2013. In 2015, the deposit interest rate declined due to the 
decrement of the policy interest rate by the Monetary Policy Committee, which resulted in lower average 
deposit interest rate. The average deposit interest rate for 2013 – 2015 were 3.18%, 2.89%, and 2.52% per 
annum. In 2016, BFIT reduced the deposit interest rate in the first quarter. As a result, interest expenses in 
the first 9 months of 2016 declined comparing to the same period of the previous year. Contribution fees to 
the Financial Institutions Development Fund (FIDF) and the Deposit Protection Agency in 2014 decreased 
from the previous year by THB 2.97 million or by 16.08%. Meanwhile, the amount in 2015 increased by THB 
1.15 million, or by 7.40%, and then declined in the first 9 months of 2016 from the same period of last year 
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by THB 1.36 million, or by 10.90%. The change in such contribution fees varied with the amount of deposits 
obtained from the public. 
 
Non interest income 
Non interest income of BFIT comprises fees and service income, net gains on investments, and other 
operating incomes. The details of non interest income are presented are below. 
 
Fees and service income 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, BFIT had fees and service income of THB 6.23 million, THB 
6.81 million, THB 6.99 million, and THB 5.30 million, respectively. In 2014, fees and service income increased 
by THB 0.58 million or by 9.31% and then they increased by THB 0.18 million or by 2.69% in 2015 comparing 
to the previous year. This was due to an increase in fees on loans. For the first 9 months of 2016, fees and 
service income increased by THB 0.14 million or by 2.65% comparing to the same period of the previous year. 
 
Net gains on investments 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, BFIT had net gains on investments on THB 3.79 million, THB 
17.60 million, THB 17.44 million, and THB 1.87 million, respectively. During 2014, net gain on investments 
increased by THB 13.81 million or by 364.63% due to the significant increment in valuation of the available-
for-sale investments by THB 12.27 million. For 2015, net gains on investments decreased by THB 0.15 million 
or by 0.88% due to an increase in impairment loss on investments by THB 0.29 million while an increase in 
gains from disposal of investments was THB 0.14 million. For the first 9 months of 2016, net gains on 
investments declined from the same period of last year by THB 5.68 million or by 75.20% due to a decrease in 
gains from disposal of available-for-sale securities by THB 7.56 million and also there was no recognition of 
impairment loss. While in the first 9 months of 2015, there was a recognition of impairment loss at THB 1.88 
million. 
 
Other operating incomes 
Other operating incomes of BFIT are majorly dividend income. In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, 
BFIT had other operating incomes of THB 40.69 million, THB 30.40 million, THB 35.56 million, and THB 31.53 
million, respectively. In 2014, other operating incomes declined by THB 10.29 million or by 25.28% comparing to 
the previous year due to a decrease in other incomes by THB 7.17 million, namely, miscellaneous income and 
dividend income, by THB 3.11 million. The declines were due to BFIT holding less amount of equity securities 
and investment units comparing to the year 2013. Meanwhile in 2015, BFIT had a higher other operating 
incomes than the previous year by THB 5.16 million or by 16.98% due to an increase in dividend income by THB 
5.32 million. The increase was due to BFIT holding more equity securities and investment units than in 2014. For 
the first 9 months of 2016, other operating incomes increased by THB 4.44 million, or by 16.37%, comparing to 
the same period of previous year due to an increase in other income by THB 4.39 million. 
 
Other operating expenses 
Other operating expenses of BFIT comprise personnel expenses, premises and equipment expenses, taxes 
and duties, directors’ remuneration, and other expenses. In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, BFIT 
had other operating expenses of THB 100.27 million, THB 103.86 million, THB 97.38 million, and THB 68.57 
million, respectively. The reason for an increasing amount in 2014 from the previous year by THB 3.59 million 
or by 3.58% was an increase in personnel expenses from an annual salary adjustments by THB 1.95 million 
and an increase in other expenses by THB 1.58 million. For 2015, other operating expenses declined by THB 
6.48 million or by 6.24% which was a result of a decrease in other expenses by THB 7.19 million, a decrease in 
taxes and duties by THB 1.36 million, while premises and equipment expenses increased by THB 1.25 million 
from an increase in depreciation expenses of the acquired assets. For the first 9 months of 2016, other 
operating expenses declined by THB 0.82 million or by 1.19% comparing to the same period last year. The 
decline was mainly because personnel expenses decreased by THB 1.01 million while directors’ remuneration 
increased by less amount at THB 0.38 million. 
 
Net profits 
In 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016, BFIT had net profits of THB 102.65 million, THB 96.16 million, 
THB 98.46 million, and THB 88.62 million, respectively. These amounts represent net profit margins of 
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26.65%, 27.02%, 30.66%, and 39.86% each year. The main reason for a decrease in net profits in 2014 by THB 
6.49 million or by 6.32% from the previous year was a decrease in other operating income by THB 10.29 
million and an increase in income taxes by THB 10.05 million, comprising an increase in deferred tax expenses 
of THB 18.59 million and a decrease in corporate income taxes of THB 8.54 million. While in 2015, net profits 
increased from the previous year by THB 2.29 million or by 2.38% due to an increase in other operating 
incomes by THB 5.16 million, a decrease in other operating expenses by THB 6.48 million, and a decrease in 
income taxes by THB 28.79 million, comprising a decrease in deferred tax expenses by THB 22.00 million and 
a decrease in corporate income tax by THB 6.78 million. For the first 9 months of 2016, BFIT had an increasing 
net profits by THB 19.15 million or by 27.56% comparing to the same period of previous year. The increase 
was due to an increase in net interest income by THB 17.50 million. This is because deposit interest expense 
was lower by THB 27.25 million while interest income was lower by a less amount of THB 11.18 million. 
 
Financial status 
Assets 
Total assets of BFIT as of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and as of September 30, 2016 were THB 5,559.30 
million, THB 4,622.69 million, THB 5,315.58 million, and THB 5,466.68 million, respectively. As of December 
31, 2014, total assets of BFIT declined from the end of previous year by THB 936.61 million or by 16.85%. This 
was because of a decline in net interbank and money market items by THB 228.73 million, a decline in net 
investments by THB 573.60 million, and a decline in net loans to customer and accrued interest receivables 
by THB 130.61 million. The reason for an increase in total assets as of December 31, 2015 from the end of 
previous year by THB 692.89 million or by 14.99% was an increase in net interbank and money market items 
by THB 958.01 million while both net investments and net loans to customer and accrued interest receivables 
declined by the amount of THB 158.83 million and THB 111.29 million, respectively. As of September 30, 
2016, BFIT had an increasing amount of total assets from the end of 2015 by THB 151.10 million or by 2.84%. 
The increase was due to an increase in net investments by THB 107.81 million and an increase in net 
interbank and money market items by THB 43.29 million. In this regards, the main assets of BFIT comprise 
financial assets such as net interbank and money market items, net investments, and net loans to customer 
and accrued interest receivables. Details of such items are presented below. 
 
Net interbank and money market items 
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, net interbank and money market items were THB  
620.18 million, THB 391.45 million, THB 1,349.47 million, and THB 1,392.76 million, respectively. These 
amounts represent 11.16%, 8.47%, 25.39% and 25.48% of total assets each year.  
 
As of December 31, 2014, BFIT had a decreasing amount of net interbank and money market from the end of 
previous year by THB 228.73 million or by 36.88% due to a decrease in private repurchase transactions 
between BFIT and specialized financial institutions by THB 200 million. As of December 31, 2015, net 
interbank and money market items increased from the end of previous year by THB 958.01 million or by 
244.73% due to an increase in the transactions between BFIT and specialized financial institutions by THB 
900.00 million and the transactions between BFIT and commercial banks by THB 66.45 million. As of 
September 30, 2016, BFIT had an increasing amount of net interbank and money market items from 
December 31, 2015 by THB 43.29 million or by 3.21%. The increase was due to an increase in the transactions 
between BFIT and the Bank of Thailand by THB 58.35 million and the transactions between BFIT and 
specialized financial institutions by THB 50.00 million, while the transactions between BFIT and commercial 
banks declined by THB 64.97 million. 
 
Net investments 
BFIT had net investments as of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016 of THB 3,273.09 million, 
THB 2,699.49 million, THB 2,540.66 million, and THB 2,648.48 million, respectively. These amounts represent 
58.88%, 58.40%, 47.80%, and 48.45% of total assets at the end of each year.  
 
As of December 31, 2014, net investments of BFIT declined from the end of previous year by THB 573.60 
million or by 17.52% due to a decrease in private debt securities by THB 664.85 million. As of December 31, 
2015, BFIT had a declining amount of net investments by THB 158.83 million or by 5.88% due primarily to a 
decrease in government and state enterprise securities by THB 283.25 million while domestic marketable 
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equity securities and unit trusts increased by THB 111.52 million. As of September 30, 2016, net investments 
of BFIT increased from December 31, 2015 by THB 107.81 million or by 4.24%. This was mainly because 
domestic marketable equity securities and unit trusts increased by THB 69.26 million and private sector debt 
securities increased by THB 30.17 million. 
 
Net loans to customer and accrued interest receivables 
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, BFIT had net loans to customer and accrued interest 
receivables of THB 1,627.01 million, THB 1,496.40 million, THB 1,385.11 million, and THB 1,392.18 million, 
respectively. These amounts represent 29.27%, 32.37%, 26.06%, and 25.47% of total assets each year.  

 
Net loans to customer and accrued interest receivables as of December 31, 2014 – 2015 declined from the 
end of previous year by THB 130.61 million and THB 111.29 million, or by 8.03% and 7.44%, respectively. The 
declines were primarily due to a decrease in the amount of loans to customers because BFIT did not grant 
any new corporate loan while some of the customers settled the whole amount of their loans and there were 
also repayment made by some instalment loan customers as well. As of September 30, 2016, net loans to 
customers and accrued interest receivables were higher than the amount as of December 31, 2015 by THB 
7.07 million or by 0.51%. The increase was primarily due to a decrease in allowance for doubtful accounts by 
THB 32.62 million while the decline in loans to customers was only by THB 27.03 million. 
 
Liabilities 
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and as of September 30, 2016, BFIT had total liabilities of THB 3,659.84 
million, THB 2,681.97 million, THB 3,327.41 million, and THB 3,386.20 million, respectively. The core liabilities 
of BFIT were deposits and borrowings which were THB 3,516.35 million, THB 2,545.27 million, THB 3,177.53 
million, and THB 3,246.57 million, respectively. These amounts represent 96.08%, 94.90%, 95.50%, and 
95.88% of total liabilities at the end of each year.  
 
As of December 31, 2014, total liabilities of BFIT declined from the end of previous year by THB 977.87 
million or by 26.72%. The decline was primarily due to a decrease in deposits by THB 971.09 million, mainly of 
those related parties of BFIT, who intended to use the money for business expansion. As of December 31, 
2015, total liabilities of BFIT increased from the end of previous year by THB 645.44 million or by 24.07% due 
to an increase in deposits by THB 632.26 million as a result of the promotional interest rate launched in 
January and February of 2015 in which the customers also continually deposit their money. As of September 
30, 2016, total liabilities of BFIT increased from December 31, 2015 by THB 58.79 million or by 1.77% due to 
an increase in deposit by THB 69.04 million. 
 
Shareholders’ equity 
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, total shareholders’ equity of BFIT were THB 1,899.46 
million, THB 1,940.72 million, THB 1,988.17 million, and THB 2,080.48 million, respectively. In 2014 – 2015, BFIT 
shareholders’ equity increased from the previous year by THB 41.26 million and THB 47.45 million, respectively, 
or by 2.17% and 2.44%. The increase was primarily due to the net profits in 2014 – 2015 by the amount of THB 
96.16 million and THB 98.46 million, respectively. Also, BFIT had gains on revaluation of available-for-sale 
investments net of income tax relating to the revaluation as presented in other comprehensive income of THB 
15.92 million and THB 17.56 million, respectively. As of September 30, 2016, BFIT shareholders’ equity 
increased from December 31, 2015 by THB 92.31 million or by 4.64% due to net profits as well as gains on 
revaluation of available-for-sale investments net of income tax relating to the revaluation in the first 9 months 
of 2016 at THB 88.62 million and THB 73.69 million, respectively. Additionally, during 2014 – 2015 and the first 9 
months of 2016, BFIT distributed dividend of THB 70 million each. 
 
Quality of assets, liquidity, and ratios 
Loans to customers 
1) Classified by type of business 

Unit : THB million 2013 2014 2015 Jan - Sept 2016 
Manufacturing and commerce 211.16 182.49 154.84 138.74 
Real estate and construction 181.16 54.66 48.40 44.71 
Public utilities and services 232.21 163.12 163.12 135.53 
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Unit : THB million 2013 2014 2015 Jan - Sept 2016 
Others 1,559.32 1,656.97 1,575.15 1,595.50 
Total 1) 2,183.85 2,057.24 1,941.51 1,914.48 
Source : Form 56-1 of BFIT for the year 2013 – 2015 and financial statements for the period ended September 30, 

2016 of BFIT 
Remark : 1) Total loans to customer net of deferred incomes 
 
Total loans to customer net of deferred incomes of BFIT as of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and as of 
September 30, 2016 were THB 2,183.85 million, THB 2,057.24 million, THB 1,941.51 million, and THB 
1,914.48 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2014, total loans to customer net of deferred incomes 
declined from the end of previous year by THB 126.60 million or by 5.80% due primarily to a decrease in 
loans provided to manufacturing and commerce sector by THB 28.67 million, a decrease in loans provided to 
real estate and construction sector by THB 126.50 million, and a decrease in loans provided to public utilities 
and services sector by THB 69.09 million, while other loans increased by THB 97.65 million. As of December 
31, 2015, BFIT had a decreasing amount of total loans to customer net of deferred incomes by THB 115.73 
million or by 5.63% due primarily to a decrease in total loans provided to manufacturing and commerce 
sector by THB 27.65 million, a decrease in loans provided to real estate and construction sector by THB 6.26 
million, and a decrease in other loans by THB 81.82 million. As of September 30, 2016, total loans to 
customer net of deferred incomes decreased from the amount as of December 31, 2015 by THB 27.03 million 
or by 1.39%. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in loans provided to manufacturing and 
commerce sector by THB 16.10 million, a decrease in loans provided to public utilities and services sector by 
THB 27.59 million, while other loans increased by THB 20.35 million.  
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2) Classified by loan classification and allowance for doubtful accounts 
 

Classification  
in accordance 

with the 
Notification of 

the Bank of 
Thailand 

Loans and accrued interest 
receivables 

(THB million) 

Net balance used in setting allowance 
for doubtful accounts (THB million) 

Percent 
used for 

calculating 
the 

allowance 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (THB million) 
The minimum requirement of  

 the Bank of Thailand 
The amount already set up by 

BFIT 

Dec 13 Dec 14 Dec 15 Dec 16 Dec 13 Dec 14 Dec 15 Dec 16 Dec 13 Dec 14 Dec 15 Dec 16 Dec 13 Dec 14 Dec 15 Dec 16 

Normal 1,484.85  1,495.83  1,492.92  1,514.77  1,478.41  1,491.99  1,486.82 1,508.24 1.00  14.79  14.92  14.87  15.08  42.04  37.83  35.14  33.85  
Special mention 184.25  139.14  117.63  73.99  181.39  138.26  117.31 73.55  2.00  3.63  2.77  2.35  1.47  137.50  84.58  70.37  31.44  
Sub-standard 84.32  75.40  0.03  28.35  19.50  75.40  0.03  28.35  100.00  19.50  75.40  0.03  28.35  19.50  75.40  0.03  28.35  
Doubtful 99.79  35.14  23.79  18.98  27.67  - 0.01  - 100.00  27.67  - 0.01  - 27.67  - 0.01  - 
Doubtful of loss 339.95  318.31  313.57  285.37  187.72  200.75  197.06 262.85 100.00  187.72  200.75  197.06  262.85  191.22  204.25  200.56  266.35  
Provision 
exceeded 
uncollectible 
receivables 

- - - - - - - -  - - - - 142.08  160.66  253.35  166.84  

Total 2,193.16  2,063.81  1,947.93  1,921.47  1,894.69  1,906.40  1,801.23 1,872.99   253.31  293.84  214.31  307.76  560.01  562.73  559.45  526.83  
Source : Form 56-1 of BFIT for the year 2013 – 2015 and financial statements for the period ended September 30, 2016 of BFIT 
Remark : 1)  Net balance used in setting allowance for doubtful accounts for loans classified as normal and special mention is principal balance net of deferred incomes, excluding 

accrued interest receivables, and not deducting collateral values. For sub-standard, doubtful, and doubtful of loss, it is the principal balance net of deferred incomes 
plus accrued interest receivables, after deducting the present value of expected future cash flows from debt collection or from disposal of collaterals, as the case 
may be. 

       2)   Loan receivable balance net of deferred incomes plus accrued interest receivable. 

 
According to the Bank of Thailand Notification, finance business has to classify debtor accounts into 6 classes, namely, normal, special mention, sub-standard, doubtful, 
doubtful of loss, and provision exceeded uncollectible receivables. Then, the allowance for doubtful accounts must be set accordingly. In this regards, the allowance for 
doubtful accounts according to the Bank of Thailand Notification shall be calculated based on the book value of debtor account after deducting collateral value. As of 
December 31, 2013 – 2015 and September 30, 2016, BFIT had total allowance for doubtful accounts of 2.21 times, 1.92 times, 2.61 times, and 1.71 times of the Bank of 
Thailand’s minimum requirement, accordingly.  
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Non-performing loans (NPL) 
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and as of September 30, 2016, non-performing loans of BFIT were THB 
524.05 million, THB 427.00 million, THB 337.38 million, and THB 332.70 million, respectively. These amounts 
represent 19.90%, 18.51%, 10.91%, and 10.68% of total loans and receivables each year respectively. In the 
end of 2014, NPL declined from the previous year by THB 97.06 million because some of the customers 
settled the whole amount of their loans before the maturity date and also some of the instalment loan 
customers gradually paid down their loans according to the agreements. As of December 31, 2015, NPL of 
BFIT declined by THB 89.62 million due to the repayment made by major customers as well as by some 
instalment loan customers. As of September 30, 2016, BFIT had a higher amount of NPL from the amount on 
December 31, 2015 by THB 4.68 million. 
 
Quality of investments in securities 
BFIT had income from investments in 2013 – 2015 and the first 9 months of 2016 were THB 194.48 million, THB 
159.49 million, THB 149.59 million, and THB 99.25 million, respectively. Income from investments in 2013 – 
2015 and the first 9 months of 2016 comprise 1) interest income from debt securities of THB 158.31 million, 
THB 112.62 million, THB 97.56 million, and THB 70.82 million, respectively, which accounted for 81.40%, 
70.61%, 65.22%, and 71.35% of total income from investments each year 2) net gains on investments of THB 
3.79 million, THB 17.60 million, THB 17.44 million, and THB 1.87 million, respectively, which accounted for 
1.95%, 11.03%, 11.66%, and 1.89% of total income from investments each year and 3) dividend income of THB 
32.39 million, THB 29.27 million, THB 34.59 million, and THB 26.57 million, respectively, which accounted for 
16.65%, 18.35%, 23.12%, and 26.77% of total income from investments each year.  
 
All investment transactions were carefully considered in terms of issuers’ financial status and credit ratings. 
Asset class allocations in government, state enterprise, and private sector debt securities, were well 
monitored to maintain proper risk-return level together with liquidity sufficiency. Therefore, there was no 
default event occurred in 2013 – 2015. All domestic marketable equity securities and unit trusts were well 
considered in terms of issuers’ financial status, yields, and liquidity sufficiency as well. 
 
Liquidity  
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and as of September 30, 2016, BFIT had liquid assets according to the 
definition of the Bank of Thailand at the amount of THB 1,211.27 million, THB 1,079.45 million, THB 1,753.99 
million, and THB 1,805.75 million, respectively, representing 34.73%, 34.01%, and 50.71% of total deposits 
and borrowings at the end of December 31, 2013 – 2015, which were higher than the 6.00% requirement 
stipulated by the Bank of Thailand. The details of the liquid assets are presented below. 
 

Unit : THB million Dec 13 Dec 14 Dec 15 Sept 16 
Amount % Amount % Amount % Amount % 

Cash deposits at the Bank of 
Thailand 126.00 10.40 101.67 9.42 93.01 5.30 151.36 8.38 
Deposits at banks without 
obligations 44.01 3.63 39.74 3.68 106.20 6.05 41.23 2.28 
Debentures, bonds, or warrants 1) 450.00 37.15 250.00 23.16 1,150.00 65.56 1,200.00 66.45 
Securities or warrants 2) 591.26 48.81 688.04 63.74 404.78 23.08 413.17 22.88 
Liquid assets 1,211.27 100.00 1,079.45 100.00 1,753.99 100.00 1,805.75 100.00 

Source : Form 56-1 of BFIT for the year 2013 – 2015 and the financial statements for the period ended September 30, 
2016 of BFIT  

Remark :  1) issued by state enterprises founded as public companies 
               2) issued by the Bank of Thailand without obligations which includes liquid assets obtained as collateral 

from the private repurchase agreement  
 
Relationships between sources and uses of fund 
BFIT’s sources of fund come from deposits and borrowings from general public and its own capital while its 
uses of funds are mostly in forms of loans, investment in debt instruments, and in private repurchase 
agreement. As of December 31, 2013 – 2015, BFIT’s major source of fund (apart from BFIT’s own capital) 
were deposits and borrowings from general public due not over 1 year at THB 3,442.76 million, THB 2,370.47 
million, and THB 3,019.19 million, respectively, representing 97.53%, 92.86%, and 94.82% of the total sources 
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of fund each year. Meanwhile, the uses of fund as of December 31, 2013 – 2015, were majorly over 1 year, at 
the amount of THB 2,976.07 million, THB 2,752.71 million, and THB 3,233.54 million, respectively. These 
amounts represent 54.24%, 60.29%, and 63.78% of the total uses of fund each year. As a result, there was a 
risk from maturity mismatch between the sources and the uses of fund. However, the majority of deposits 
are rolled over automatically upon maturity and also BFIT maintains liquidity ratios at the level above the 
minimum requirement by the Bank of Thailand. Furthermore, the majority of investments in debt securities 
are traded in the secondary market and also BFIT is able to utilize the credit line from other financial 
institutions in an emergency case. Therefore, BFIT views that the risk from maturity mismatch is at a 
manageable level. 
 
The maintenance of ratios 
As of December 31, 2013 – 2015 and as of September 30, 2016, BFIT had capital-to-risk assets ratio of 
33.70%, 48.21%, 44.93%, and 44.83%, respectively, which is greater than the minimum of 8% required by the  
 
6.  Industry Review 
 
The main businesses of BFIT comprise public borrowing (deposit) and lending with the major source of 
revenues from interest income from loans, investment in debt securities, interbank and money market items, 
after interest expenses paid on deposits.  As a result, the outlook for domestic economy, business sector, 
industrial sector, agricultural sector, and public investment, all of which will affect consumers’ confidence, 
purchasing power, and demand for credits of business and industrial sectors, are the important factors to 
BFIT’s success. Also, financial factors such as interest rate, investment in bill of exchange, government bond 
yield, all of which will determine the Company’s cost of funding and return from conducting borrowing and 
lending businesses at any given point in time, are also significant factors to BFIT’s business. In this regards, 
information about forecasted economic outlook and financial conditions such as interest rate, deposit, and 
lending for the year 2016 – 2017 are presented in Item 6 of Enclosure 1 of this report. 
 

 

 


